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Group Introduction
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China Aoyuan Group Limited (“Aoyuan” or the “Company”), together with its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) was listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 9 October 2007 (Stock Code: 3883), and is a member of Hang Seng
Stock Connect Hong Kong Index and Hang Seng Stock Connect Big Bay Area Composite
Index. As the pioneer of composite real estate in China, Aoyuan integrated related-themes into
real estate development, with an aim to create harmonious and excellent living experience
and cultural values for house owners.

The Group focuses on Guangdong — Hong Kong — Macao Greater Bay Area, with a strategic
layout in South China, East China, core region of Central and Western China and Bohai Rim.
Aoyuan’s seven subgroups cover five business segments, including “property development,
finance, cultural tourism, healthy life and cross border e-commerce”, and have established
a business structure of “one core business with vertical development”.

In the future, the Group will adhere to its brand philosophy of “Building a Healthy Lifestyle”,
as well as its quality-oriented strategy. The Group is committed to provide customers with
high-quality living environment and create a healthy and positive lifestyle, thus setting the
trend towards healthy city living.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. Guo Zi Wen (chairman)

Mr. Guo Zi Ning (vice chairman and chief executive officer)

Ms. Zhong Ping (chief financial officer)
Mr. Ma Jun (chief operating officer)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Tsui King Fai

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

Mr. Hu Jiang

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung (chairman)
Mr. Tsui King Fai
Mr. Hu Jiang

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Tsui King Fai (chairman)
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung
Mr. Hu Jiang

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Guo Zi Wen (chairman)

Mr. Tsui King Fai
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung
Mr. Hu Jiang

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
Ms. Wong Mei Shan (appointed on 1 August 2018)

Ms. Lee Mei Yi

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Guo Zi Wen

Mr. Guo Zi Ning

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

CORPORATE WEBSITE

WWWw.aoyuan.com.cn
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3883.HK
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orporate Information (continued)
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PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Agricultural Bank of China Limited
Bank of China Limited

China Construction Bank Corporation
Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.
Nanyang Commercial Bank Limited
Hang Seng Bank Limited

Ping An Bank Company Limited
China Bohai Bank

China Minsheng Bank

HengFeng Bank

Guangzhou Rural Commercial Bank

REGISTERED OFFICE
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman

KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN PRC

Aoyuan Mansion

No. 108, HuangPu Avenue West
Tianhe District,

Guangzhou

PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
IN HONG KONG

Units 1901-2, 19th Floor, One Peking

No. 1 Peking Road

Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

AND TRANSFER OFFICE
SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited
3rd Floor, Royal Bank House

24 Shedden Road, P.O. Box 1586
Grand Cayman KY1-1110

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
17M Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Email: ir@aoyuan.net
Telephone: (852) 3622 2122
(86) 20-3868 6666
Facsimile:  (852) 2180 6189
(86) 20-3868 6688
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A\ Financial Highlights
U s i

Results Highlights 2&/H=
For the year ended 31 December 2018  #HEZZ— ) \F+_A=+—HIEFE
(RMB'000) (AR¥F7T)

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
Revenue L] 31,005,834 19,115,255
Gross profit EHHE 9,634,151 5,111,477
Net profit S 2,939,467 1,951,952
Core net profit ZE ) 3,074,013 1,889,067
Earnings per share (cents) BRAEF (9)
- Basic —HAK 89.91 61.35
- Diluted —BE 89.90 61.28
Revenue Analysis & 25 54T
For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZEZ_ZT— ) \F+_A=+—HItFE
(RMB’'000) (AERHEFIT)
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —EF—tF
Property development VIsEE 29,739,726 17,960,391
Property investment LIES S} 185,770 119,032
Others H 1,080,338 1,035,832
Total AEF 31,005,834 19,115,255

Property Development Revenue Analysis Y32 E WA 247

For the year ended 31 December 2018  #HE—ZE—N\F+_A=+—HILFE
Sold and Delivered

eERXf
Revenue Area
WA [
(RMB’ million) ('000 sq.m.)

(AREBBET) (FF73K)

Residential apartments FEERE 18,459 2,574
Commercial apartments [(EEJENC 5,294 342
Retail shops and others 7 8 K Eo A 4,755 302
Low-density residential E=EEE 1,232 84
Total CEl 29,740 3,302

6 China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018



Balance Sheet Summary EEEEXRHFEE

Financial Highlights (continued)
S 5 3 2 (40

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ_ZT—\F+_A=+—HItFE

(RMB'000) (AR®T7T)

jial

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Total assets BEREEE 188,858,219 125,805,861
Total liabilities BfE®EE 158,124,373 98,679,571
Total equity TS BEE 30,733,846 27,126,290
Three Years Financial Highlights = F I HE
Revenue & ¥%8 Gross Profit £ X8
RMB million AREEHET RMB million AREEET
35,000
31,006 10000 9,634
30,000
8,000
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0 0
2016 2017 2018 2016 2017 2018
Net Profit FF;& Core Net Profit #Z/0: 7% FlE

RMB million AR EETT
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A\ Year in Review
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1 H January

The Group successfully acquired a high-quality
residential and commercial project, Qingdao Aoyuan
Hallym Mansion, in Qingdao, Shandong.

AEERDEBLRSSEENEHRERE — 55RE
BMRALE

4 H April

Aoyuan and Henderson Land Group (“Henderson”)
entered into a cooperation agreement for the
nitrogen fertilizer plant urban redevelopment project
in Panyu, Guangzhou.

RESREEIRFMESRE ([EE]) EXARBMNER
AR E AR A 1E =
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5HMay

The Group successfully completed an issuance of
US$200 million 7.50% senior notes due 2021.

REBRINET2EETN T - —FFH7.50% &
ERE -

The Group signed a strategic cooperation framework
agreement with Henderson to further strengthen
cooperation in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area.

AERE RS T AR AT ERE A FIER 5% - RIL BB
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The Aoyuan Building sponsored by the Group was
officially inaugurated in Jinan University.
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§) H June

The Group successfully completed a further issuance
of US$250 million 7.50% senior notes due 2021.

REBMAKINIGE 25EETLN S - —FEH7.50%
BRERE -

7 H July

The Group successfully completed a further issuance
of US$175 million 6.35% senior notes due January
2020.

AEBRINEEI1T5EBET S _ZF— A5 H
6.35% (B L ZE -



7TH July

The Group successfully secured three tranches
of three-year offshore club loans of approximately
HK$3.2 billion from 8 commercial banks at a rate
of three-month Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
(HIBOR) plus 3.95% per annum.

Kﬁliﬁ)\%ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁwT WBERAEEAN32EE
TR = FHRIMARL I E R - FFXR A=A AEER
1TRIZEHFE (HIBOR) 7Ju3.95%

The Group successfully completed an issuance of
three-year onshore private corporate bonds of RMB2.4
billion, with a combined ratio of approximately 8.25%.

Z!K‘ilfﬂiljﬁ* T=FHERNLERARBEARE24E
 IRAE AL 8.25% ©
The Group successfully acquired a high-quality

residential and commercial project, Tianjin Aoyuan
Honor Mansion, in Tianjin.

$’i BRI RERHEEHEERR - RERA—BEA

8 H August

Fitch Ratings, an international credit rating agency,
upgraded the Group's outlook to “positive” with a
corporate credit rating of “BB-".

BIREATRRETE T AR EETRAREE[IE
M- ﬁﬁwui%ﬁ;f\fﬂ:l:%&z% [BB-] -

The Group successfully completed an issuance of
US$225 million 7.95% senior notes due 2021 and
an issuance of S$100 million 7.15% senior notes,
which was the first-ever dual currency senior notes
issuance in the industry.

AEBKINEITRN S - —F2|HI2.25(8%707.95%
BREEZEN1EHIMKIT7.15% BEAZHE - HAIHEN
ETT I B L R E T -

Year in Review (continued) [= I§|-
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9 H September

The Group's first offshore
luxury residential project,
One30 Hyde Park Sydney, has
successfully topped out. The
Group became one of the few
PRC developers to complete
construction in the offshore
markets.

$‘$l§1
R Tk
T8 KA
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3o

10 H October

In January to October 2018, the Group’s chairman
of the board of directors (the “Chairman”)
acquired 37.90 million shares at an average price
of approximately HK$4.81 per share, with a total
consideration of approximately HK$180 million.

2018F 12108 AEESBESLFE ([ XfE |)1LH
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11 H November

The Group was renamed as “China Aoyuan Group
Limited” and established a business structure of
“one core business with vertical development”.
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12 H December

The Group successfully acquired a high-quality
residential and commercial project, Anji Aoyuan
Happy Mountain, in Huzhou, Zhejiang.
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_/N\A\ 2018 Honors and Awards
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1. Recognised as one of “Forbes Asia’s Fab 50 2018"”. Among the 30
selected PRC enterprises, only three are PRC real estate companies,
including Aoyuan

2. Recognised as one of “Fortune China Top 100 Board of Directors 2018", 2.

and ranked 382nd among “Fortune China 500 List 2018"

3. Ranked 27th among the “2018 China Top 100 Real Estate Developers” 3.

and awarded “2018 China Top 100 Real Estate Developers — Top 10 in
Operational Efficiency” by the China Real Estate Top 10 Research Team

4. Awarded as “2018 China Real Estate Listed Companies — Top 50 in 4.

Comprehensive Strength” by the China Real Estate Association and the
China Real Estate Evaluation Center of Shanghai E-house Real Estate R&D
Institute

5. Awarded as “Top 20 Guangdong Property Enterprises with High Credit” 5.

by the branches of big four commercial banks in Guangdong Province and
other agencies for 17 consecutive years

6. Awarded as “Guangdong Province Enterprise of Observing Contract and 6.

Valuing Credit” by Guangdong Province Administration for Industry and
Commerce for 19 consecutive years

China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018
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2018 Honors and Awards (continued)

2018 4558 Je 48 IH (%7)

Garnered “2018 Corporate Gold Awards in Corporate Governance and
Investor Relations” by the Asset

Awarded as “Best Listed Company” in the eighth session of the Hong
Kong International Finance Forum and China Securities Golden Bauhinia
Awards Contest hosted by Hong Kong Ta Kung Wen Wei Media Group
Limited

Awarded as “CAPITAL Outstanding Chinese Property Developer Group”
by CAPITAL Magazine, a well-known financial media in Hong Kong, for 7
consecutive years

10. Awarded as “2017-2018 Poverty Alleviation Benchmark for China Real

11.

Estate Enterprises” by the China Real Estate Top 10 Research Team

Garnered “China Property Award of Supreme Excellence 2018" by China
Property of Supreme Excellence Commission

7. EEEMRE2018F L EREL E-NF)RTE
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A Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman

xR

Dear Shareholders,

It is my pleasure to present the Annual Report of China Aoyuan Group
Limited for the year ended 31 December 2018.

In 2018, Aoyuan adapted to the changing circumstances and
enhanced its comprehensive strength, achieving sustainable
developments for contracted sales and operating results. During the
year, Aoyuan doubled its contracted sales year-on-year to RMB91.3
billion, achieving 125% of its full-year target. The compound annual
growth rate from 2016 to 2018 reached 89%. Contracted sales in
December 2018 amounted to RMB17.4 billion, setting another single-
month record high. Aoyuan targets to grow by 25% year-on-year in
contracted sales in 2019.

China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018
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Chairman’s Statement (continued

Aoyuan achieved strong growth in both revenue and profit. In 2018,
revenue amounted to RMB31.0 billion, representing a year-on-
year increase of 62%. Gross profit amounted to RMB9.6 billion,
representing a year-on-year increase of 88%. Core net profit
amounted to RMB3.1 billion, representing a year-on-year increase
of 63%. The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
recommended payment of a final dividend of RMB0.36 per share.

As a key developer in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay
Area and a constituent of Hang Seng Stock Connect Big Bay Area
Composite Index, Aoyuan maintains well-balanced regional layout.
As of 31 December 2018, total GFA of Aoyuan’s land bank was
approximately 34.1 million sg.m., providing a strong base for robust
and stable development. In the meantime, the Group has 9 urban
redevelopment projects in the Greater Bay Area which will gradually
be added to its land bank in 2019, and are expected to provide
additional saleable resources of approximately RMB66 billion in the
future.

Aoyuan places emphasis on diversifying its financing channels with
outstanding financing capability. In 2018, Aoyuan issued 3-year
corporate bonds of RMB3.9 billion in the onshore markets; and raised
approximately US$1.5 billion in total through syndicated loans, USD
bonds and other channels in the offshore markets, with an average
cost of below 7%. In 2019, Aoyuan opened the Asia USD bond
market and subsequently launched the first fully marketed 3-year PRC
property high yield issuance, raising a total of US$1 billion. Through
the issuance of the new 3-year and 4-year USD bonds, Aoyuan further
extended its debt maturity profile.

Aoyuan adopts prudent financial management with continued
credit rating upgrades. Following the upgrades of corporate rating
and rating outlook by the three major international rating agencies,
namely Fitch, Moody’s and S&P, Moody's upgraded Aoyuan'’s rating
outlook to “positive” in February 2019, reaffirming that Aoyuan's
comprehensive strength is well-recognized by all sectors.
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/A Chairman’s Statement (continued)
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In November 2018, the Company was renamed as “China Aoyuan
Group Limited”. Aoyuan's seven subgroups cover five business
segments, i.e. property development, finance, cultural tourism,
healthy life and cross-border e-commerce. Of which, Aoyuan Healthy
Life Group will be officially listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 18 March 2019.

During the year, Aoyuan was named among "“Forbes Asia’s Fab
50" and “Fortune China 500”. In 2019, Aoyuan will continue its
niche focus on the Greater Bay Area, cultivates major regions
and strengthen its business structure of “one core business with
vertical development”. Aoyuan aims to become one of the Global
500 companies and bring fruitful returns to our shareholders and
investors.

Last but not least, on behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my
deepest gratitude to our shareholders, investors, business partners,
property owners, media and general public for their unfaltering trust
and support, and to our Directors, management and staff for their
valuable contributions.

Guo Zi Wen
Chairman

Hong Kong, 15 March 2019

China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018
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/A Management Discussion and Analysis

T gt 3 B3

BUSINESS REVIEW

The China Property Market

In 2018, the world economy slowed but continued to grow
moderately. As the year also marked the 40th anniversary of
China’s reform and opening up, the government introduced
new steps to develop a moderately prosperous society. With
the adjustment of macro-control policies completed, attention
has shifted to supply-side structural reform and handling
the China-US trade friction. China’s economy effectively
responded to profound changes in the external environment

and maintained sustainable and healthy development.

Under the government principles of “no speculation of
residential properties” and categorized regulations for different
cities, cities’ real estate policies continued to tighten in
2018, making the year the most intense in history in terms
of real estate regulation. The real estate market in China has
transitioned from overheated to cooling. Control measures
made a positive impact on the market and achieved immediate
results. Real estate prices in China are still high, but the rapid

growth momentum has basically ended.

Review of Group Business

In 2018, the Group's willingness to innovate and diversify its
business models and competitive product strategies led it to
exceed its full-year sales target ahead of schedule and continue
its steady advance. Principal business growth has reached a
new high, representing a year-on-year increase of 100%; the
value of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area
becomes notable. The Group's strategic models have been
highly praised by the capital market. The Group now appears
on Forbes’ and Fortune’s lists. The cultural tourism segment
achieved strong overall growth; the e-commerce segment
created an 020 shopping model and achieved significant
growth in a number of indicators; and the general health and

wellness segment will be spun off and listed separately.

China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Details of contracted sales breakdown of the Group by major

BEAKEEIREREND ZAFHEEFS

projects are as follows: Ul
Contracted Contracted
Sales GFA Sold
2 ARHEEE
(RMB million) (sg.m.)
Project EH (AEBRE&ET) (F77K)
Chengdu Chenghua Aoyuan Plaza FCERRK I R E S 2,837 180,757
Shenzhen Aoyuan Jade Bay FRIREIERRE 2,659 81,571
Yangzhou Aoyuan Peach City HINBEER L E 2,134 176,677
Guangzhou Aoyuan Lianfeng State BMNRBEEEEE 2,068 121,600
Bengbu Aoyuan Ginza U 1R B[R] 9 R 1,863 203,420
Chengdu Aoyuan Parkview Mansion R EPER B A EIAT BB 1,607 113,701
Ningbo Aoyuan Scenery Bay ERREZESE 1,603 113,215
Zhuhai Aoyuan Henggin Bay KEEEERE 5 1,544 39,080
Zhuhai Aoyuan Seaview Mountain WERESILE 1,398 66,249
Aoyuan Cultural Tourism City
Shaoguan Lingnan Impression BE SRR R SR 585 1,396 213,925
Huizhou Aoyuan Lingyu FINREES 1,376 106,736
Dongguan Aoyuan Guanlan
Glorious Mansion RERESREE 1,286 55,975
Guangzhou Aoyuan
Glorious Mansion BN R I 1,224 64,895
Esplanade Sydney ZEEESPHBEIE B 1,154 24,375
Huizhou Aoyuan Yushan Lake HNEREZ LS 1,073 82,603
Others Hith 66,058 7,218,720
Total CEll 91,280 8,863,499
FRBEEEROBERAT —T—N\FFR
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Outstanding Performance from the Principal Business with
a Record-High Growth

As of 31 December 2018, the Group achieved total contracted
sales of approximately RMB91,280 million, representing a
substantial 100% increase compared with the year 2017 and
accounting for 125% of the full-year target (RMB73,000 million).
Contracted sales area for the year was approximately 8.863
million sg-m, representing a substantial year-on-year increase
of approximately 98%; average selling price was approximately
RMB10,300 per sg-m, representing a year-on-year increase of
1.4%. The Greater Bay Area generated an excellent contracted
sales performance of approximately RMB28,000 million,
representing approximately 31% of total contracted sales.

All-round Development according to the National Policy
As a member of Hang Seng Stock Connect Big Bay Area
Composite Index, China Aoyuan focuses on the Guangdong-
Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area and achieved a full
coverage of “9+2" cities in the Greater Bay Area. The value of
China Aoyuan in terms of land reserve and urban strategy was
further increased when the PRC government implemented
development strategies regarding the Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area.

Market Recognition of the Group’s Diversified Business
Model

Aoyuan was widely recognized by the capital market and
among the public for its outstanding performance and rapid high
quality development. It was named as “Forbes Asia’s Fab 50",
“Fortune China Top 100 Board of Directors” and “Fortune China
Top 500", and was ranked 27th among the “2018 China TOP
100 Real Estate Enterprises”. It also received “2018 The Asset
Corporate Gold Awards in Corporate Governance and Investor
Relations”. In August 2018, Fitch Ratings upgraded the Group's
credit rating outlook to “Positive”. In the same year, Aoyuan’s
diversified business models led it to become an international
corporation with diversified businesses under the motto “one
core business with vertical development”. In November 2018,
China Aoyuan Property Group Limited was renamed as “China
Aoyuan Group Limited”, marking a new step in the Group's
industrial planning.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Integrated Development Creates Strong Growth
Momentum in Cultural Tourism

In 2018, the Aoyuan Group built Yingde Chocolate Town (#1&
T35 /3/)\8H), China's first cultural and sports town. Expected
to open in 2019, the town offers natural hot springs, British tea

culture, a ranch, off-road racing, luxury hotels and theme parks.

An Innovative Model Leads Aomaijia to Achieve Significant
Growth in Various Indicators

In 2018, Aomaijia group implemented an 020 shopping model
and opened a new horizon for cross-border e-commerce.
Multiple business segments showed an increasing trend of
growth and fulfilled additional growth indicators in areas such as
number of visitors, registrations and new customers. Aomaijia
group was a pioneer in matters such as its participation in the
first China International Import Expo, its opening of the first
retail store with a global tracking monitor for cross-border
e-commerce, and its launch of the first endorsement scheme
with Huang Lei. It was also named as one of “2018 China Top
50 e-Commerce Enterprises”, as an "Outstanding Participant in
China International Import Expo” and a “Authorized Economic
Operator (AEO)" by the Customs department, and was
accredited as a “National High-Tech Enterprise”.

The Group will spin-off the Aoyuan Healthy Life Group, through
a separate listing on 18 March 2019.
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/A Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
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Iv.

Land Bank

The Group’s ample quality land reserve guarantees continuous
growth and future performance. Aoyuan is based in Guangdong,
with a focus on the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area and its city clusters, and other development areas
in South, East, core Central and Western China, as well as
the Bohai Rim. As of 31 December 2018, Aoyuan has 198
projects located in 70 domestic and overseas cities. The land
bank's total GFA was 34.10 million sg.m. (attributable: 80%).
The Group’s land bank has sufficient reserves for about three
years' development. Besides, China Aoyuan has a lot of urban
redevelopment projects, with potential saleable resources
which are mostly located in cities in the Greater Bay Area

amounting to approximately RMB66 billion.

As of 31 December 2018, the Group's average land cost was
approximately RMB2,167 per sq.m.. 3.24 million sgq.m. of
properties were completed, 15.05 million sq.m. of properties
were under construction, and 15.81 million sq.m. were reserved

for future development.

Future Outlook

The year 2019 marks the 70th anniversary of the PRC
establishment. China’s economy will still seek growth while
maintaining stability. At the end of last year, the Central
Economic Work Conference emphasized the need to “build
a long-term mechanism that is effective for the healthy
development of the real estate market and insist that houses
are built to be inhabited, not for speculation. We need to
consolidate the major responsibility of the city governments
and exercise different real estate policies in different cities,
improving the housing market system and housing security
system”. For developers, it is necessary to grasp structural
opportunities and achieve steady development. Developers
should conduct land acquisitions with care, cultivating those
regions and cities which hold potential while searching for
opportunities in other cities. At the same time, they should
enhance their management efficiency and brand reputation
by using their own complete operating systems, standardized
operating models, mature product lines and comprehensive
service capabilities, so that they may rapidly respond to
environmental changes in the market.

China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Operating Results

The revenue is primarily generated from property development.
In 2018, the Group's total revenue was RMB31,006 million,
representing an increase of RMB11,891 million or 62.2% over
RMB19,115 million in 2017. Property development revenue, other
revenue such as hotel operation and property investment revenue
accounted for 95.9%, 3.5% and 0.6% respectively.

In 2018, the Group's revenue generated from property development
amounted to RMB29,740 million, representing an increase of
RMB11,780 million or 65.6% over RMB17,960 million in 2017. The
GFA of delivered properties increased by 35.8% to 3.30 million
sg.m. from 2.43 million sg.m. in 2017, while the average selling
price increased by 21.8% to approximately RMB9,007 per square
meter from approximately RMB7,397 per sq.m. in 2017. This was
mainly attributable to the increase in the proportion of commercial
apartments with higher selling price from 5.3% in 2017 to 17.8% in
2018.

Breakdown of property development revenue in 2018 by product

type:

o BRGS0 A () |__|I:|_

g qE)-

EEBEIENREMERR G - —T—N\F -
REEMNBEXEBLOAARKE310.06 8T + 8
ZE—EFZHARE1NI5EITEMOAR
118.91187T © LF62.2% - ¥R -
B ESESHE M R ERE R
£1595.9% * 3.5% F10.6% °

—E-N\F XEEYEZERBEERADRBA
R¥29740BT R -_E—+F2HARE
179.601E LI M AR 1178018 7T + £FF
65.6% ° FIRXIMEMBEEMBER_-_T—+
F2243BV TR EFAZEIB0OEFTK - LF
35.8%  FTHEBHR_ZT—LF2EF KL
AR 7,397 L EAZEEGF K ARE 9,007
T EF218% c TERAAINHMEFH
ERaMNEEEABEEA-E—tFM5.3%
TAEZZT-NFH17.8% °

—E-\FEWEEREA - BRERENES N
T

Sold and Delivered

2ERXM
Product Revenue Area
Em A HE
(RMB million) (000 sg.m.)
(AR®BE&ET) (FF7K)
Residential apartments FEMELE 18,459 2,574
Commercial apartments [EEJENED 5,294 342
Retail shops and others P A K HL A 4,755 302
Low-density residential E=EEE 1,232 84
Total #Et 29,740 3,302
FREREESBERHERAR T \FF®
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Gross Profit and Margin

In 2018, the gross profit of the Group was RMB9,634 million,
representing an increase of 88.5% over RMB5,111 million in 2017,
and the gross profit margin was 31.1% because the average selling
price of property development recognized revenue increased to
approximately RMB9,007 from approximately RMB7,397 per sg.m.
in 2017, mainly due to the increase in the proportion of revenue

generated from commercial apartments.

Other Income, Gains and Losses

In 2018, the other income, gains and losses of the Group recorded
approximately RMB223 million net loss, which mainly included
exchange loss of approximately RMB605 million, interest income
of approximately RMB258 million, government subsidy received of
approximately RMB47 million, and other income of approximately
RMB77 million.

Selling and Distribution and Administrative Expenses
In 2018, total selling and distribution expenses of the Group were
approximately RMB1,432 million, representing an increase of
54.6% from approximately RMB926 million in 2017, which was
mainly attributable to the increase in overall sales, marketing and
promotional activities owing to the increase in contracted sales
amount during the year, caused by the increase in the number of
pre-sales properties during the year. Total administrative expenses
increased by 117.1% from approximately RMB800 million in 2017 to
approximately RMB1,736 million.

Taxation

Income tax expense comprised of EIT, LAT and deferred taxation. The
effective tax rate of 58% is higher than the standard PRC EIT rate of
25%, mainly attributable to LAT of approximately RMB1,925 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company

In 2018, profit attributable to owners of the Company was
approximately RMB2,409 million, representing an increase of 46.9%
over approximately RMB1,640 million in 2017. Core net profit
(excluding non-recurring profits and loss items and their related tax
expenses, comprising fair value gain on investment properties, net
exchange differences and gain on change in fair value of derivative
financial instruments, etc.) for the year amounted to approximately
RMBS3,074 million.

Financial Position

As at 31 December 2018, the Group's total assets amounted to
approximately RMB188,858 million (as at 31 December 2017:
RMB125,806 million) and total liabilities were approximately
RMB158,124 million (as at 31 December 2017: RMB98,680 million).

Current ratio was 1.4 as at 31 December 2018 (as at 31 December
2017:1.5).

Financial Resources and Liquidity

In 2018, the Group's sources of fund primarily included income
generated from business operations, cash from bank and other
borrowings and issuance of senior notes in US dollar and Singapore
dollar, and corporate bonds in RMB, which were used in our business

operations and investment and development of projects.

The Group expects that income generated from business operations
and borrowings will continue to be the main source of funds in the
coming year. Therefore, the Group will continue to strengthen out
cash flow management, improve the efficiency of capital returns of
projects and strictly control the cost and various expenses. Besides,
the Group will continue to explore the opportunities to cooperate with
foreign and domestic investors, in order to provide other sources of

funding for the expansion of projects and business development.
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Cash Position

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had cash, bank deposits
and structured deposits of approximately RMB36,013 million
and RMB1,328 million respectively (as at 31 December 2017:
approximately RMB24,769 million and nil). As at 31 December 2018,
the Group had restricted bank deposits of approximately RMB2,281
million (as at 31 December 2017: approximately RMB1,771 million)

which were mainly reserved for obtaining bank loans.

As at 31 December 2018, cash, bank deposits, structured deposits
and restricted bank deposits of the Group mentioned above totaled
RMB39,622 million, of which 98% was denominated in Renminbi
and 2% was denominated in other currencies (mainly in HK dollar,

Australian dollar and Canadian dollar).
In 2018, cash collection ratio (total sales proceeds received in 2018

divided by the annual contracted sales amount) for the Group's
contracted sales was approximately 78%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Borrowings, Senior Notes, Corporate Bonds and Net
Gearing Ratio

Borrowings, Senior Notes and Corporate Bonds

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had bank and other borrowings
of approximately RMB40,752 million (as at 31 December 2017:
approximately RMB27,795 million) and senior notes and corporate
bonds of approximately RMB16,970 million (as at 31 December 2017:
approximately RMB12,575 million) as follows:

o BRGS0 A ()

B BAERE - ARBESFRFEE
5z

1B BHEEBR L FEH
R-ZE—NE+-_F=+—8 KEFRTE
HEMERNABARE 407528 T (ZF—+F
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31 December 31 December

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
+=ZA=+—-8 +=ZH=+-—8
(RMB million)  (RMB million)
(AEBRET) (AREBBEBT)
Repayment period ESREHR
On demand and BERKRIFUAR
within one year 23,732 20,490
More than one year, but not 1 LA HEREBE2F
exceeding two years 21,172 10,741
More than two years, but not 2F LA H{EREBBSF
exceeding five years 12,818 9,139
57,722 40,370
The majority of borrowings of the Group are floating-rate borrowings, $'§ BERE BRI RFENE  WEGFZ
of which interest rates are subject to negotiation on an annual basis, AR AEEREBRAFEFNERR R T
thus exposing the Group to fair value interest rate risk. As at 31 *)\ﬁ‘f’:ﬂ =+—8" B BAEEEA
December 2018, the effective interest rate on borrowings, senior RIEFNEBIERTA% BT —tF2
notes and corporate bonds was 7.4%, which was higher than 7.2% in 72%m o NEBEERA THEREEEER - &

2017. The Group has implemented certain interest rate management
policies which included, among others, close monitoring of interest
rate movements and replacing and entering into new banking

facilities when good pricing opportunities arise.

In May 2018, the Group successfully issued 3-year offshore senior
notes of US$425 million in total for the Group's refinancing and

general corporate purposes.
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In July 2018, the Group successfully further issued offshore senior
notes of US$175 million due 2020 for the Group's refinancing and

general corporate purposes.

In August 2018, the Group successfully issued 3-year dual currency
offshore senior notes of US$225 million and SGD100 million for the

Group’s refinancing and general corporate purposes.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had credit facilities of
approximately RMB94,924 million (as at 31 December 2017:
approximately RMB51,893 million) for short-term and long-term
borrowings, of which approximately RMB31,783 million (as at 31
December 2017: approximately RMB16,901 million) were unutilized.

Net Gearing Ratio

Net gearing ratio is measured by the net borrowings (total amount
of bank and other borrowings, senior notes and corporate bonds
net of cash and cash equivalents, structured deposits and restricted
bank deposits) over the total equity. As at 31 December 2018, the
Group’s net gearing ratio was 58.9%. The Group has implemented
certain loan management policies, which mainly include close
monitoring of the gearing ratio and any changes in net gearing ratio,
and optimization of the bank credit structure when good pricing

opportunities arise.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had the following contingent
liabilities relating to guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities
provided by banks to purchasers and banking facilities granted to
joint ventures of the Group amounting to approximately RMB53,604
million (as at 31 December 2017: RMB31,092 million).

The Group acted as guarantor to the banks in respect of the mortgage
bank loans granted to certain property purchasers of the Group's
property and agreed to repay the outstanding mortgage loans
upon the purchasers’ default on the repayment of the outstanding
mortgage loans and the loan interest accrual thereon. In the opinion of
the Directors, the fair value of the financial guarantee contracts is not
significant at the initial recognition and provision has not been made
as the default rate is low.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

The Group had provided guarantees in respect of banking facilities
granted by banks to Zhuzhou Jinye and Degangjian. In the opinion of
the Directors, the fair value of guarantee contracts are insignificant at
initial recognition. Also, no provision for the guarantee contracts at the

end of the reporting period is recognised as the default risk is low.

Commitments

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had construction cost, land
payments, acquisition of subsidiaries and a joint venture contracted
but not provided for of approximately RMB23,322 million (as at
31 December 2017: RMB18,182 million). In addition, the Group's
share of commitments relating to its joint ventures arising from
construction cost contracted but not provided for is approximately
RMB843 million (2017: RMB386 million). The Group expects to fund
these commitments principally from sale proceeds of properties and

bank borrowings.

Foreign Currency Risks

Most of the Group's revenues and operating costs are denominated
in Renminbi. Except for the bank deposits denominated in foreign
currencies, senior notes denominated in US dollar, Singapore
dollar and bank loans denominated in US dollars and HK dollars,
the Group’s operating cash flow or liquidity is not directly subject
to any other material exchange rate fluctuations. The management
closely monitors foreign currency exposure and will consider hedging

significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2018, the Group pledged its properties for sales,
property, plant and equipment, investment properties, prepaid lease
payments and restricted bank deposits of approximately RMB29,979
million (as at 31 December 2017: approximately RMB 16,546 million)
to various banks to secure project loans and general banking facilities

granted to the Group.
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Events After the Reporting Period

Subsequent to the reporting date, the Group had following significant

events took place:

(a)

On 3 January 2019, the Company issued senior notes
(the “2019 Notes 1") in an aggregate principal amount of
US$275,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB1,887
million) (to be consolidated and form a single series with the
US$225,000,000 7.95% senior note issued on 7 September
2018) carries interest at 7.95% per annum and due in
2021. Details of the terms and conditions are set out in
the announcement issued by the Company on 3 January
2019. Up to the date of issuance of these consolidated
financial statements, the net proceeds of approximately
US$278,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB1,908
million) from the issuance of the 2019 Notes 1 have been fully
received.

On 15 January 2019, the Company issued senior notes
(the “2019 Notes 2”) in an aggregate principal amount of
US$500,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB3,377
million) carries interest at 8.50% per annum and due in
2022. Details of the terms and conditions are set out in
the announcement issued by the Company on 15 January
2019. Up to the date of issuance of these consolidated
financial statements, the net proceeds of approximately
US$493,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB3,330
million) from the issuance of the 2019 Notes 2 have been fully

received.

During the period from 1 January 2019 to the date of these
consolidated financial statements, the Group has entered into
agreements to acquire certain subsidiaries in the PRC engaging
in property development. In addition, the Group also entered
into agreements to acquire certain equity interest in a company
listed in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. These acquisitions had
not been completed at the date of these consolidated financial
statements and the Directors expected they will be completed
before 31 December 2019.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

(d)  On 11 February 2019, the Company issued senior notes
(the “2019 Notes 3”) in an aggregate principal amount of
US$225,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB1,519
million) carries interest at 7.95% per annum and due in
2023. Details of the terms and conditions are set out in
the announcement issued by the Company on 11 February
2019. Up to the date of issuance of these consolidated
financial statements, the net proceeds of approximately
US$221,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB1,492
million) from the issuance of the 2019 Notes 3 have been fully

received.

(e)  On 28 February 2019, the prospectus in connection with the
proposed spin-off and separate listing and global offering of
Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited (“Aoyuan Healthy
Life”), a subsidiary of the Group, on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange has been published. The global offering is conditional
upon a number of factors, details of the transaction are set out
in at the announcement issued by the Company on 28 February
2019.

Furthermore, upon completion of the transaction, the Group’s
interest in Aoyuan Healthy Life will reduce from 75.50% to
56.63% without losing control and the difference between the
consideration to be received and the attributable equity interests
in Aoyuan Healthy Life to be disposed will be directly recognised

in equity.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had 12,040 employees (31
December 2017: 7,211 employees). The Group regularly reviews
remuneration and benefits of its employees according to the relevant
market practice and individual performance of the employees.
Pursuant to relevant laws and regulations, the Group provides
contributions to social insurance of the China and contribution to
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme of Hong Kong for eligible
employees. The Group also provides employees in China with medical
insurance, individual work injury insurance, maternity insurance and

unemployment insurance.
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_/\A Biographical Details of Directors
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Back row from left: Mr. Tsui King Fai, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, Mr. Hu Jiang
Front row from left: Ms. Zhong Ping, Mr. Guo Zi Ning, Mr. Guo Zi Wen, Mr. Ma Jun
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Biographical Details of Directors (continued)
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Guo Zi Wen, aged 54, is the founder of the Group, and holds a Master
degree in Business Administration. He is an executive Director,
the Chairman and the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
Mr. Guo is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Guo is mainly responsible for the formulation of development
strategies of the Company, as well as giving guidance to the Group’s
project planning, financing and investment, and leads the overall

administration management of the Group.

In 2001, Mr. Guo was honored by national main stream media and
China Real Estate Association as one of the Top 10 Persons in Real
Estate Industry. In 2004, Mr. Guo received the China Real Estate
Special Contribution Award, and the China Real Estate Theory Research
Contribution Award and was named one of the Top 10 Outstanding Real
Estate Entrepreneurs in the PRC in the same year. In 2008, Mr. Guo was
awarded as one of the Top 10 QOutstanding Entrepreneurs of the Past
Three Decades in China Real Estate and was recognized as one of the
Top 30 Leaders in the Residential Construction of Guangdong. In 2010,
Mr. Guo was named “Outstanding Leader” in the event "“Leaders of
Real Estate of Guangdong in Ten Golden Years” and in 2011, Mr. Guo
was named “CAPITAL Leader of Excellence 2011". In 2014, Mr. Guo
received the Award of “Outstanding Leaders for the Year” nominated
by Nanfang Media and Peking University. In 2015, Mr. Guo was
awarded “2015 Corporate Social Responsibility Outstanding Enterprise
Award” (2016 EMHEETHE DK by Xinhuanet.com (FTEE4).
Except for being a Director of the Company, Mr. Guo has not held any
directorship in the last three years in public companies which are listed in

Hong Kong or overseas. Mr. Guo is the brother of Mr. Guo Zi Ning.
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Guo Zi Ning, aged 57, is an executive Director, a vice chairman and
the chief executive officer. He is also a director of the subsidiaries of
the Company, and holds a doctoral degree in Business Administration
and post-doctoral certificate in Innovation and Economic Development,
is currently a domestic visiting scholar in Peking University. He
participated in the preparation of the Group in 1996, now primarily
responsible for commercial property investment, development and
operation, and leads the party committee, trade union and corporate
culture of the Group. Mr. Guo is the chairman of the board and non-
executive director of Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited
(being listed in the main board of Stock Exchange since 18 March 2019,
stock code 3662.HK). Mr. Guo is the brother of Mr. Guo Zi Wen.
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Biographical Details of Directors (contlnued)
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Zhong Ping, aged 50, is an executive Director and chief financial
officer. Ms. Zhong is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. She obtained a Master degree of Accountancy from Jinan
University and is a certified tax advisor and certified accountant. She
joined the Group in August 2003 and is mainly responsible for the
financial management, management of listing performance, internal
audit, risk control of the Group and assists in the performance
management and incentives validation. Ms. Zhong has not held any
directorship in the last three years in public companies which are

listed in Hong Kong or overseas.

Ms. Zhong is retired as executive Director and chief financial officer
on 15 April 2019.
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Ma Jun, aged 42, is an executive Director and chief operating officer
of the Group. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company and holds a Bachelor degree in Environmental Engineering
from Tianjin University in the PRC. Mr. Ma is mainly responsible for
the management of Property Group and Cultural Tourism Group.
Before joining the Group in March 2015, Mr. Ma worked at # /&t 2z
KE2 7] (in English, for identification purpose only, China Overseas
Property Tianjin Company) as deputy general manager and Autren
Real Estate (Group) Co., Ltd. as an executive vice president and
possesses more than 15 years of experience in the real estate
industry. Mr. Ma has not held any directorship in the last three years

in public companies which are listed in Hong Kong or overseas.
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Biographical Details of Directors (continued)

Tsui King Fai
e

Tsui King Fai, aged 69, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 13 September 2007. Mr. Tsui is the chairman
of remuneration committee, member of audit committee and
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Tsui holds a Master
degree of Science in Accountancy and a Bachelor degree of
Business Administration with first class honours awarded by the
University of Houston. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a member of the Chartered
Accountants in Australia and New Zealand and a member of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has over 30
years of extensive experience in accounting, finance and investment
management, particularly in investments in Mainland China. He
had worked for two of the "Big Four” audit firms in Hong Kong and
the United States of America and served in various public listed
companies in Hong Kong in a senior capacity. Currently, Mr. Tsui is
an independent non- executive director of Lippo Limited (226. HK),
Lippo China Resources Limited (156.HK), Hongkong Chinese Limited
(655.HK), Vinda International Holdings Limited (3331.HK) and Newton
Resources Limited (1231.HK), all listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.
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Cheung Kwok Keung, aged 52, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 20 January 2011. Mr. Cheung is the
chairman of audit committee, member of remuneration committee
and nomination committee of the Company. He is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Cheung has over 20 years of experience in auditing, accounting
and financial management. Mr. Cheung is the chief financial officer
and company secretary of Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited
(2314.HK), the company secretary of Lee & Man Chemical Company
Limited (746.HK). All companies mentioned above are listed on
the Main Board of Stock Exchange. Mr. Cheung is an independent
non-executive director of DCB Holdings Limited (8040.HK) since
14 February 2018, which is listed on the GEM Board of the Stock
Exchange.
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Hu Jiang
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Hu Jiang, aged 62, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 28 February 2014. Mr. Hu is the member of audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee
of the Company. He was the principal of Beijing Normal University
(Zhuhai) College of Real Estate from November 2010 to July 2015.
Mr. Hu has over 20 years of teaching and research experience in the
fields of geography and real estate. He is a senior economist and
has the qualification of a PRC registered real estate appraiser. He
is also a member of China Real Estate Valuers Association and he
was appointed as deputy permanent secretary of China Real Estate
Valuers and Agent Association in July 2015. Mr. Hu holds a degree in
science from the Beijing Normal University. Mr. Hu had been a vice
president of the Company from July 2007 to May 2008. Except for
being a Director of the Company, Mr. Hu has not held any directorship
in the last three years in public companies which are listed in Hong
Kong or overseas.
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Senior Management

Chan Ka Yeung Jacky

Chan Ka Yeung Jacky, aged 39, is a senior vice president of the Group
and the president of International Investment Group. He graduated
from the University of lllinois at Urbana-Champaign in the United
States of America with extensive experiences in capital markets and
investor relations management. He had previously been the deputy
head and responsible officer of the capital markets department
of Agile Group and the chief investment officer of Zhong An Real
Estate Company Limited. He joined the Group in October 2013 and
is appointed as executive director in 15 April 2019, he is mainly
responsible for corporate finance of listed company, capital markets
management, and management of International Investment Group,

etc.

Zhang Jun

Zhang Jun, aged 42, is a vice president of the Group. He graduated
from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law, majoring in
Marketing and studied in Wuhan University with a minor in Industrial
and Civil Architecture. He had served as a deputy general manager of
operation and marketing and vice president in renowned companies
such as Wanda Group and Yurun Group. He joined the Group in
February 2015 and is now mainly responsible for the management of
the Commercial Property Group.

Chen Zhi Bin

Chen Zhi Bin, aged 37, is a vice president of the Group and the
head of finance centre. He graduated from Sun Yat-sen University
with a Bachelor degree in Finance and is a certified accountant. He
had served as an audit manager and general manager of finance
department in renowned companies such as Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu CPA and Fantasia Holdings etc. He joined the Group in
August 2014, and is appointed as chief financial officer on 15 April
2019 and is now mainly responsible for the financial management of

the Group.
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Profile of Senior Management and Company Secretary (contlnued)

A BN B K ) Bb

Huang Bang Hua

Huang Bang Hua, aged 59, is a vice president of the Group. He
graduated from the Central China Normal University with a Master
degree in Economics. He had previously been the deputy branch
manager and branch manager of Guangzhou Branch of Shenzhen
Development Bank and Guangzhou Branch of China Bohai Bank. He
joined the Group in November 2017, and is now responsible for the

management of the Financial Group.

Chen Yong

Chen Yong, aged 43, is a vice president of the Group. He obtained a
Bachelor degree from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law.
He has extensive experience in fund management. He had served
in some well-known companies such as Vanke, Gemdale and Logan
Property. He joined the Group in June 2014, and is now mainly
responsible for the investment and financing management, fund

management and risk control of funding for the Property Group.

Xiao Yi

Xiao Yi, aged 47, is a vice president of the Group and the general
manager of the Chongging, Shaanxi and Anhui district companies.
He graduated from the Chongging Institute of Architecture and
Civil Engineering, possessing extensive experience in engineering,
cost and design management. He had served as a deputy general
manager of engineering and general manager in Winsan (Shanghai)
Industrial Corporation and Chongging Longfor Properties, etc. He
joined the Group in June 2009 and assists with the daily operation and
management and design work of Commercial Property Group, and is
now mainly responsible for the company management in Chongging,
Shaanxi and Anhui.

Guo Shi Guo

Guo Shi Guo, aged 44, is a vice president of the Group. He graduated
from Jilin University with a doctoral degree in Economics. He served
as the general managers (human resources) and chief human
resource officer in renowned companies such as Wanda Group
and Homnicen Group. He joined the Group in October 2018, and is
currently responsible for the administration, human resources and

brand management of the Group.
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Zhou Xian Jun

Zhou Xian Jun, aged 51, is an assistant to president of the Group. He
obtained a Bachelor degree from Zhongnan University of Economics
and Law. He had previously been worked in Guangdong Yonghua
Law Firm, Global Kingway Law Firm and Guangdong Baike Law
Firm. He joined the Group in December 2010, and is now mainly

responsible for land development and legal risk control of the Group.

Gao Xiang Dong

Gao Xiang Dong, aged 43, is an assistant to president and the chief
architect of the Group. He obtained his Master degree from South
China University of Technology. He has extensive experience in
design management. He joined the Group in April 2012, and is now
mainly responsible for the research and design for the Property
Group.

Ruan Yong Xi

Ruan Yong Xi, aged 39, is an assistant to president of the Group.
He graduated from Guangdong University of Foreign Studies with
a Bachelor degree in Accounting and is a certified accountant. He
had been the general manager of finance department of Fantasia
Holdings, assistant chief financial officer of Evergrande Group and
audit manager of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA. He joined the
Group in March 2018, and is now responsible for the strategic

investment of the Group.

Joint Company Secretaries

Wong Mei Shan

Wong Mei Shan, aged 43, joined the Group in July 2017 and was
appointed as the company secretary of the Company in August
2018. She is a certified public accountant and a member of Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, with over 10 years
of experience in company secretarial, corporate governance and
compliance affairs. She holds a Bachelor of Business Administration
degree in Accounting from the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology and a Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of
London.
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Profile of Senior Management and Company Secretary (continued) |=_-J —
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Lee Mei Yi FXE
Lee Mei Yi was appointed as the company secretary of the Company TEBERZ—tF—ABZEALXRRIZA
in January 2017. She is an executive director of Corporate Services AIME -  RAFEZERNBERDBMRERS

of Tricor Services Limited. She holds an Honours Bachelor's degree HHITESE - BFIFAELRTE2 ()BT 8 -
in Accountancy and is a Chartered Secretary and a fellow member WARFTWE  UWREBRFTNEAT R RE
of both the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The HHAWERITBRABERG 2 EXZE -

Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators.
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A\ Land Bank
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Domestic Land bank

Project Name Location Product Type (thousand sq.m)
1 Guangzhou Nanguo Aoyuan Panyu, Guangzhou Integrated residential community 148.2
2 Guangzhou Aoyuan Panyu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 22.2
3 Guangzhou Panyu Aoyuan Panyu, Guangzhou Integrated residential community 52.0
4 Guangzhou Nansha Aoyuan Nansha, Guangzhou Integrated residential community 40.0
) Guangzhou Guo Ao Investment Nansha, Guangzhou Hotel, commercial properties, offices 19.9

Development Centre and high-rise apartments
6 Guangzhou Aoyuan Hai Jing Cheng Nansha, Guangzhou Commercial properties, offices and High-rise apartments 70.8
7 Guangzhou Aoyuan Plaza Panyu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 159.8
8 Guangzhou Aoyuan Health Plaza Panyu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 9.9
9 Guangzhou Aoyuan Beyond Era Panyu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 29
10  Guangzhou Aoyuan International Center  Panyu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 201.2
11 Guangzhou Aoyuan Spring Garden Huangpu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 1.7
12 Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza Panyu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 39.1
13  Guangzhou Aoyuan Kangwei Plaza Zengcheng, Guangzhou  High-rise apartments, commercial properties 216.4
14 Guangzhou Luogang Aoyuan Plaza Huangpu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 57.9
15 Guangzhou Aoyuan Xiangxue Mansion ~ Huangpu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 33.6
16 Guangzhou Aoyuan Glorious Mansion Zengcheng, Guangzhou  High-rise apartments, commercial properties 138.3
17  Guangzhou Aoyuan Lianfeng State Panyu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 280.8
18  Shenzhen Aoyuan Jade Bay Pingshan New District, High-rise apartments, commercial properties 217.8
Shenzhen
19  Shenzhen Aoyuan SOHO Guangming New District,  High-rise apartments 27.5
Shenzhen

20  Zhuhai Aoyuan Plaza Zhuhai, Guangdong High-rise apartments, commercial properties 62.1
21 Zhuhai Aoyuan Seaview Mountain Zhuhai, Guangdong High-rise apartments 205.5
22 Zhuhai Aoyuan Xianghai Scenery Zhuhai, Guangdong High-rise apartments, commercial properties 48.2
23 Zhuhai Pingsha Champion City Zhuhai, Guangdong Integrated residential community, commercial properties 60.5
24 Zhuhai Aoyuan Tianyue Bay Zhuhai, Guangdong Integrated residential community, commercial properties 134.6
25 Zhuhai Aoyuan Tianyue Plaza Zhuhai, Guangdong High-rise apartments 34.8
26 Zhuhai Aoyuan Henggin Bay Zhuhai, Guangdong High-rise apartments 74.9
27  Foshan Aoyuan The Prime Palace Foshan, Guangdong High-rise apartments, commercial properties 1.8
28  Nanhai Aoyuan Foshan, Guangdong High-rise apartments, commercial properties 1.9
29  Foshan Aoyuan Central Parkview Foshan, Guangdong High-rise apartments, commercial properties 9.6
30  Foshan Aoyuan Peach City Foshan, Guangdong, Integrated residential community, commercial properties 105.0
31  Foshan Sanshui Champion City Foshan, Guangdong High-rise apartments, commercial properties 621.0
32 Foshan Aoyuan Shanglin Yipin Foshan, Guangdong Integrated residential community, commercial properties 324.1
33 Foshan Aoyuan Glorious Mansion Foshan, Guangdong Integrated residential community, commercial properties 102.2
34 Sanshui Aoyuan Royal Garden Foshan, Guangdong Integrated residential community, commercial properties 117.6
35 Huizhou Aoyuan Yushan Lake Huizhou, Guangdong High-rise apartments, commercial properties 151.6
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Land Bank (continued)

+ it ()

il
(FFHK)

148.2
22.2
52.0
40.0
198
70.8

159.8

98
2.9
201.2
1.7
GON

216.4
57.8
33.6

138.3

280.8

217.8
27.5
62.1

205.5
48.2
60.5

134.6
34.8
74.9

1.8
1.9
9.6

105.0

621.0

324.1

102.2

117.6

151.6
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/A Land Bank (continued)

(N R ey

44

36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46

47
48
49
50
51
52

53
54
b5

56
57
58

59
60
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71

Domestic
Project Name

Huizhou Aoyuan Lingyu

Huizhou Aoyuan Mansion

Huizhou Danshui Project

Huizhou Ganghong Project

Aoyuan Long Ji Oasis

Huizhou Aoyuan Deming Garden
Huizhou Defeng Project

Huizhou Aoyuan Champion City
Huizhou Aoyuan Capital of Kaesong

Huizhou Aoyuan North Ring New Garden

Huizhou Aoyuan Tianxiang
Glorious Mansion

Zhongshan Aoyuan

Zhongshan Aoyuan Jinyu
Zhongshan Aoyuan Garden Life
Zhongshan Aoyuan Lingsau

Zhongshan Aoyuan Xiangshan Scenery

Zhongshan Aoyuan Lingshang
Pearl Gardens

Zhongshan Blue Garden
Dongguan Aoyuan City Plaza

Dongguan Aoyuan Guanlan Glorious
Mansion

Jiangmen Aoyuan
Jiangmen Aoyuan Waitan

Jiangmen Aoyuan GreenLand
Golden Town

Taishan Aoyuan Presious Palace
Aoyuan Huiyuan New City
Jiangmen Aoyuan Plaza

Meizhou Aoyuan Peninsula View
Jiaoling Aoyuan Plaza

Wouhua Aoyuan Plaza

Meizhou Aoyuan

Wuhua Aoyuan Park Alley

Dabu Aoyuan Plaza

Meizhou Royal Regalia

Meizhou Aoyuan Platinum Mension
Yangjiang Aoyuan Central Parkview

Aoyuan Cultural Tourism City
Shaoguan Lingnan Impression

Location

Huizhou, Guangdong
Huizhou, Guangdong
Huizhou, Guangdong
Huizhou, Guangdong
Huizhou, Guangdong
Huizhou, Guangdong
Huizhou, Guangdong
Huizhou, Guangdong
Huizhou, Guangdong
Huizhou, Guangdong
Huizhou, Guangdong

Zhongshan, Guangdong
Zhongshan, Guangdong
Zhongshan, Guangdong
Zhongshan, Guangdong
Zhongshan, Guangdong
Zhongshan, Guangdong

Zhongshan, Guangdong
Dongguan,Guangdong
Dongguan,Guangdong

Jiangmen, Guangdong
Jiangmen, Guangdong
Jiangmen, Guangdong

Jiangmen, Guangdong
Jiangmen, Guangdong
Jiangmen, Guangdong
Meizhou, Guangdong
Meizhou, Guangdong
Meizhou, Guangdong
Meizhou, Guangdong
Meizhou, Guangdong
Meizhou, Guangdong
Meizhou, Guangdong
Meizhou, Guangdong
Yangjiang, Guangdong
Shaoguan,Guangdong
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Product Type

High-rise apartments

High-rise apartments, commercial properties

High-rise apartments, commercial properties

High-rise apartments, commercial properties

High-rise apartments, commercial properties

High-rise apartments, commercial properties

Integrated residential community, commercial properties
Integrated residential community, commercial properties
Integrated residential community, commercial properties
Integrated residential community, commercial properties
Integrated residential community, commercial properties

Integrated residential community

High-rise apartments, commercial properties
High-rise apartments, commercial properties
High-rise apartments, commercial properties
High-rise apartments, commercial properties
High-rise apartments

High-rise apartments
High-rise apartments, commercial properties
High-rise apartments and low-density residential

Integrated residential community, commercial properties
High-rise apartments, commercial properties
High-rise apartments, commercial properties

High-rise apartments

High-rise apartments, commercial properties

High-rise apartments, commercial properties

Integrated residential community, commercial properties
High-rise apartments, commercial properties

High-rise apartments, commercial properties

High-rise apartments, commercial properties

High-rise apartments, commercial properties

High-rise apartments, commercial properties

High-rise apartments

High-rise apartments

Integrated residential community, commercial properties
Integrated residential community, commercial properties

Land bank
(thousand sq.m)

1878
90.0
54
65.1
64.5
59.3
10.6
389.4
56.2
754
1373

41.0
34.2
448
57.4
379
418

30.5
48.7
156.9

6.5
68.4
1,419.4

145.0
182.4
126.4
166.4
30.8
25.3
256.0
25.2
465.8
26.7
164.7
2705
443.0
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Land Bank (continued)

+ ittt ()

il
(FFHK)

187.8
90.0
5.4
65.1
64.5
598
10.6
389.4
56.2
75.4
137.3
41.0
34.2
44.8
57.4
37.9
41.8
30.5
48.7
188.9)
6.5
68.4
419.4
145.0
182.4
126.4
166.4
30.8
25.3
256.0
25.2
465.8
26.7
164.7
270.5
443.0
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/A Land Bank (continued)
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Domestic
Project Name
72  Fogang Aoyuan
73 Qingyuan Aoyuan
74 Xinhua Town, Yingde Aoyuan
International Resort
75 Yingde The Mansion House
In The River South
76 Qingyuan Aoyuan Hechuang New Town
77 Yunfu Aoyuan City Plaza
78  Maoming Easco City
79  Maoming Haoji Mansion
80  Maoming Aoyuan Jinyuan Coastal City
81  Zhanjiang Aoyuan Coastal Houses
Chongging
82  Chongging Aoyuan City of Health
83  Chongging Aoyuan Jinyu
84  Chongging Aoyuan The Metropolis
85  Chongging Aoyuan Shuiyunjian
86  Chongging Aoyuan City Plaza
87  Chongging Aoyuan Beyond Era
88  Chongging Aoyuan Panlong Yihao
89  Chongging Appreciate of Cloud Mountain
90  Chongging the One
91  Chongging Aoyuan Tianyue Bay
92  Chongging Aoyuan Glorious Mansion
93  Chongging Aoyuan Jinlan Bay
94 Chongging Aoyuan Glorious Mansion
Hunan Province
95  Zhuzhou Aoyuan Edinburgh

Zhuzhou Aoyuan Shennong Health City
Zhuzhou Aoyuan Plaza

Liuyang Aoyuan Plaza

Xiangtan Aoyuan Champion City
Aoyuan Zhongyuan International City
Yueyang Aoyuan Lake Bay

Ningxiang Aoyuan Aristocratic Family
Changsha Aoyuan Honorable Mansion
Qidong Aoyuan Plaza

Changde Aoyuan Scenery Bay

Location

Qingyuan, Guangdong
Qingyuan, Guangdong
Qingyuan, Guangdong

Qingyuan, Guangdong
Qingyuan, Guangdong

Yunfu, Guangdong

Maoming, Guangdong
Maoming, Guangdong
Maoming, Guangdong
Zhangjiang, Guangdong

Chongging
Chongging
Chongaing
Chongaing
Chongaing
Chongging
Chongging
Chongging
Chongging
Chongging
Chongaing
Chongaing
Chongaing

Zhuzhou, Hunan
Zhuzhou, Hunan
Zhuzhou, Hunan
Changsha, Hunan
Xiangtan, Hunan
Chenzhou, Hunan
Yueyang, Hunan
Changsha, Hunan
Changsha, Hunan
Hengyang, Hunan
Changde,Hunan

China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018

Product Type

Low-density residential

Low-density residential

Integrated residential community, commercial properties

Integrated residential community, commercial properties
High-rise apartments, commercial properties

Integrated residential community, commercial properties
Integrated residential community, commercial properties
Integrated residential community, commercial properties
Integrated residential community, commercial properties
Integrated residential community, commercial properties

High-rise apartments, commercial properties

High-rise apartments, commercial properties

High-rise apartments, commercial properties

High-rise apartments, commercial properties

High-rise apartments, commercial properties

Integrated residential community, commercial properties
High-rise apartments, commercial properties

High-rise apartments and low-density residential
High-rise apartments and low-density residential
Integrated residential community, commercial properties
Integrated residential community, commercial properties
Integrated residential community, commercial properties
Integrated residential community, commercial properties

Integrated residential community, commercial properties
Integrated residential community, commercial properties
Integrated residential community, commercial properties
High-rise apartments, commercial properties

Integrated residential community, commercial properties
High-rise apartments

High-rise apartments and low-density residential
Integrated residential community, commercial properties
High-rise apartments

High-rise apartments, commercial properties

Integrated residential community, commercial properties

Land bank
(thousand sq.m)

139
63.2
890.0

1372
137.6

205.8
3447

27.1
591.3
105.7

57.1
0.3
1.3
314
51.8
166.4
60.6
95.6
401.2
88.0
168.4
1511
64.9

9.5
2479
279.6

65.8
557.8
5194
2939
109.6

823
334.2
2158



Land Bank (continued)
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BHEEE W il (FEAK)
72 hBEBE EREEET EZEEE 13.9
73 BREE EREFET EEEEE 63.2
74 BE(RE)LIENE EREFEN fRE/NE - P 890.0
75 **’? Irﬁﬂﬁ BEREERT fRENE - P 137.2
76 BERBEAGEFTH EREERT SEAE  BF 137.6
77 EERE Etﬂmﬁhﬂ EREEEM AR - P 205.8
78  RARER ERAELET AR - PEE 344.7
79 RBEEER ERAEKAT AN - PHE 27.1
80 XAERESREGEW ERAE XA mEeNE - % 591.3
81 WIREEGHE EREEIT IRE/NE - P 105.7
82 EERERN 0] BEAE  Bx 57.1
83 BEREDH BEM REAE - mE 0.3
84 EBEREBERR BEM REAE - HF 1.3
85 EEREKEM BEEM BEAE  BE 31.4
86 EEREWMAL EEm REAE  HF 51.8
87 EEBEBEN EEm maE - mE 166.4
88 EHEBESE—N* 5Em RENE B 60.6
89 EEFREZEZE EEM RERERERE 95.6
90 REFABGAR—R 0] BERMEREFTE 401.2
91 EEFREXYE BEM AR - P 88.0
92 EFREZEE BEM AR - PEE 158.4
93 EZ=ERESHE EEm mENE - HE 151.1
94 SBEREER BEM mEeE - HE 64.9
9% HNEREETE MR RN eGP 95
96 IRNREMEEERN i =Yy IRE/NE - P 247.9
97 HNEREES iy v il AR - P 279.6
98 ZIGREES HEARD™ REAE - mF 65.8
99 MERETEEMN HEAMET fRENE - 557.8
100 MBI ER R AR R BRIk HRAHRINT BEAB 519.4
101 EHRRERERE WA ES T BERMEFEEE 293.9
102 EHRREMR WA RDT mahE - mE 109.6
103 RYBRRERERN WA RAT RENE 82.3
104 MRERES g Emm BEAE  mE 334.2
105 RERRESE HEABEm RENE - P 215.8
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Domestic

Project Name Location
106 Liling Aoyuan Champion City Zhuzhou, Hunan

107 Hengyang Aoyuan Platinum Mansion Hengyang, Hunan

Product Type
Integrated residential community, commercial properties
Integrated residential community, commercial properties

Land bank
(thousand sq.m)

123.6
130.6

Jiangxi Province
108 Jiangxi Aoyuan Ganzhou, Jiangxi
109  Ningdu Aoyuan Plaza Ningdu, Jiangxi
110 Dayu Aoyuan Plaza Ganzhou, Jiangxi

Liaoning Province

Integrated residential community
High-rise apartments, commercial properties
High-rise apartments, commercial properties

84.9
614
272.0

111 Shenyang Aoyuan The Metropolis Shenyang, Liaoning

112 Shenyang Aoyuan Convention Plaza Shenyang, Liaoning

Integrated residential community, commercial properties
Integrated residential community, commercial properties

920.7
4245

Guangxi Province

113 Yulin Aoyuan Yulin, Guangxi
114 Yulin Aoyuan City of Health Yulin, Guangxi
115 Yulin Aoyuan Plaza Yulin, Guangxi

116  Nanning Aoyuan Shangzhu Nanning, Guangxi

117  Nanning Aoyuan MingMen Nanning, Guangxi
118 Nanning Aoyuan Langting Nanning, Guangxi
119  Nanning Aoyuan Xuefu Nanning, Guangxi
120 Nanning Aoyuan Yonghe Mansion Nanning, Guangxi
121 Nanning Aoyuan Yuanzhu
122  Pubei Aoyuan Plaza

123 Wuzhou One Lake One City

124 Wuzhou Aoyuan Guihongda Mansion

Nanning, Guangxi
Qinzhou,Guangxi
Wuzhou, Guangxi
Wuzhou, Guangxi
125  Guiping Aoyuan Plaza
126  Liuzhou Notting Hill

Guiping, Guangxi
Liuzhou, Guangxi

Integrated residential community, commercial properties
Integrated residential community, commercial properties
High-rise apartments and low-density residential
Integrated residential community, commercial properties
Integrated residential community, commercial properties
Integrated residential community, commercial properties
High-rise apartments, commercial properties

High-rise apartments, commercial properties

High-rise apartments

Integrated residential community, commercial properties
Integrated residential community, commercial properties
High-rise apartments

High-rise apartments, commercial properties

High-rise apartments

316.4
580.8
3123
1.2
81.8
2.6
2422
1276
163.9
479.0
1103
366.8
1,282.4
2158

Jiangsu Province
127  Kunshan Aoyuan Suzhou, Jiangsu
128  Yangzhou Aoyuan Dream House Yangzhou, Jiangsu
129  Yangzhou Aoyuan Peach City
130 Taixing New World Plaza
131 Taixing Riverside City of Vitality

132 Taixing Shengshixinglong Project

Yangzhou, Jiangsu
Taixing, Jiangsu
Taixing, Jiangsu
Taixing, Jiangsu

133  Nanjing Changfa Square Nanjing, Jiangsu

High-rise apartments
Low-density residential
High-rise apartments
High-rise apartments
High-rise apartments
High-rise apartments
High-rise apartments

67.7

101
300.7
493.8
287.2
235.0
180.1

Zhejiang Province
134 Jiaxing Aoyuan Gold Coast Jiaxing, Zhejiang
135 Jiaxing Aoyuan Tianyue Bay Jiaxing, Zhejiang
136  Ningbo Aoyuan Scenery Bay
137 Ningbo Aoyuan Lake Bay

138  Ningbo Aoyuan Aochuang Center

Ningho, Zhejiang
Ningbo, Zhejiang
Ningbo, Zhejiang
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High-rise apartments
High-rise apartments
High-rise apartments
High-rise apartments
High-rise apartments

9.1
71.0
119.5
72.0
49.0
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BHEEE W il (FEAK)

106 EEERTEH HEERMT mEeE - BE 123.6
107 EHRRPERN WA s IRE/NE - B 130.6
108 JIFHRE IR RE/NE 84.9
109 EHREEE IEEERT REAE - EE 614
110 AREEES LA N SEAE  BF 272.0
111 bR EBEER BEER LG fmEE - BE 920.7
112 EEREEREES BEER LG mEeNE - % 4245
113 EMEER EFE EMm fRENE - P 316.4
114 EMEEFEH EFE EMm fRENE - P 580.8
115 EMEEREES EFE EMH =ERMEREFE 3123
116 HERRLE EREREN AR - P 12
117 FMERRAM EREmED fRENE - B 81.8
118 FZERERAE EREEEN fmEE - BE 2.6
119 BERRZf EREEEN RENE  B¥E 242.2
120 FAEREKFAT EREEEN RENE B 127.6
121 REEREE EREEER BEAE 153.9
122 HLRRES &N fRE/NE - P 479.0
123 HEIMNER R BEEEMNT EANE - ¥ 110.3
124 BMRRERERSE AN BEAB 366.8
125 HETREES EREETEm BEAE  BE 1,282.4
126 #NEET LIEE EFAE YN RENE 215.8
127 BILWEER ILERAEINT RENE 67.7
128 HMAEREE LERE BN BREEE 10.1
129 BMNRREHHE LExE BN SEAE 300.7
130 ZREFERITLES TE#E REM BEAB 4938
131 HEUKERH LERE RET BELE 287.2
132 ZRESHEEIEE TLERE RET RELE 235.0
133 MREEES IEAERT RENE 180.1
134 RERRESERF WIE=ET RENE 9.1
135 HHEERKNE WIE=ET BEAE 71.0
136 ERRREREZ MIA R SEAE 119.5
137 ERERENE LA BT BELE 72.0
138 ERRREBAIFL MIAE RN BEAB 49.0
FEAEESEERNDARAR ZT—N\FFEH
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/A Land Bank (continued)
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Domestic Land bank

Project Name Location Product Type (thousand sq.m)
139  Ningbo Aoyuan City Bay Ningbo, Zhejiang High-rise apartments 39.1
140 Cixi Aoyuan Yushan Lake Ningho, Zhejiang High-rise apartments 170.2
141  Aoyuan Tale Yor Mansion Huzhou, Zhejiang Integrated residential community 92.4
142 Anji Aoyuan East Realm Huzhou, Zhejiang Integrated residential community 146.0
143  Anji Aoyuan Happy Mountain Huzhou, Zhejiang Integrated residential community 197.2
144 Bengbu Aoyuan Washington Park Bengbu, Anhui High-rise apartments 833
145 Bengbu Aoyuan Ginza Bengbu, Anhui High-rise apartments 4145
146 Dangshan Aoyuan Plaza Suzhou, Anhui High-rise apartments 4221
147  Hefei Aoyuan Glorious Mansion Hefei, Anhui Integrated residential community 115.1

Sichuan Province

148 Chengdu Chenghua Aoyuan Plaza Chengdu, Sichuan High-rise apartments, commercial properties 387.7
149  Chengdu Aoyuan Parkview Mansion Chengdu, Sichuan High-rise apartments 238.2
150 Guanghan Aoyuan Jiulong Bay Guanghan, Sichuan Integrated residential community, commercial properties 399.9
151  Chengdu Honor Mansion Chengdu, Sichuan High-rise apartments 157.7
152  Chengdu Aoyuan La Cadiere Chengdu, Sichuan Integrated residential community, commercial properties 171.7
153  Chengdu Aoyuan Jiuli Bay Chengdu, Sichuan Integrated residential community, commercial properties 100.5
154 Chengdu Aoyuan Tianjiao Chengdu, Sichuan Integrated residential community, commercial properties 21.1

Hubei Province

155  Jingzhou Aoyuan Mansion Jingzhou, Hubei High-rise apartments 888K
156 Wuhan Aoyuan International Riverside ~ Wuhan, Hubei High-rise apartments 120.2
157  Aoyuan Longting Huafu Xiangyang, Hubei Integrated residential community, commercial properties 190.9
158  Beijing Aoyuan Second Ring Plaza Beijing High-rise apartments 16.0
159  Beijing Aoyuan Yuanshu Beijing Integrated residential community, commercial properties 159.9

Fujian Province

160 Quanzhou Aoyuan Xixi Peninsula Quanzhou, Fujian Integrated residential community, commercial properties 427.1
161  Shishi Aoyuan Shanglinyuan Quanzhou, Fujian Integrated residential community, commercial properties 152.1
162  Fuding Aoyuan Tianyue Bay Fuding, Fujian Integrated residential community, commercial properties 160.7
163  Fuzhou Changle Jiadi Project Fuzhou, Fujian Integrated residential community, commercial properties 134.6
164  Zhanpu Aoyuan Glorious Mansion Zhangzhou, Fujian Integrated residential community, commercial properties 64.9
165 Qingdao Aoyuan Connotation Depth of Bay Qingdao, Shandong High-rise apartments and low-density residential 35.6
166 Qingdao Aoyuan Top Level Mansion Qingdao, Shandong High-rise apartments 293.1
167 Weifang Aoyuan Waterside Spring Weifang, Shandong High-rise apartments 171.8
168 Qingdao Aoyuan Hallym Mansion Qingdao, Shandong Integrated residential community, commercial properties 103.0

Guizhou Province

169 Weining Aoyuan Plaza Bijie, Guizhou Integrated residential community, commercial properties 302.0
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139 ERRRENE I BT REAE 39.1
140 FHERERE LM WIA BT RENE 170.2
141 MMNERREBRE jpaR=p: LA\ e/ NE 92.4
142 RHEREWRRL ijpas=p; DA\ e/ NE 146.0
143 TERERAE R W& N RE /)& 197.2
144 HERRER TR R BELE 83.3
145 EHIRBEREE ZRB R T SEASE 4145
146 BILRRES ZHERMT RENE 422.1
147 AEREZEE ZREEIET fRE/NE 115.1
148 FEKEREES 7o)l s R REAR - WE 387.7
149 FERE BRI 7o)l Bk &R REAE 238.2
150 BEREREL m)lEEEm fRENE - 399.9
151 MEBREKEMNIEE )l pcED T 2EAE 157.7
162 FEBRERE i Pa)l| & P mENE - % 171.7
163 FEREREE mu)l1& Rk &R mahE - mE 100.5
1654 REBRERE Po)l1& Rk &R IRE/NE - P 21.1
155 FMRRSB[FE AL FN T BEAE 3333
156 EUERERZTEIH LA EET REAS 120.2
157 BEREBEEER LR EB™ AR - PEE 190.9
158 IRBERZRES 5l A47) RENE 16.0
159 ILRBRRE tmm maE - mE 159.9
160 FMNERFEZEFS BEA RN IRE/NE - P 4271
161 AMER MG BEA RN eGP 152.1
162 RE|ERXNE BEARET fRENE - 160.7
163 WMNRLFFEER BEARMMT fRENE - 134.6
164 EREREE BEEEMT AN - PE 64.9
WRE
166 BERERSBHE WREFSM REARERERERE 35.6
166 FTERRENZW® LWREFSEM RENE 293.1
167 BEKEER IR # ™ BEAE 171.8
168 BEEREHBME WREES™ VAN S 103.0
EME
169 HEREES BMNEEET AR - PEE 302.0
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/A Land Bank (continued)
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Domestic Land bank
Project Name Location Product Type (thousand sq.m)

Shaanxi Province

170 Xi'an Longteng Project Xi'an, Shaanxi Integrated residential community, commercial properties 288.0
171  Xi'an Aoyuan The Maple Garden Xi'an, Shaanxi High-rise apartments 97.3
172 Xi'an Aoyuan Glorious Mansion Xi'an, Shaanxi Integrated residential community, commercial properties 205.4
173  Xi'an Aoyuan Scenery Bay Xi'an, Shaanxi Integrated residential community, commercial properties 341.7
174  Xi'an Aoyuan Glorious Mansion Xi'an, Shaanxi Integrated residential community, commercial properties 256.2

Yunan Province

175  Kunming Project Kunming, Yunnan Integrated residential community, commercial properties 267.9
176  Zhengzhou Aoyuan Lake Bay Zhengzhou, Henan High-rise apartments 239.8
177  Tianjin Aoyuan Honor Mansion Tianjin High-rise apartments 156.9
178  Aoyuan Glory Mansion Zhangjiakou, Hebei High-rise apartments 534
179 Xingtai Aoyuan Roya Mansion Xingtai, Hebei High-rise apartments 102.2
180 No. 7 Yard Rui Heng Cangzhou, Hebei High-rise apartments 147.2
181 Haikou Project Haikou, Hainan High-rise apartments 162.6
182 Hong Kong AOffice46 Hong Kong Commercial properties 10.9
183 Hong Kong Robinson Road, Mid-Levels  Hong Kong High-rise apartments 49

Macao Special Administrative Region
184  Aoyuan S Francisco Heights Macao High-rise apartments 7.8
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170 FALEREE RAETZT maNE - P 288.0
171 ARREENEE RAETZT BERAE 973
172 ARRREEZ Tkl fRENE - P 205.4
173 BRRERESE i Tiikzail = VANE 3417
174 AZRRE REEALT AR - P 256.2
175 EFAEE ErEERAT fmEE - BE 267.9
176 EBINEREEHE IR RENE 239.8
177 RERREZER REM BEAS 156.9
178 BRERFEM ALERR AT BERE 53.4
179 TMaRE_EREM EBlE=yid=Ni RELE 102.2
180 MBZERFEHERES A& BN T RENE 147.2
181 EHIEH BREAEOM RENE 162.6
182 &/ AOffice46 R B [HES 10.9
183 BAFLEFEES HEIES REAS 49
R RITTIRE
184 SRPIREILE5H B SEAE 7.8
FEAEESEERNDARAR ZT—N\FFEH
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Overseas
Project Name

Location

Land bank

185  One30 Hyde Park Sydney
186 Maison 188 Maroubra Sydney
187  Mirabell Turramurra Sydney
188 Altessa 888 Gordon Sydney
189  Coomeroo Estate Sydney
190 Adela Burwood Sydeny

191 Esplanade Sydney

192  Moss Vale Sydney

193  Veridian Sydney

Sydney, Australia
Sydney, Australia
Sydney, Australia
Sydney, Australia
Sydney, Australia
Sydney, Australia
Sydney, Australia
Sydney, Australia
Sydney, Australia

194 The Granville Vancouver
195  Burnaby Vancouver

196  Queen's Park Vancouver
197  One Cenral Surrey Vancouver
198  North York M2M Toronto

Vancouver, Canada
Vancouver, Canada
Vancouver, Canada
Vancouver, Canada
Toronto, Canada
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Land bank Product Type (thousand sq.m)
High-rise apartments 15.0
High-rise apartments 0.6
High-rise apartments 24
High-rise apartments 12.8
Land subdivision 280.0
High-rise apartments 8.1
High-rise apartments 30.6
Land subdivision 1,230.0
High-rise apartments 17.5
High-rise apartments 53
High-rise apartments, commercial properties 123.8
High-rise apartments 44
High-rise apartments, commercial properties 38.3
High-rise apartments, commercial properties 156.5
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185 BEHEAR 1305 SRINEE SEAE 15.0
186 BEHEMA 1885 SRR BEAE 0.6
187 FEERHH BENER REAE 2.4
188 BIEIIES88 5 SEINER RELE 12.8
189 EEBEREHR SEINER AIERE 280.0
190 EEBEEH SENER RENE 8.1
191 ZBIEESPHBIEER SEINER REAE 30.6
192 BEEHKER BRNEE RIZE 3 & 1,230.0
193 BERMEAL SEIMNEE NG 17.5
194 REFEEREMIEE MEXETE BELE 5.5
195 REFEARZLIER MEXEFTE REAE > B 123.8
196 BIEERAREHR MeXETE BEAE 4.4
197 BIFEREFLIER MEXEFTE RENE B 38.3
198 Zm%iL#E M2M MEXRZ Mm% RENE B 156.5
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Major Projects:

HMIAH -

Guangzhou Aoyuen Lianfeng State
M R E IS B

Shenzhen Aoyuan Jade Bay
R EER RS

Toronto North York M2M

%% L85 M2M

Zhuhai Aoyuan Seaview Mountain
WeEREHILE

Foshan Aoyuan Shanglin Yipin
#BILERE R —mm

Nanning Aoyuan Xuefu

Chengdu Aoyuan Parkview Mansion
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Chengdu Chenghua Aoyuan Plaza
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Ningbo Aoyuan Lake Bay
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Yangzhou Aoyuan Peach City
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Bengbu Aoyuan Ginza
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Xinhua Town, Yingde Aoyuan
International Resort
BE (R4E) LE/NMA
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Major Projects [=
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Guangzhou Aoyuan Lianfeng State
Joi ] BRL ] 3 g B 3

Guangzhou Aoyuan Lianfeng State

Guangzhou Aoyuan Lianfeng State is located in the west side of the
national 4A tourist attraction, Lotus Hill in Panyu District, Guangzhou, with
a view of the tourist attraction and the 18-hole golf course. The project
is about 500 meters from Lianhua Station, Southbound extension of
Guangzhou Metro Line 8 (under construction), which is the interchange
of Guangzhou-Dongguan-Shenzhen and Foshan-Guangzhou-Dongguan
Intercity Railway. Upon the commencement of the metro line, it will only
be three stations away from Pazhou and \Wanbo.

With a total GFA of approximately 280,000 sqg.m., the project
is positioned as an international golf community in Lotus Hill,
comprising high-rise apartments, low-density residentials and resorts.

Designed by internationally renowned architect, Joseph Wong Design
Associates, and interior designer, Mr. Kenneth Ko, the project was
awarded the 54th “Gold Nugget Awards — Best International Residential
Project” in June 2017, which is Aoyuan's debut overseas award.

Actualimage

EMNREEEEE

BN B 1 B S A BN T 3 B B FEAL
SERH - EBERARELLERE - 187
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Shenzhen Aoyuan Jade Bay
Y Y1 3

Shenzhen Aoyuan Jade Bay

Shenzhen Aoyuan Jade Bay is located in the core living area of
Julong Technology Ecological Sector in Pingshan New District of
Shenzhen. It is adjacent to Pingshan Shoal Wetland Park, enjoying
a 360° ecological landscape. Phase Ill of Nanping Expressway has
been completed which connects Pingshan, Longhua and Qianhai and
offers quick access to the city center. The express line connecting
Shenzhen Pingshan, Shenzhen North, Futian and West Kowloon of
Hong Kong has commenced operation, realising the “Guangdong-
Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area one-hour living circle”.

With a total GFA of approximately 220,000 sg.m., the project
comprises apartments, ranging from 65 sq.m. to 105 sg.m., with
smart panoramic view. There will also be a lawn, a swimming pool,
a running track, a healthcare center, a day care center for the elderly,
etc. By offering healthy, sports-based ecological living experience, it
is positioned to become a new exemplary ecological human habitat.

China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018
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Toronto North York M2M
Z i 22 At £ % M2M

Toronto North York M2M Project

Toronto North York M2M Project, a live-work-play community with a
total GFA of approximately 150,000 sg.m., located on Yonge Street and
Toronto’s main subway line and well connected throughout the Greater
Toronto Area. With easy access to highways, steps from the city’s
main subway line Yonge & Finch station and GO Transit hub, M2M is
located in the centre of the city with 24 hours access to transit. M2M's
master plan includes 5 towers with 1,650 residences, a 3,000 sg.m.
community centre and daycare, over 18,000 sqg.m. of signature retail
and office space, and a brand new public park.

Designed by renowned architect and award-winning interior
designer, T1 at M2M (Phase 1) is infused with exceptional amenities.
Prioritizing healthy lifestyle, the two-storey fitness centre opens onto
a private courtyard garden and provides state-of-the-art facilities,
including a yoga studio, indoor & outdoor children’s play space,
infinity-edge swimming pool and more. T1 at M2M is also designed
with a well-equipped co-working lounge and a business centre with
boardroom, offering residents great flexibility to work from home.

ZmZHTM2MIEH

SHEILNEMMEBEE R NEAZHSE
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Zhuhai Aoyuan Seaview Mountain
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Zhuhai Aoyuan Seaview Mountain

Zhuhai Aoyuan Seaview Mountain is located in Zhuhai Free Trade
Zone. The project abuts the Hongwan Exit of Hong Kong-Zhuhai-
Macao Bridge. It is a river away from Henggin Free Trade Zone and to
the west of Cross Gate CBD.

With a total GFA of approximately 210,000 sg.m., the project features

6 high-rise buildings, a building featuring cascading terraces and the
first experience-based shopping street in the area.
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Foshan Aoyuan Shanglin Yipin
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Foshan Aoyuan Shanglin Yipin

Foshan Aoyuan Shanglin Yipin is located in the core of the
Guangdong-Foshan east-west corridor in Nanhai district of Foshan. It
is adjacent to Foshan West station, Foshan's transportation hub, and
Qiandeng Lake Financial Hi-tech Zone, the CBD of Foshan, boasting
extensive transportation network.

With a total GFA of approximately 350,000 sqg.m., the project features
14 high-rise buildings and a commercial complex. It has a large park
with the theme of flower and sea. The project is a low-density garden
community with a grand scale rarely seen from Nanhai to western
Foshan. It enjoys a scenic surrounding, lying next to the Hanlin
Lake scenic spot and having a privileged view of the Jinsha River.
Education resources are abundant nearby with renowned schools in
the neighbourhood providing high quality education.
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Artists impressions for reference
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Nanning Aoyuan Xuefu
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Nanning Aoyuan Xuefu

Nanning Aoyuan Xuefu is located in the core of Xida Business
District, one of the four high-end urban business districts in Nanning,
Guangxi Province. With a total GFA of approximately 420,000 sq.m.,
the project comprises high-end residences and apartments, a large
shopping mall and a theme shopping street.

The project offers quick access to major urban areas with direct
connection to Guangxi Urban Metro Line 1 and Line 5 exits as well
as various bus routes. The project is opposite the main entrance of
Guangxi University and to the north of a large urban landscape park,
enjoying serenity amid a prosperous business district.

The project is accredited with “2018 Project with Investment Value”,
“2018 Grand Prize for Urban Complex Landmark”, “2018 Benchmark
Urban Complex” and “2018 Property Project of Honoured Quality” in
Nanning.
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Chengdu Aoyuan Parkview Mansion
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Chengdu Aoyuan Parkview Mansion

Chengdu Aoyuan Parkview Mansion is located in the Chengnan
Dayuan Area, the “Golden Junction Belt” of the Chengdu High-
tech Zone and Tianfu New District in Sichuan. Surrounded by Qilong
Park and adjacent to Jincheng Lake Park, Guixi Ecological Park and
Dayuan Central Park, it affords the residents a comfortable living
environment. The project is about 6.2 kilometers away from New
Century Global Center, a financial landmark of Chengdu. It will enjoy
direct access to the city center once the Metro Line 1 and Line 5
(under construction) and Jiannan Avenue BRT commence operation.

With a total GFA of approximately 240,000 sq.m., the project
is planned with mid and high-rise apartments and low-density
residential, forming an open atrium view, and equipped with
complete auxiliary facilities for travel, health, education, nature and
shopping.

Artists impressibns foreferene!
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Chengdu Chenghua Aoyuan Plaza
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Chengdu Chenghua Aoyuan Plaza RE R EREES

Chengdu Chenghua Aoyuan Plaza is located in inner East Central, PR EB AR 2 BB B IS AT AT ) || 8 AR ER T AR 2E [ SR
Chenghua District, Chengdu, Sichuan Province, a property above FRIRNE - BihiE FEWE @ HE A
metro station. It has a full range of auxiliary facilities in transportation, BEAERNERE °

education and community.

With a total GFA of approximately 640,000 sq.m., the project THEAREEBMBELNCAEF K REHmE

comprises high-rise residence, large leisure and commercial street, T ABKEEETER  SESTFEMERE
high-end offices and boutique hotels, etc. It is surrounded by a river JEE o EIEW A3 AERE - AKETRER
and three parks, offering a charming natural landscape in Chengdu. HEEBEASENER -

Since its launch in 2016, the project has received various awards, HEE T NFHLURESTRZEE

including “Top Commercial Projects to Invest in Western BEPEASEEtESREREEMEER]
China”,”Consumer Favorable Projects in Chengdu” and “Real Estate [REETRTEZHEEEEER | KK
Enterprise for Promoting the Development of Chengdu City"”. EHENTHE 1] -
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Ningbo Aoyuan Lake Bay
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Ningbo Aoyuan Lake Bay

Ningbo Aoyuan Lake Bay is Aoyuan'’s first project in Ningbo, Zhejiang.
Located in Binjiang New Town, Beilun District, Ningbo, the project
is in close proximity to main roads, namely Jiangnan Road, Tongtu
Road and Huangshan Road, with quick access to Ningbo City Centre,
Gaoxin District, and Eastern New Town. It is also approximately 1
kilometer away from Honglian Station of the Metro Line 2 (under
construction) and only a few hundred meters away from the Metro
Line 6 (under planning), showing great potentials.

With a total GFA of approximately 240,000 sq.m., the project is
planned to build high-rise residential apartments. It features a
valuable landscape of the “One River Two Gardens”, including
Xiaojiajiang River, Riverside Park and Zhushan Park. It boasts the
largest waterfront eco-livable community in the region. The project
is surrounded by developed auxiliary facilities such as commercial
centers, schools, and medical facilities.
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Artists impressions for reference
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Yangzhou Aoyuan Peach City
1o M B [ 8L 1)) v S

Yangzhou Aoyuan Peach City

Yangzhou Aoyuan Peach City is located at the intersection of Gaogiao
North Road and Beiwaihuan Road in Yangzhou, Jiangsu Province.
It is surrounded by the Shugang Slender West Lake Scenic Area, a
national 5A tourist attraction.

The project boasts convenient transportation with direct access
via various bus routes across the city. It is located to the south of
Beiwaihuan Road, a trunk road in Yangzhou, and is only 3 kilometers
away from the Slender West Lake Exit of the Expressway.

The project has a total GFA of approximately 300,000 sg.m. and
comprises a themed commercial district, Aoyuan neighborhood park,
top-class chain kindergartens and other facilities. The project enjoys
proximity to comprehensive auxiliary facilities in Wenchang Business
District.

China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018

1 TH AT
Artists impressions for reference

BMNRES M E

SN BB B K B R T AR B T B A B
BULSMRBRER - HEEI CARRE — B
FPHEARE -

BARBERE  ZHRARKBEE BFWT
RAardt - bAIRHM EEEILINRE - B
SEREAAHOEIRE -

BRAZEMENIIOET K BAXER
¥We REMEAE  —KReMEHNHER
Z-HAZMXEHE BERLEERER

7£\o



Major Projects HIEL
HUEIH H

Bengbu Aoyuan Ginza
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Bengbu Aoyuan Ginza i 158 B R R R

Bengbu Aoyuan Ginza, a large-scale urban complex, is situated at IR RE R R RE IR TIZL - BEE
the core of Bengbu, Anhui Province. It has a GFA of approximately EREAT08EF 7K 4k REI5% - BRI
700,000 sg.m. at a greening ratio reaching 35%. TR EEE o

Bengbu Aoyuan Ginza is positioned at the central axis of Bengbu, AR BB F SR PRI PN T E EhAR o RABFTIM A
offering a one-stop lifestyle integrating residence, leisure, shopping, O XAV S - B AT IBUR Atk O B TS
entertainment, accommodation and culture. The project is adjacent R EBERIAGRE TR SR - tREFRe
to Huaihe Culture Square, the municipal government buildings, the B0 EEIB -/ &2 - PRI
national 4A scenery Longzi Lake, and Bengbu Exhibition Centre. The #oZEEME KE B IR ER X
new site of Bengbu No. 2 Middle School, the only Grade A school at {E—Uh= N E AT o

provincial level in Bengbu, is within a walkable distance.
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Xinhua Town, Yingde Aoyuan International Resort

HWE (fd) OAfe/h

Xinhua Town, Yingde Aoyuan International Resort

Xinhua Town, Yingde Aoyuan International Resort is located in the
Liangde Economic Development Zone in Yinghong Town, Yingde
City, Qingyuan, Guangdong. With a total GFA of approximately
890,000 sg.m., the project comprises six segments, namely the
Omega Chocolate Kingdom Theme Park, the Yinghong Town, the
DoubleTree Hot Spring Resort by Hilton Hotel, the Karst Forest Hot
Spring Water World, the Karst Leisure Ranch and the Spa Villa.
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2018%-

Annunl R

Results Briefing ZAEREZHNE

The Group adheres to the highest standard of investor relations AEBRESEZEENKEEMEEE  — B8
management and to maintain a long-term stable relationship with B RFHEBRREREENRBEBTHEE &
shareholders and investors. The Group timely disseminated true and HmeZBEEETERImIREEFERE

accurate information about the Group to investors through a variety EEH - HREEEERSS BN ERE
of channels. The Group strives to maintain a smooth and effective B OINRHAEEEBLEEN T RENLZAR
mutual communication with investors, with a view to enhance ’iﬁﬁﬁiﬂlj’[})%ﬁ&;é%gﬁ“ BRI AR EE R
investors’ understanding and recognition of the Group’s business ERNEE FRAREERA - BILEBRERE -
development, so as to consolidate and expand the investor base,

which will help the Group to diversify its financing channels, reduce

its borrowing costs and optimize its debt structure.

Results Briefing %fif)%ﬁ%f‘g Results Briefing 24K EE &

S
3N
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Investor relations activities in 2018

2018 FEREEBFTEER

\

® Management @ Tele/Video Investor Conference
Meeting Conference BEEES
BREEESR BRERBRIAGE 27 timesiX
318timesiX 52 timesX
© Site Visits Investors Roadshow @ Investors Presentation
HE 28 REEKR and Press Conference
18 timesiX 11 times)&X BEEENGRIEBRHE

4 timesiX

Investment institutions by region

REBBRUMES R

@ Mainland China
and Hong Kong

Asia Pacific (excluding
Mainland China and

AR A & B Hong Kong)
64% DA (Brrp B A R B )
15%
@ North America Europe @ Middle East
Bt BN PR
12% 1% 1%

Note: Asia Pacific (excluding Mainland China and Hong Kong) includes Singapore, Taiwan, Japan, Malaysia and Australia; North America includes United States

and Canada

it DX (BRFPENSREE) EEINE  ZE - A BERAZREN - HLEEEEERNEAX

During the year under review, the Group actively communicated with
investors, organized and participated in an aggregate of 430 investor
relations activities, including results announcement presentation,
management meetings, investor roadshows and conferences held in
places such as Beijing, Shanghai, Shenzhen, Hong Kong, Singapore,
New York and London as well as project site visits. The Group met
with more than 982 representatives (of which, 47% were equity
investors and 53% were fixed income investors) from various
investment institutions with a view to enhance investor’'s awareness
of the Group's latest development in business performance,
operating conditions and development strategies, etc.

Reverse Roadshow # WA/ [FIF5 &
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The Group regularly disseminated the latest information through
announcements, press releases, monthly newsletters, and corporate
website in a proactive and timely manner. The Group also diversified

its means of communication with the use of official WeChat platform.

In 2018, numerous international and domestic investment banks
and brokers initiated equity research reports. There were over 50
equity and fixed income research reports on Aoyuan which highly
appraised Aoyuan’s performance and development. Equity and fixed
income research reports increases investors’ understanding of the
company, attracting more attention from investors and facilitating the
interaction between investors.

In 2018, Aoyuan garnered “2018 Corporate Gold Awards in
Corporate Governance and Investor Relations” from the Asset,
an internationally renowned financial magazine, which shows that
Aoyuan’s corporate governance and investor relations management

are well-recognized.

The Group is committed to maintain professional and effective
investor relations management. We will continue to optimize investor
relations operations, and maintain mutual communications with
investors to effectively enhance their understanding of the Group.
Meanwhile, we will uphold an open and frank attitude to listen to the
views from the capital markets and maintain the high transparency,

fostering the sustainable development of the Group.

Investor conference & ZIEE

Investor Relations (continued)
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Corporate Governance Report
1 S8 R

The Board of the Company recognizes the importance of maintaining
a high standard of corporate governance to protect and enhance the
benefits of shareholders. The Board and senior management of the
Company recognized their responsibility to maintain the interest of
the shareholders and to enhance their value. The Board also believes
a deliberate policy of corporate governance can facilitate a company
in rapid growth under a healthy governance structure and strengthen
the confidence of shareholders and investors.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Board is responsible for establishing a sound corporate
governance framework and procedures and has adopted the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") set out in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). as its corporate
governance code of practices.

During the year, the Board had performed, without limitation to, the
following:

(a)  formulation and review of the Company's policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(b)  review of the training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management;

(c)  review and monitoring of the Company's policies and practices
in compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d)  formulation, review and monitoring of the code of conduct and
compliance applicable to employees and Directors;

(e) review and monitoring of the risk management and internal
control system of the Company to ensure their effectiveness;
and

(f)  review of the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this report.

The Company has applied the principles of the CG Code. For the
year ended 31 December 2018, the Company has complied with the
provisions of the CG code, except for code provision F.1.2, details of
which are set out on pages 72 and 91 of this Report.

China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018

TERESEROARAR([ARE]) MEM
BAR(mEAEEDEER((BEFE/x[E
F ) RAER RKFREERENMRERIRTT
BRMNGEERER - ARFEZTERERER
ABHR  BEEREERBREREN S RRABRR
BE EFSNRR EENLEERBREA
R ARERENEARE NRERER - WhE
ERBERRIEENELD -

XE

o
3t

B

R

AERARAEYEEEREARERN
BFYERAEEBRERZIMERATEFSFL
MmARRA(T ETRA DM 14mENEEE R
SAITREE AT DIEREEREARMRT
Al

- EFREET(REBTRR) FHIT
X

(@) HELBHARBNEEERBRELE
M

b) WALEREZLRSREEENFIR
FESEER

© WMURERARREETERREER
ETHABER R ER

d BIE RILEFEEREEBNERTE
Al ;

e) M ERERARRNEREENARE
PR AREREBWME © &

(f) I ARRELETREERTIRE
EEEAWMSEAIEHKE -

BE_T—)/\F+_A=1+—RHILFE KT
AMEXEF 255N ARBEETEEERT
AR HBHNAREFR 72291 R -



Corporate Governance Report (continued) [=]l=
SRR (F) |__|

Corporate Governance Structure
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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Board of Directors

The Board of the Company currently comprises four executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors, providing
leadership and guiding the management. Independent non-
executive Directors represent one-third of the Board. The Company
fully complied with the requirements in relation to independent
non-executive Directors set out in Rule 3.10 of Listing Rules. The
biographical details of each Directors are set out on pages 30 to 37.
The Board possesses a balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the Company’s business. The Directors of the
Company possess management, finance and accounting professional
qualifications with extensive experience in diversified business.

The Board members up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Guo Zi Wen (chairman)

Mr. Guo Zi Ning (vice chairman and chief executive officer)
Ms. Zhong Ping (chief financial officer)

Mr. Ma Jun (chief operating officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tsui King Fai

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

Mr. Hu Jiang

The Board is scheduled to meet at least four times a year to
determine overall strategic direction and objectives, approve interim
and annual results, and discuss other significant matters on the
businesses and operations of the Group. During the year ended 31
December 2018, a total of 15 Board meetings were held. Details of
the Directors’ attendance at the Board meetings are set out under
"Directors’/Committee Members' Attendance at Meetings"” below.

The Board is responsible to the shareholders for providing effective
leadership, and ensuring transparency and accountability of the
Group’s operations. It sets the Company's values and aims at
enhancing shareholders’ value. It formulates the Group's overall
strategy and policies and sets corporate and management targets,
key operational initiatives as well as policies on risk management
pursuant to the Group's strategic objectives.

China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018
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There is no relationship among members of the Board except that EFeXNE2HBECMEBE  HBEE
Mr. Guo Zi Wen is the brother of Mr. Guo Zi Ning. A A EPRFEE S A B SBBR AN ©

Directors’’Committee Members’ Attendance at BE ZEEHREHEERER
Meetings

Meeting Attended/Held During the Year Ended

31 December 2018
BZ-Z-N\F+-A=1-HLEEHE/ BTEERY
Audit  Remuneration Nomination General

Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Name of Directors BEis - ENZEE yHzEe REZEE REAE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Guo Zi Wen PEXRE 15/15 n 202
Mr. Guo Zi Ning PHERE 15/15 112
Ms. Zhong Ping BIat 15/15 02
Mr. Ma Jun SERE 15/15 112
Independent Non-executive BUFHITES
Directors
Mr. Tsui King Fai GERLE 15/15 22 44 /1 1/
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung REG L 15/15 202 414 111 112
Mr. Hu Jiang Pk 15/15 202 44 111 02
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer FERITHER

Mr. Guo Zi Wen is the Chairman and Mr. Guo Zi Ning is the Chief BEXEEREEGEF  MAFEXRE
Executive Officer of the Company. The Chairman is responsible for BADNRITHEE ESEIFEEELRE
the overall strategic development of the Group’s operation. The Chief EEBEENGARBERE M3 —H
Executive Officer, on the other hand, is principally responsible for the B THRAHKBFZEEREENGEAE

overall management of the Group. I8 .
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Independent Non-executive Directors (“INED”)
Each of the existing INEDs has been appointed for a term of one year,
subject to the provision of retirement and rotation of Directors under
the Articles of Association of the Company.

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed three INEDs. Two of the INEDs have
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related

financial management expertise.

Mr. Tsui King Fai has served the Board for more than nine years.
Notwithstanding his length of tenure, in view of his professionalism,
extensive business experience and familiarity with the Company's
affairs, the Board is of the opinion that he possesses the required
character, integrity and experience to ensure his independence in
order to objectively scrutinise the Company's performance.

The Company has received confirmations of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the INEDs and

considers them to be independent.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and
Contributions of the Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company and is collectively responsible for directing and

supervising the Company'’s affairs.

Directors of the Board take decisions objectively in the interests of
the Company. The Board has delegated to the senior management
the authority and responsibility for the day-to-day management,
administration and operations of the Group. The management is
responsible for the implementation and adoption of the Company’s
strategies and policies. In addition, the Board has established Board
committees and has delegated to these Board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference. The

delegated functions and tasks are periodically reviewed by the Board.

China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational
and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control

and risk management systems are in place.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of

Directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests

of the Company and its shareholders at all times.

During the year, the Chairman held a meeting with all the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of the
executive Directors. Details of their attendance record are set out in
the following table:

SR IR ()

EXeRRER8e  ERNMEETALES
ERE  HEREHIERERRBET @A
SENEERMHRE  UBRRERTOA
e R RREE R -

EXESRTAEMAEEFRE BT NEER
FH RBLEE - AEEZENEREE E
KRR (R EBLA S RMNEERE)
MEER  REBEZRARBHEMERNEES
"o

BT B R TR T R P
FARRER  T— B AR R REREZ F
21T -

RAFERN  EEGLTFEMBBIIFNTE
FERATESTERNBATRIT —RER -
WEZ HEREFBRIIN TR

Number of
Meeting Attended/
Number of Meeting Held

Name of Director EESR HESBERE SBRETRH
Mr. Guo Zi Wen SR A 1/1
Mr. Tsui King Fai HERLE 11
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung SR B 58 9t A 11
Mr. Hu Jiang LA 11

PRBESEBERHERAR —Z— \FFR

jial

77



03

Corporate Governance Report (continued)
= BEAEESE (B

Board Committees
(@) Audit Committee (“AC”)

The AC was established with written terms of reference in
compliance with the CG Code. It consists of three members with
all INEDs, namely, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung (as chairman), Mr. Tsui
King Fai and Mr. Hu Jiang. Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, the chairman
of AC, has appropriate professional qualifications, accounting
and related financial management expertise, with appropriate
professional qualification as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the

Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the AC are mainly to make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment and removal of external auditor;
review the financial statements and material advice in respect of
financial reporting; and oversee financial reporting system and
internal control procedures of the Company. The terms of reference
of AC are available and accessible at the websites of the Company
(www.aoyuan.com.cn) and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited ("“Stock Exchange”) (www.hkexnews.hk).

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the AC held 2 meetings.
Details of the committee members’ attendance at the AC meetings
are set out under “Directors’/Committee Members' Attendance at

Meetings” above.

The summary of the work of the AC during the year ended 31
December 2018 is set out below:

@ reviewed the announcement of annual results and annual
report of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December
2017 before submission to the Board for adoption and
publication;

B reviewed the announcement of interim results and interim
report of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2018
before submission to the Board for adoption and publication;
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

@ met with the auditors to discuss the accounting and
audit issues of the Group and reviewed their findings,
recommendations and representations;

@ reviewed the Group's internal control and risk
management system; and

B reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Group's accounting and financial
reporting function and their training programmes.

(b) Remuneration Committee (“RC”)

The RC was established with written terms of reference in
compliance with the CG Code. It consists of three members with
all INEDs, namely, Mr. Tsui King Fai (as chairman), Mr. Cheung
Kwok Keung and Mr. Hu Jiang.

The primary duties of the RC are mainly to make recommendations
to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure
relating to all Directors and senior management of the Group;
review remuneration proposals of the management with reference
to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives; and ensure none
of the Directors or any of their associates determine their own
remuneration. The terms of reference of RC are available and
accessible at the websites of the Company (www.aoyuan.com.cn)
and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the RC held 4 meetings.
Details of the committee members’ attendance at the RC
meetings are set out under “Directors’/Committee Members’
Attendance at Meetings"” above.

The summary of the work of the RC during the year ended 31
December 2018 is set out below:

B reviewed the existing policy and structure of the
remuneration of management of the Group;

B made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the executive Directors and management of
the Group;
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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@ reviewed and approved performance-based remuneration
by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by
the Board; and

B assessed performance of the executive Directors.

(c) Nomination Committee (“NC”)

The NC was established with written terms of reference in
compliance with the CG Code. It consists of four members with
one executive Director, namely Mr. Guo Zi Wen (as chairman)
and three INEDs, namely, Mr. Tsui King Fai, Mr. Cheung Kwok
Keung and Mr. Hu Jiang.

The primary duties of the NC are to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board and make recommendations to
the Board regarding candidates to fill vacancies on the Board.
The terms of reference of NC are available and accessible at the
websites of the Company (www.aoyuan.com.cn) and the Stock

Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the NC held 1 meeting.
Details of the committee members’ attendance are set
out under “Directors’/Committee Members' Attendance at
Meetings"” above.

The summary of the work of the NC during the year ended 31
December 2018 is set out below:

@ made recommendations to the Board on the re-election
of Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company;

B assessed the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; and

@ reviewed the structure, size and composition of the
Board.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Board Diversity
The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the

approach to achieve diversity on the Board, based on a range of
measurable objectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience and
qualifications, skills, knowledge and length of service, having due
regard to the Company’s own business model and specific needs from
time to time. With the existing Board members coming from a variety
of business and professional background and one out of the seven
Board members being woman, the Company considers that the Board
possesses a balance of skills, experience, expertise and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company's

business.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Company's strategic objectives, and establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal

control systems.

The AC assists the Board in leading the management and overseeing
their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management

and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk management
procedures and guidelines with defined authority for implementation
by key business processes and office functions.

All divisions conducted internal control assessment regularly to
identify risks that potentially impact the business of the Group and
various aspects including key operational and financial processes,
regulatory compliance and information security.
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SRR ()

The management, in coordination with division heads, assessed the
likelihood of risk occurrence, provide treatment plans, and monitor
the risk management progress, and reported to the AC and the Board
on all findings and the effectiveness of the systems.

The management has reported to the Board and the AC on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
for the year ended 31 December 2018.

The Internal Audit Department is responsible for performing
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems. The Internal Audit
Department examined key issues in relation to the accounting
practices and all material controls and provided its findings and

recommendations for improvement to the AC.

The Board, as supported by the AC as well as the management
report and the internal audit findings, reviewed the risk management
and internal control systems, including the financial, operational and
compliance controls, for the year ended 31 December 2018, and
considered that such systems are effective and adequate. The annual
review also covered the financial reporting, internal audit function,

and staff qualifications, experiences and relevant resources.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to the Company’'s Directors, officers, senior
management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to

enquiries.
Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that

unauthorized access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Accountability and Audit

(a)

(b)

Accountability

The Board is accountable to the shareholders while the
management is accountable to the Board. The Board endeavors
to ensure that the announcements of annual and interim
results and the annual and interim reports of the Group present
a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group's
position and prospects. The Board embraces openness and
transparency in the conduct of the Company’s affairs, whilst
preserving the commercial interests of the Company. Financial
and other information are disseminated to shareholders through
announcements via the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.

hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.aoyuan.com.cn).

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018 and confirm that the financial statements
contained herein give a true and fair view of the results and
state of affairs of the Group for the year under review. The
Directors consider that the financial statements have been
prepared in conformity with the statutory requirements and the

applicable accounting standards.

Auditors’ Remuneration

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
were audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu of which the term of
office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting.
The AC has recommended to the Board that Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu be nominated for appointment as the auditor of the

Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

There have been no changes of auditor of the Company in the

past three years.

It is the auditor’s responsibility to form an independent opinion,
based on their audit, on those financial statements and to report
their opinion solely to the Company and for no other purpose.
They do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of the independent auditor’s

report.
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= BEEREE (F)

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
is set out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 145
to 154.

During the year under review, details of the professional fees paid/
payable to the Company’s independent auditor, Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu are set out as follows:

RRABVBLZBE M B RERME AL
Z BN E 145 E 154 B [ B X BAD
HEIA -

REIBFE - B/ BRAARE L ZEAE
g) o AEMS SFTRTHEZEBRFIEIITRN
T

RMB'000

ARETTT

Audit services EatR7% 7,180

Non-audit services EETIRTE

— Initial public offering of spin-off group — KBSk LT 3,880

— Interim review — R BB 1,500

— Issue of senior notes —BITEERE 2,507
— Provision of tax advisory services on — B ORI A A RS

unified loan and return 1,015

— Others —Eith 20

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Upon specific enquiry by the
Company, all Directors have confirmed that they have complied with
the required standards as set out in the Model Code throughout the
year ended 31 December 2018.

Continuous Professional Development of
Directors

According to code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Every newly appointed Director is provided with an induction on
the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure that he/she has
adequate understanding of the businesses and operations of the
Group and directors’ duties. The Directors are also kept informed on a
timely basis of their responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules, as well as other relevant statutory or regulatory requirements.
The Company also encourages its Directors to participate in other

continuous professional development programmes for Directors.

The Company has arranged and funded suitable training, placing an
appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a listed
company director. The Company Secretarial Department of the
Company would provide relevant reading materials to the Directors to
ensure that they are apprised of the latest changes in the commercial,
legal and regulatory requirements in relation to the Company’s
businesses, and to refresh their knowledge and skills. In addition, all
Directors are encouraged to attend external forum, or training course
on relevant topics. During the year, the Directors of the Company had
provided their records of continuous professional development to the
Company. The Board has reviewed and monitored the continuous

professional development of the Directors.

The Directors’ knowledge and skills are continuously developed and

refreshed by, inter alia, the following means:

(1) Reading memoranda issued or materials provided from time to
time by the Company to Directors, and as applicable, briefings
and reports by the Company Secretary, as regards legal and
regulatory changes and matters of relevance to the Directors
in the discharge of their duties with the latest developments
in laws, rules and regulations relating to the duties and

responsibilities of Directors and corporate governance; and

(2) Reading news/journal/magazine/other reading materials as
regards real estate, legal and regulatory changes and matters of

relevance to the Directors in the discharge of their duties.
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A\ Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Records of the Directors’ training during 2018 are as follows: EEN - \FERNEZEI ZE8EmT
Training received
Members of the Board EEGRE BEZ 2E
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Guo Zi Wen RS (1) &(2)
(Chairman) (£/E) (1) %(2)
Mr. Guo Zi Ning El e (1) & (2)
(vice chairman and chief executive officer) (BIFEFTHAEE) (1) %(2)
Ms. Zhong Ping BVt (1) & (2)
(chief financial officer) (B/EHEE) (1) %(2)
Mr. Ma Jun BERE (1) &(2)
(chief operating officer) (BB (1) &(2)
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHTES
Mr. Tsui King Fai RRBEE (1) &(2)
(1) F(2)
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung SRENR ST A (1) & (2)
(1) 2 (2)
Mr. Hu Jiang L AE (1) & (2)
(1) A2(2)
Appointment of Company Secretary AEMENERE

Pursuant to code provision F.1.2, a board meeting should be held to
discuss the appointment and dismissal of the company secretary and
the matter should be dealt with by a physical board meeting rather
than a written resolution. For the appointment of Ms. Wong Mei Shan
as the joint company secretary on 1 August 2018, such appointment
has been approved by the Board by way of written resolutions,
through which all Directors have fully considered the proposal and
have not raised any issue of concern that requires further discussion
at a physical meeting. Nevertheless, the Board took the opportunity
to review and re-confirm the company secretary arrangement at its
meeting held on 17 August 2018.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Joint Company Secretaries
Ms. Lee Mei Yiis a Director of Corporate Services of Tricor Services

Limited, the main contact person at the Company is Ms. Wong
Mei Shan, another joint company secretary. For the year ended 31
December 2018, both of Ms. Lee and Ms. Wong have received not
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

Shareholders’ Rights

The Company recognizes the importance, and takes high priority,
on communication with its shareholders. Certain key information on
shareholders’ rights is provided below:

1. Communication with Shareholders
The general meetings provides a channel for communication

between the Board and the shareholders. The Group makes
great efforts to enhance the communication with shareholders.
The shareholders can visit the website of the Company (www.
aoyuan.com.cn) for updated information of the Group and press
releases are posted on our website in a timely manner.

2. Procedures to convene an extraordinary general

meeting
Shareholders may request the Company to convene a general

meeting according to the provision as set out in the Company'’s
Articles of Association and the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands. A copy of the Company’s Articles of Association can
be found on the Company's website. The procedures for
shareholders to nominate a person for election as a Director of
the Company is available on the Company’s website with title
"Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election
as a Director of the Company”.

3. Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a
Person for Election as a Director of the Company
The Company also adopted a set of procedures for putting
forward proposals by the shareholders at general meetings.

Subject to the provisions of the Company's Articles of
Association, the Company may from time to time in general
meeting by ordinary resolution elect any person to be a Director

either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director.
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1 BEAEESE (5D

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a
Director of the Company for election as a Director at a general
meeting, he/she can deposit a written notice at the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Board and Company Secretary. The period for
lodgment of such written notice shall commence on the day
after the despatch of the notice of general meeting and end no
later than 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting.

In order for the Company to inform shareholders of that
proposal, the written notice must state the full name of the
person proposed for election as a Director, including the
person’s biographical details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules, and be signed by the shareholder concerned and
that person indicating his/her willingness to be elected.

In order to allow the shareholders have sufficient time to
receive and consider the proposal of election of the proposed
person as a Director of the Company, Shareholders are
encouraged to submit and lodge the written notice as early as

practicable.

Procedures to send enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board by addressing them to the principal place of business of
the Company in Hong Kong at Units 1901-2, 19th Floor, One
Peking, No. 1 Peking Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
by post for the attention of the Company Secretary.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Investor Relations

The Company’'s website (www.aoyuan.com.cn) provides
comprehensive and accessible news and information of the Company
to the shareholders, other stakeholders and investors. The Company
will also update the website information from time to time to
inform shareholders and investors of the latest development of the
Company.

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
The Company also recognizes the importance of transparency
and timely disclosure of corporate information, which will enable
shareholders and investors to make the best investment decisions.
To achieve this, the Company maintains a website at http://www.
aoyuan.com.cn, where up-to-date information and updates on
the Company’s business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information

are posted.

The general meetings of the Company also provide good opportunity
for exchange of views between the Board and the shareholders.
The Chairman as well as chairmen of the NC, RC and AC or, in their
absence, other members of the respective committees and, where
applicable, the chairman of the independent Board committee, are

available to answer questions at shareholders’ meetings.

The 2019 Annual General Meeting (2019 AGM") will be held on 29
May 2019. The notice of 2019 AGM will be sent to shareholders at
least 20 clear business days before the 2019 AGM.
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= SEEBHE ()

The Board believes effective investor relations can contribute
towards lowering cost of capital, improving market liquidity for the
Company's stock and building a more stable shareholder base.
Therefore, the Company is committed to maintaining a high level of
corporate transparency and following a policy of disclosing relevant
information to shareholders, investors, analysts and bankers. Keeping
the shareholders aware of our corporate strategies and business
operations is one of the key missions of our investor relations team.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its Articles of Association. An up to date version of the
Company’s Articles of Association is also available on the Company's
website and the Stock Exchange's website.

Dividend Policy
The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in
compliance with code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code:

Pursuant to the Dividend Policy, the Company does not have any
pre-determined dividend payout ratio. The declaration, payment and
amount of dividends are subject to the discretion of the Board having
regard to the following factors:

(1) the Group's actual and expected financial performance;

(2) the Group's expected working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future development plans;

(3) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the other members of the Group;

(4)  the Group's liquidity position;
(5)  the general economic conditions and other internal or external

factors that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group;
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Corporate Governance Report (continued) ﬂ‘:‘

(6) the contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by the

Company to its shareholders, if any;

(7)  the statutory and regulatory restrictions on the payment of

dividends by the Company; and

(8) any other factors the Board may consider relevant.

The Company's dividend distribution record in the past may not be
used as a reference or basis to determine the level of dividends that

may be declared or paid by the Company in the future.

The declaration and payment of dividend by the Company is also
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Laws of the Cayman
Islands, any applicable laws, rules and regulations and the Articles
of Association of the Company. The declaration and payment of
future dividend under the Dividend Policy are subject to the Board’s
determination that the same would be in the best interests of the
Group and the Shareholders of the Company as a whole. The Board
will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and may exercise at
its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the
Dividend Policy at any time as it deems fit and necessary. There is no
assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any
given period.
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China Aoyuan Group Limited (“Aoyuan”, the “Group” or"we"”)
emphasizes corporate social responsibilities and makes active
contributions to environmental protection and the society to create a

better living environment for stakeholders and the public.

The Environmental, Social and Governance (“"ESG") Report (the
“Report”) is issued by Aoyuan in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. It discloses major
policies and management measures of the Group's environmental,
social and governance matters related to the property development
business in mainland China from 1 January 2018 to 31 December

2018 (the “2018 Financial Year"” or the “reporting period”).

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Responsibility of the Board

The Board of the Group has always attached importance to the
Company's performance in environmental, social and governance
aspects, and has committed to take into account the impact on the
environment and society in the course of business operations, and
actively assume management responsibilities. In order to effectively
achieve sustainable development, the Board has formulated a
sound environmental, social and governance management policy,
integrating relevant elements into daily operations, and exerting
influence in business decisions to achieve green business. In terms
of implementation, the Board delegates relevant powers to the senior
management of the Group and various business units in order to
achieve higher efficiency of implementation. Management needs to
regularly assess the environmental, social and governance risks and
opportunities involved in the operation and implement appropriate
response measures to manage risks and seize opportunities. The
Board has an audit committee and an established risk management
and internal control system to regularly assess the risks of the Group
as a whole and then reduce the risk to an acceptable level through
appropriate and comprehensive internal controls. The Board will
eventually review and approve the information disclosed by the Group
in its environmental, social and governance report to ensure the

accuracy of the content and the timeliness of the report.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued) ==
BRE - M IR (1) |__|

ESG Working Group

The Group has established a sustainability working group to monitor
the Group’s environmental, social and governance performance.
The sustainability working group is headed by the Group's senior
management and its members are the management of the relevant
departments with environmental, social and governance functions.

The major responsibilities of the sustainability working group are:

° Assist the Group to incorporate each environmental, social and

governance related elements into its sustainability approach;

° Develop sustainability-related policies, specific action plans and

long-term goals;

° Monitor the performance and progress of the Group's
sustainable development in accordance with established action

plans and indicators; and

° Collect environmental, social and governance related
information and statistics on a regular basis so as to prepare the

environmental, social and governance report.

The working group regularly reports to the Board on the Group's
sustainability performance and the latest developments, in order to
ensure that the Board receives sufficient information and follows up

in a timely manner.
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Stakeholders Engagement

The engagement of stakeholders is extremely important to the
sustainable development of the Group. In order to understand
and meet views and expectations of stakeholders in the Group's
operations within the environmental, social and governance aspects,
the Group actively maintains good communication with all internal
and external stakeholders. Effective communication with stakeholder
can also help the Group to realize the existing risks and potential
opportunities. The Group divides its key stakeholders into the
following six groups and the communication channels between the
Group and its stakeholders are set out in the following table:

K ESH
FOEN2EHEERNARHELZREAEE -
REBERERMEERFNEHEBNELHER
e hERNTENEENMAE - KEER
HEFAANBEIMBFDERFTRFER - B
BRD E BB TR B R BRRINE M E MR K&
BERE  EERERRNED /A TRKE
Al YR TRINHEBERSHHENBRR
[=iE

Government
Customers and Investors and Suppliers, contractors and regulatory
Employee consumers shareholders and service providers authorities Community Groups

HLEER ~ EME

8T EFEREEE REERKRR R RS At rER BT R BB L EFE

e Internal emails and ¢ \Website of the e Annual general e Business meetings  ® \Websites of e \Website of the
publications Group meetings ¥nez regulations of the ~ Group
NEBEE & 4 EE Rk eI e Performance government EE @A

e Trainings and e Customer services ® Annual reports and  appraisals BT #R Auh e Press releases
briefing sessions hotline interim reports FIRFTA e Consultation rEE
H RGN E B P RISRER FHRRPERE e Tendering documents of the

e Employees e Customer surveys e Pressreleases and  procedure government
activities BERHEERAS announcements BRI T RE F S
BTEH e Customer FHEmEAE * Seminars of the

e Performance interviews government
appraisals EFEE# R &
TERIRAZ
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

Materiality and Relevance Assessment

In order to identify the material and related issues within the
environmental, social and governance aspects in our the operation ,
the Group used questionnaires to identify material ESG issues related
to the Group’s operation, covering internal stakeholders, external
stakeholders and management of the Group. The Group adopts the
following three steps to determine the materiality of an issue to the

Group’s stakeholders and to the Group’s business.

o Identify: The Group distributes questionnaires to stakeholders
to understand the environmental, social and governance issues

they are exposed to and to rate the importance of the issue.

° Analyze: The Group analyzes the results of the survey
and combines the feedback from the above-mentioned
communication channels in the daily operations to compile
a matrix according to the materiality of the issue to the

stakeholders of the Group and to the business of the Group.

° Confirm: The results of the materiality assessment are
reviewed and confirmed by the management of the Group in

response to the concerns of the stakeholders.
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MATERIALITY MATRIX

Based on the results of the above-mentioned materiality
assessments, the stakeholders’ concerns in the 2018 financial year

are ranked according to their materiality:

ERMAEME
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Importance to the Stakeholders of

the Group

rx

v

HEEXBHEZM
Materiality to the Business of the Group
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
BB~ A XA O (8])

Emissions of air 7 Employees’ 13 Anti-child labour and 19 Advertisement and
pollutants recruitment and anti-forced labour labels
ZE 585 R HE dismissal PyibE Takaam|s T BHEMZE
8 TR MR (e

Climate change 8 Employees’ salaries 14 Environmental 20 Anti-corruption,
and emissions of and welfares and social risk bribery, extortion, fraud
greenhouse gases 8 THAEF management in the and money laundering
RIRECABE =R supply chain RES - AR - = -
HERL HERNIRRMT g HEFAE R

el =g
Generation, disposal 9 Diversification and 15 Safety of the 21 Support on local social
and/or recycling of equal opportunities customers development
non-hazardous waste ZI b M Sk EP&E YRS RER
FEBEREMRESL -
BRIEF, KB
Energy consumption 10 Communications with 16 Quality of customer 22 Participation in local
and efficiency employees services social activities
BEIR BRI R 2 BB T/5Mm BEFRBEES SHEE MM RIED
Water consumption 11 Occupation health 17 Information
and efficiency and safety protection and
FKERMBE BEgREtse privacy

BERHMRBEAFLEE
Ecological 12 Employees 18 Intellectual property

environment
management and
conservation of
construction sites
BRI ERRIRIE
ERNIRE

trainings and career
developments

B TIIIFBRER

FIHERE

The operation of the Group does not involve significant production
of hazardous waste, sewage and the use of packaging materials.

Therefore, the relevant disclosures are not applicable.

Based on the above materiality matrix, this report will cover the

following major environmental, social and governance related issues.
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_A/\ Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
= mss - db@ RATREE (4)

Abstract of ESG Guide The Group’s major environmental, social and governance matters
ESGHESIRRE FEEERRE HEREREER
A.IR3E Environmental
A1. Emissions ° Air emission management
BER ZERBEE R
o Waste management
BEEMER
° Greenhouse gases emission management

BEREYENEIE

A2. Use of Resources ° Energy efficiency
BEREH BEIRE A ks
° Water efficiency
K

A3. Environment and Natural Resources ° Light, noise and dust pollution management
BRERRAER o BERELSRER
° Ecological Environment Management and Conservation of
Construction Sites
BB ERIRIREE RRE

o Green Construction Design

MR ERBERET
B. ¥t & Social
B1. Employment ° Remuneration and benefits
& & 2 4E A
° Equal opportunity
FERE
B2. Health and Safety ° Safety of the constructions sites
REHEZS Tz
B3. Development and Training o Personal development and training of employees
R RIE 1B B A AR E
° Communications with employees
EEER
B4. Labour Standards ° Anti-child labour and anti-forced labour
2 TXR REIREHIST
B5. Supply Chain Management o Supplier screening and supervision
fHrEgEEE BRI E R EE
B6. Product Responsibility ° Quality and sales service of real estate project
EmEE EiEIR B E = RHERY
° Personal Information Protection and Privacy
B A B RHRIE &AL
B7. Anti-corruption ° Integrity construction
RES B2
B8. Community Investment ° Pay attention to poverty alleviation, special needs groups and the
HERE construction of community culture

BIHRE BFHFEEE - tRXXEER
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A1 Emissions

The Group adheres to the philosophy of building a low-carbon and
healthy lifestyle. It implements the following low-carbon and green
policies in its business and tries to reduce the negative effects of its

operating activities on the environment:

° It devotes itself to sustainable development and includes the
environment in the factors considered in making business

decisions;

° It strictly complies with relevant regulations and standards
on environment and emission. It shall handle and report

immediately if it exceeds the limits or violates the regulations;

° It seeks the sources of greenhouse gases, air pollutants,
sewage and wastes and adopts the best environmental
approaches to improve the emissions of the Group, including

the introduction of leading environmental technologies;

° It requires contractors adopting low-emission construction
technologies and materials, and consistently monitors the
emission of greenhouse gases, air pollutants, sewage and

wastes by contractors in property projects;

° It actively promotes its commercial partners, suppliers and
customers to perform their obligations on environmental

protection with the influence of the Group; and

° It raises the awareness of the employees on environmental
protection and advocates the ideas and policies of the Group
on environmental protection and requires them adhering to the
environmental protection policies of the Group in performing
their functions.

BB~ AL RO ()
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

BB AL XA RO (5])

During the reporting period, the Group did not violate the laws and
regulations related to environmental protection. To ensure that the
Group complies with environmental-related laws and regulations, the

Group implements the following control measures for contractors:

° The Group requires each contractor to comply with local
environmental policies and such requirements form part of the

contract terms;

° The Group conducts regular inspections of contractors during
the construction process to detect and prevent irregularities;

and

o The construction materials required by the contractor in the
contract must be green materials which are in compliance with

the national requirements.

By the above measures, the Group strives to strictly comply with the
local and environmental laws and regulations in each business area
during the project development process, including but not limited to
the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China*
( (hEE AR IFBEIRIFRF#E) ), Law on Prevention and Control of
Water Pollution of the People’s Republic of China*( {FZE A RN
K5 BRE%) ), and Comprehensive Emission Standards for Air
Pollutants of the People’s Republic of China*( { AR5 2 WEREHE
TUIZXEY ), Law on Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution
of the People’s Republic of China*( {FZE A RAMB K E5 76
7%) ), Law on the Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution
by Solid Wastes*( {F1 3 AR H B E F8REY)5 R TRITHAE) ), List
of National Hazardous Wastes*( {BIREREEY A EE) ), Regulations
on National Environmental Monitoring and Management*( (&
IRIBESAIE IR 1£5I) ), Urban Appearance and Environment Health
Management Regulations*( {3 mAMIRREEBTIREN) ), etc.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

Air emission management

The Group has taken various mitigation measures to effectively
monitor the various emissions from the contractors during
the construction process in order to control the impact on the
environment. During the project planning stage, the Group will set
pollutant emission standards and limits with the contractor, and
real-time environmental monitoring instruments are installed to
continuously monitor the actual emissions at the site. The Group will
collect data for regular comparison with the industry benchmarks
and formulate improvements. In case of any excess emissions,
contractors are required to report to the group in real time and identify
the source of the problem. In order to reduce the PM2.5 generated
during constructions, we have introduced the PM2.5 detectors in
various projects to monitor dust emission levels, and clean the air on
the site by way of water spray to reduce the particulate matter in the
air and improve the air quality. In addition, the Group will also require
the contractor to use the low-polluting fuels, which meet emission
standard, as the main fuel for construction machinery and transport
vehicles. The contractor should also install filtering and conversion
equipment in the exhaust pipe to effectively reduce the emission of
air pollutants. Therefore, there was no investigation by the regulatory
authorities as a result of the excessive emission during the reporting

period.

The Group’s direct air emissions mainly come from light goods
vehicles, during the reporting period, the emissions of the Group

were as follow:

BB~ AL RO ()

ERHFHYETE

SEFEW T SEEEEE - B BEEEER
REZEBIER O SIEERY - EHIERENE
2. FEEREBE  SESHAREEILS
AU REERREE - WHE TR B BRIRE
EERRR R EER TR ERERE &
W ESIEATHEENEEELBESITR
FIEMEIE - —BHBIREE - AEHZAR
BrmEERSERREHBERE - BRERT
FrPTEAERPM25 - ZRMERZEIEBRA
PM2.5 %8 ESRI EE R BERUK S - S0 7E THbIR
BMEZARKEER - BAOZEFRENY - &K
ETEREE - I EEBRERFRATE
FRIE K5 R 1E B E B R E R K8
B FERATRTCHERENERRERE
LEE - BRURIEZE RS LMY - B
¥R HA R P 3 48 B A R AS B AR T A BS i S P
BERIFER o

EREENEEERIENEZREERTEIT
SERFREERY) - R EHIE - SEHERER
T

Emission of

2018

—E-NEF

Pollutant’ B Unit B BRE
Nitrogen oxides (NO,) BALYIINO) kg T 1,955.82
Sulfur oxides (SO,) malt(so) kg Fx 3.32
Particulate matter (PM) R (PM) kg T 187.40

' The above calculation of air emissions refers to the “Reporting Guidance
Environmental KPIs" of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

BB AL XA RO (5])

Waste management

The waste directly generated by the Group mainly came from office
paper. To make full use of resources, the Group advocates reducing
and recycling paper, encourages double-sided printing and the use of
environmentally friendly paper and sets up recycling bins in offices to
collect waste paper. The Group has also started to promote paperless
offices, including the promotion of paperless concepts to employees,
encouraging employees to store documents electronically, using
e-mail as the main communication method, and replacing manual
approval with electronic approval, etc., in order to significantly
reduce paper consumption. The Group produced 78.8 tons of waste
paper during the reporting period, representing a decrease of 6% as

compared to that of last year.

In addition to the Group's office, the Group also strictly requires
contractors to establish a complete waste disposal mechanism
to control and reduce the amount of waste and its impact on the
surrounding environment in many aspects. First, during the project
planning phase, contractors need to clearly estimate the amount
of materials used and the waste generated. At the same time, it is
necessary to avoid changing the design that would cause dismantling
and waste of materials. In addition, the Group required the contractor
to make site planning, and must have an area for collecting waste
in order to concentrate and dispose the waste, and clear recording
of waste disposal routes to reduce the risk of any loss or improper
treatment. Waste sorting will be conducted after collecting the
waste and the contractors are required to hand over the hazardous
wastes to a designated waste treatment plant, which will handle it
according to the relevant statutory guidelines. The Group will also
standardized product construction to avoid the waste from renovation
and modification brought by design modification and recycle the
remaining harmless waste according to different projects, thereby

reducing the amount of waste.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued) ==
BRE - M IR (1) |__|

Greenhouse gases emission management

The energy and vehicle fuel consumed during the operation of the
business are the main sources of the Group's greenhouse gases.
During the reporting period, the Group generated GHG emissions of
3,618 tons? with a density of 0.045 ton per sq.m. of office area. For
measures to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, please refer to the
section on A2 resource use.

A2 Use of Resources

As a green enterprise, the Group integrates the concept of
environmental protection into its development policy and strives
to provide customers with green buildings that are comfortable,
energy-efficient, and use renewable energy. At the same time, the
Group regards the concept of environmental protection and energy
conservation as a part of its sustainable business objectives and
implements it. In addition, the Group pays close attention to resources

usage in its daily operations to ensure that resources are used properly.

During the reporting period, the Group's direct resource usage is as

%&?%‘%ﬁ%ﬂfﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁm LR EE WA A5 E Y
EREBFENRR  CWEHE fEME4E
REERBEHEMER3,518] mﬁz CEREREYH
KA =TS 0.045 1 - B AR ER = mABHE
RETENE - FF2RA2BRER 2B °

A2ERERA

EA—RGFELE  SEBBREABRALR
FE o BHARPIRMSE - K-
ERTBERRNGERE - R - £E5E
RETRERE IR AT B L B ISP —18 -
W EEERT o I EETIBIERELE
EBREERER - R ERAGE -

EHREHE  SENEREREHENT :

follows:

Energy type Unit Consumption Amount Density (Office area per Square Meter)
EREE By RE BE (BLAKBAZER)
Electricity KWH 5,609,166.40 72.164 KWH/sq.m.

£Vl THE FRE/FHK
Unleaded gasoline Litre 225,537.06 NA’

S Cpaii N TEmA*

Water Cubic Meter 201,508.26 2592 Cubic Meter/sq.m.
K UAK IHK/FHK
Offices area and sales centers areas Square Meter 77,728.10

WRERE FRK

Since the usage of unleaded gasoline was not affected by the
offices and sales centers area, the density per offices and sales

centers area is not applicable.

2 The above calculation of carbon emissions is based on the “Greenhouse Gas
Protocol” published by World Business Council For Sustainable Development
(“WBCSD") and the World Resources Institute (WRI), the Guidelines to Account
for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for buildings
(Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purpose) in Hong Kong issued by the
Environmental Protection Department, “Greenhouse gas reporting - Conversion
factors 2018" by the Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy of
the United Kingdom Government, “2017 China Regional Power Grid Baseline
Emission Factors” released by the Department of Climate Change under the
Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the PRC, and “Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs"” by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

ARENTRNAENIRAERIEE
FLOHEEXE  ARERAZEREES
DEEZEL A EA

2 _FAGRBERZ AT E R AR R KB ER G E (WBCSD)
At RE RIS (WRI) R COR EREESHEE)
REREZE(EEZZY (BHX ETALHAE)HE
ERBEHEI R R 5 E MR A HES]) - Department for
Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy of the United
Kingdom Government.Z{Greenhouse gas reporting —
Conversion factors 2018) + 4 B 4 AE 12 15 5 & ¥ & 174
1L A1 2522017 % B |7 13 BEATEZER A F IR B
WEXZHTERA FRE R ENETFERIES]) o
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

BB AL XA RO (5])

Energy Efficiency

In terms of real estate business, the Group introduced low energy
consumption to reduce the electricity usage and the energy
required in the lighting, air-conditioning and ventilation system
during the construction process. In addition, the Group actively
adopts environmental construction designs and reduces the energy
consumption in the routine operation of buildings from external walls
design, glass window material, hot water systems and other aspects.
Thanks to the policies on green buildings, various property projects
of the Group met the national standards on green buildings. We
were awarded the “CAPITAL Outstanding Environmental Enterprise
Awards” presented by Hong Kong Capital Magazine, which laid the
leading position in green buildings of Aoyuan in the national real

estate industry

In terms of office environment, the Group promotes employees to
use resources effectively in many aspects. The Group will promote
awareness of resource conservation in the office, including displaying
environmental slogans and educating employees to reduce waste
from daily life, such as walk instead of vehicles as feasible, which
is healthy as well as energy saving, resulting in a win-win. As an
industry role model, the Group also actively participates in all kinds
of environmental protection activities and organizes employees to
participate in activities to personally practice environmental protection
concepts. On the other hand, the Group will monitor the company's
energy consumption and conduct examination and review regularly to
formulate improvement plans to enhance the Group’s environmental

performance and save costs.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

Water Efficiency

The Group has actively taken different measures to improve water
use efficiency, and established water quota guidelines with the
contractor, recorded water consumption at the site for regular review,
and asked to post water-saving slogans on the site to increase staff
awareness. The contractor are also required to plan the water supply
system at the site, set up water recycling devices and surface water
and rainwater collection systems at the construction site. We wiill
collect reusable sewage and natural water (subject to sedimentation
and filtration) for mechanical washing water and other engineering

purposes to significantly boost the rate of reuse.

In addition, the Group has implemented sponge city construction
in various projects such as Qingdao, which effectively recycled
rainwater and irrigation water and reduced waste of water and
protected the ecological environment. At the same time, the Group
designed in accordance with the Green Building two-star standard
in various projects such as Xian project, to ensure that the water

resources utilization of the building meet international standards.

The Group also focuses on implementing water saving plans in
the office, including the adoption of water-saving devices such as
induction faucets to reduce unnecessary wastage. The Group will
regularly check office water consumption to ensure compliance with
the overall water use plan. The Group also regularly promotes water
conservation and the related measures through posters and e-mails

to further enhance staff awareness of environmental protection.

By various water-saving measures, the Group’s total water
consumption during the reporting period decreased 25% as

compared with that of last year.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

A3 Environment and Natural Resources

The Group attaches great importance to the effects of its operation
activities on the surrounding environment and the ecological system.
Therefore, it conducts appraisal on environmental risks before and
after the development of property projects and tries to reduce the
noise and soil pollution to the surrounding environment during the
planning, design, construction and operation of projects. It also
considers the protection of biological diversity and natural habitats.
In addition, the Group sets environmental indicators for each project
and monitors, reports and evaluates the environmental protection
performance of projects to reduce the environmental risks of projects
to the acceptable level.

Light, noise and dust pollution management

For the light pollution, noise pollution, air pollution and dust pollution
that the real estate development business may cause to the
surrounding environment, the Group has taken different actions to
control the related impact.

In terms of light pollution management, the Group has formulated
instructions to limit the lighting intensity and the angle of illumination
at night construction so as not to interfere with the community and
affect the residents’ lives. The contractor also needs to use protective
equipment, such as using a hood to reduce the influence of strong
light, so as to balance interests between the parties.

In respect of noise pollution management, the Group requested
contractors to control construction noise, including conducting regular
noise assessments, using qualified silent construction machines,
using noise detectors to measure noise levels, installing noise
barriers, silencers, sound enclosures etc. on the site to avoid noise
transmission to nearby residential areas, performing large-scale
construction in appropriate periods, and strictly requiring workers to
wear devices to protect their hearing.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

In terms of dust pollution management, the Group always uses
prefabricated concrete elements to reduce pouring concrete at the
construction site and the resulting dust particles. The contractor also
needs to install a wide range of sprinklers on the site and regularly
sprinkle water to reduce airborne dust. It is also necessary to properly
wrap construction materials. In addition, vehicles must be cleaned
before leaving the site to prevent dust from contaminating the nearby

environment and communities.

Ecological Environment Management and Conservation of
Construction Sites

The Group understands the importance of green environment
and therefore carefully plans the green belts around the site at all
stages of design, construction and completion, and has developed
comprehensive policies and a series of measures to ensure effective
preservation of its ecological appearance and minimize the negative
impact to the surrounding environment, thus adhere to the Group's
sustainable development concept of “environmental protection
commitment”.

Green building design
The outstanding performance of the Group in green building has
been recognized by the industry and the market over the years. The
Group’s Guangzhou Aoyuan Lianfeng State has developed its concept
of ecological livability and its pursuit of building quality. In 2017, ELA,
the well-known landscape design companies and design agencies at
home and abroad jointly voted the Group as the Top 10 Prizes for the
“ELA (Eco Landscape Award)”

contribution to the ecological environment. In recent years, the

and they highly praised the Group's

Group has also been committed to investing in new processes and
technologies, and gradually adopting aluminum molds to eliminate
traditional wood formwork in order to reduce the reliance on wood.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

BB Al MR O (5])

The Group has complied with all laws and regulations related to the
environment and natural resources during 2018 including but not
limited to the Regulations on the Administration of Construction
Project Environmental Protection( {&:R18 B BRIBIREE IR 5
#51) ), the Law on Environmental Impact Assessment of the
People’'s Republic of China( (I A RKEMBEIREFETEE) ),
the Regulations on the Administration of Construction Engineering
Survey and Design( (R TIZHNEFRETEIREM) ), the Interim
Provisions on Civilized Construction and Environmental Management
of Construction Sites( (& T2 T 5 XA T MIRFEE IR
E1T#E) ), the Environmental Noise Emission Standards for
Construction Site Area( (GEZETHFIRIER S HEMIZZE) ), and the
Environmental Quality Standard for Noise( (EIRIEEEZAE) ).

In order to avoid violations of laws and regulations, the Engineering
Department will regularly check the relevant laws and regulations.
When the relevant provisions are updated, the Group will immediately
notify each contractor and require each contractor to comply with the
relevant provisions, and conduct advocation, training and monitoring.
At the same time, for some of the more influential laws and
regulations, the Group will add relevant provisions to the contracts to
require the contractors to comply with. The group will also conduct
inspections of each project on a quarterly basis. If there is any

violation, the contractor will be required for a timely rectification.

B. SOCIETY

B1 Employment

Remuneration and benefits

The Group values employees as the most precious asset and
devotes itself to creating an open and enjoyable working environment
encouraging self-realization. It also strives to attract first-class
talents to join the Group. The Group regularly reviews remuneration
and benefits of its employees according to the relevant market
practice and individual performance of the employees to maintain
the competitiveness of human capitals. Besides the contributions
to social insurance of the China and contribution to the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme of Hong Kong for eligible employees, the
Group also set up a share option scheme and a partnership system so
that participants can share the profits and development results of the

enterprise.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

Meanwhile, the Group supports a work-life balance. As a result, we
arrange appropriate working hours and provides sufficient leaves,
paid annual leaves and statutory holidays, which not only benefit the
physical and mental health of employees but also help them improve

their working efficiency.

Equal opportunity

In addition, the Group advocates a fair and harmonious working
environment and equally treats people with different cultural
backgrounds, sexes, religions and martial conditions. Our
employment is based on the experience of the candidates and their
performance at the interview. We offer a reasonable remuneration
package and fair opportunities for career advancement based on
employees’ performance. The Group respects the relationship with
employees. Any termination of employment relationship will be
provided appropriate notification periods and the Group will only

dismiss employees with valid reasons.

During the 2018 Financial Year, the Group has no significant matters
in violation with any laws and regulations related to employment.
The Group strictly comply with the Labor Law of the People's
Republic of China( {Fr#E A RHEFIELE)5L) ), the Social Insurance
Law of the People's Republic of China( {F#E AR FEMEH SR
7%) ), the Law on Protection of Women's Rights and Interests of
the People’s Republic of China ( {/F#E A R XM F ZEREE) )
and the Trade Union Law of the People’s Republic of China( {#ZE A
REFMB T @A) ). The Human Resources Department will review
the relevant laws and regulations on a regular basis. If the relevant
provisions are updated, the staff will be notified immediately. If

necessary, the Group will organize relevant meeting to train the staff.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

BREL Al XA RO (5])

B2 Health and Safety

Safety of the constructions sites

The Group strictly follows laws, regulations and rules about
occupational health. It established the safety management system of
Aoyuan Property Group based on internationally recognized standards
and its relevant governance structure and regularly identifies and
appraises the safety risks of the working place. For areas with high
risks, such as construction sites, it introduces various measures
on the prevention and controlling of risks as well as establishes
a safety management responsibility system, such as ensuring
sufficient emergency equipment and tools on construction sites,
the preparation of safety guidance and processes of the handling
of accidents, providing safety trainings on new employees and
regular trainings on current employees as well as requiring the
contractors to have relevant safety management officer according
to the requirements, to ensure that the Group and contractors have

sufficient safety awareness to prevent the happening of accidents.

In addition, the Group has established a provisional party branch
at certain construction sites and prepared the “Work Guideline on
Temporary Construction Sites” since 2014. It is the first temporary
party branch jointly established by developers with the construction
company, the supervision company and local party organizations in
Guangdong Province. It visits construction sites to promote the safety
of the constructions sites and establishes a regular and joint routine
inspection system on projects to coordinate and monitor the safety
of projects. Meanwhile, the branch closely concerns about the life
of employees. It established cultural activities rooms at construction
sites to improve the physical and mental health of employees
and monitor and guide the “safety construction and civilized
construction”. In addition, the Group’s project in Chenzhou is pleased
to be a demonstration unit in Chenzhou and is the Group's first safe
and civilized demonstration site. In addition to the Chenzhou project,
the Group also promoted the construction of similar safe and civilized
demonstration sites in other projects to establish a safe-construction

image.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

During the 2018 Financial Year, the Group has no significant matters
in violation with any laws and regulations related to employees’
health and safety. The Group strictly abides by laws and regulations
such as the State Administration of Work Safety Act( {ERZ 24
%) ), the Regulations on the Safety Production Management of
Construction Projects( (2R TIREBLEHEEEZIEES) ), the Trade
Union Law of the People’s Republic of China( {FIEAREMEA L E
%) ), the Law on Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases
of the People’s Republic of China( A REFIBIREFRAE) ),
the Regulations on Industrial Injury Insurance( ¢ T{SRE1EHI) )
and the Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China( &
#= AR IEFEE2REE) ). In addition, the Group has established
the “Aoyuan Real Estate Group Safety Management System” to
establish a safety and accident management plan and a safety
responsibility system for the company to ensure compliance with
relevant laws and regulations.

B3 Development and Training

Personal development and training of employees

The Group understands that talent development can enhance the
competitiveness of the company in the long run. Therefore, the Group
is happy to provide employees with a full range of learning and training
opportunities including management knowledge and professional
skills. It also encourages employees to achieve self-improvement
through learning and innovation. The Group allocated a large amount
of resources to organize training courses and implemented the soaring
plan since 2017, tailoring suitable development plans for employees with
development potential with the purpose of comprehensively enhancing
the staff's work skills and professional knowledge and promoting
the personal growth of employees. In addition, the Group supports
employees to enroll in training courses out of the Group and obtain
relevant professional qualifications. The Group will provide financial
assistance and paid leave for employees in need after approval. It will
strive to create a suitable work and study platform so that employees can

grasp every opportunity to develop their career.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

BREL Al XA RO (5])

In the 2018 financial year, the Group recruited more than 300
outstanding talents, new employee training, therefore, became one
of the key training programs. For new employees, the group has
a special new orientation program to help employees understand
the group culture, job duties, job requirements, etc. The Group
has accelerated the training of new employees by tailoring training
sessions for senior management and adopting home lesson in
East China. Another key project of the training is to enhance the
professional skills of the employees, including professional aspects
such as operations, engineering, development and construction,
customer services, legal affairs, and human resources. In the financial
year of 2018, the Group provided more than 80 large-scale trainings
for 4,605 employees, and the employees’ satisfaction with the
program reached 94%. The Group also adopts a mentoring system
to arrange the direct supervisors of its employees as their mentor,
which can effectively assist employees to integrate into their jobs.
The instructors also actively share their work experience with the
employees and assist them in their career planning. Both sides can

improve together through teaching and learning.

Communications with Employees

Good communication is important to motivate employees and get
them to work. The Group conducts employee opinion surveys each
year to collect their opinions on their own positions, departments,
and even on group level. The results of the opinion survey help to
identify the factors and barriers that affect employees’ performance,
and develop appropriate improvement measures to enhance the

employees’ motivation and sense of belonging.

In addition, the Group will disseminate information to employees
through business meetings, circulars, posters, emails, internal
networks, internal publications, etc., including employment matters,
group business development direction and strategy, and market
trend.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

Since 2017, the Group has successively been honored with the “2017
Guangzhou Extraordinary Employer” (BN 3EL{E =) award, affirming
the Group’s investment in talent development and commending
the Group's outstanding achievements in corporate culture shaping,
brand philosophy and human resource management, and Aoyuan will
continue to fulfill its responsibilities as an “extraordinary employer”
and constantly to innovate, transform, and vigorously promote the
development of organizations and talents.

B4 Labour Standards

Anti-child labour and anti-forced labour

We strictly abide by laws and regulations on prevention of child
labours or forced labours and prohibit the Group and all subsidiaries
under it from recruiting employees below the minimum legal working
age and never allow forcing employees to work through illegal
or immoral methods. All employees shall sign the employment
contract with the Group on voluntary basis according to laws and
shall hold valid identification certification documents for the purpose
of verification of the human resources department of the Group.
Employees can report to us if they find that the Group employs child
labours and forced labours as well as other illicit conditions during the

recruitment and operation processes.

During the 2018 Financial Year, the Group has no significant matters
in violation with any laws and regulations related to preventing
child or forced labours. The Group strictly comply with the laws
and regulations such as Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China ( {PZEARLTELB)%E) ), the Labour Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China ( (FZEARKEXFELEEFE) ), the
Law on Protection of the Disabled of the People’s Republic of China
( (REARKEMBEER ARREE) ), the Underage Workers Special
( CRACEF TR HRRERRT) ), the Prohibition
(EIFFEAZETHIE) ), the Special
Provisions on Labor Protection for Female Workers ( { Z & T & 8){R
R E )

registration on the information of the workers and does not hire

Protection Provisions
of Child Labour Provisions (

). The Group also requires the contractors to conduct

employee who is under statutory age to avoid the employment of

child labour and forced labour.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

BB Al MR O (5])

B5 Supply Chain Management

Supplier screening and supervision

The Group believes that suppliers (including contractors and services
providers) play important roles in building quality property projects
and providing cross-border commodities with quality guarantee. As
a result, the Group attaches great importance to whether suppliers
can meet the requirements of the Group on quality, environmental
protection and social responsibilities. It has established assessment
system for evaluating supplier’s contract performance and sets strict
appraisal criteria and conducts appraisal on the past experiences
on projects, professional knowledge, environmental protection
policies and measures, the records of work-related injuries and
accidents, whether they used child labours and forced labours
and community participation of suppliers. It also requires suppliers
obtaining certifications on quality, environmental protection and
social responsibilities from independent third-party institutes, such
as 1SO9001, ISO14001 and other relevant national and overseas

certifications on social responsibilities.

The Group tolerates no illegal and immoral activities during the
supply chain management. It conducts a fair and open bid inviting
mechanism in a practical way, including inviting sufficient number of
companies to participate in bidding, segregation of duties during the
bidding process such as identifying suppliers and reviewing bidding
documents, ensuring the confidentiality of bidding documents as well
as regularly reviewing the bid inviting mechanism in order to reduce
risks on bribery and malpractices due to control loopholes and ensure
that the Group can select suppliers based on the defined appraisal
criteria.

In addition, the Group will conduct continuous monitoring on the
construction of suppliers, the products or services supplied by
them, regularly review the list of suppliers, conduct appraisal on
key performance indicators of suppliers and arrange field reviews. If
there are failures, it will require suppliers conducting improvement
immediately and even consider suspending the engagement with the
supplier to ensure that all of the current suppliers of the Group meet

our quality requirements and the criteria on social responsibilities.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

B6 Product Responsibility

Quality and sales service of real estate project

The Group devotes itself to improving the quality of the property
projects under it. It continues strengthening the quality from design
to projects, marketing, after-sale services and other processes to
improve the operation efficiency of the company and the satisfaction
of customers. The Group sets internal inspection systems and project
quality inspection standards based on the best quality standards of
national and international projects and regularly updates and explains
them to relevant employees. While negotiating with suppliers on
contracts, we will require suppliers complying with such standards
and include such standards in the clauses of relevant contracts. In
order to improve the quality of the project, the Group Operations
Management Center has issued a number of project management
policies such as “Engineering Standard Practices and Prohibition
Practices of Aoyuan Property Group”. During the construction of
projects, the Group has internal responsible institutes to conduct
regular inspection to assess the quality of projects based on such
standards. For the main works of buildings, it will appoint professional
third party institutes to conduct regular inspections. In terms of
the main works of buildings, the Group also entrusted Shenzhen
Ruijie Engineering Consulting Services Co., Ltd., which ranked No.
1 in the industry, to conduct surveying and safety assessment, and
conduct benchmarking analysis based on industry standards, with a
view to improving the overall construction technology of the Group.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

BB Al MR O (5])

All projects strictly comply with national legal requirements and
are inspected and accepted by relevant governmental authorities
to ensure that the projects meet the standards. The Group has
established the "“Product Delivery Operation Guidelines of Aoyuan
Property Group” to regulate the property delivery process, including
pre-delivery inspection and follow-up, and delivery process
operations. Upon the delivery of properties, we will arrange special
responsible teams to conduct inspection processes for potential
proprietors according to the “Inspection Guidelines for Household
Acceptance of Aoyuan Property Group “ to ensure the wall, window,
floor, kitchen, toilet and furniture of the property are in compliance
with the delivery standards and are consistent with the sales
materials and has established the customer services department
responsible for handling the suggestions from customers during
the sale and acceptance processes and follow up any problems
according to the “Product and Service Defect Management
Guidelines of Aoyuan Property Group ". The guidelines include
different defect handling methods to ensure follow-up operations can
meet customers’ satisfaction. The Group has established “Customer
Service Management System of Aoyuan Property Group ” and
“Handling Guidelines for Customer Relationship Crisis of Aoyuan
Property Group” to standardize the general customer service process
respectively, including general enquiry, complaint handling and
coping, notification and management methods in relation to customer
relationship crisis. We also hired a well-known Saiwei Consultation
Company to evaluate customer satisfaction from a third-party

perspective to improve the satisfaction of customers.

In terms of marketing, the Group established relevant systems on the
selling, pricing, positioning and other aspects and implemented the
principle of integrity. It prohibits any untruthful statements in sales

advertisements and brochures misleading consumers.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

Personal Information Protection and Privacy

The Group respects the personal privacy of its customers and
employees, and understands the importance of protecting personal
information. We are committed to complying with national and local
laws and regulations in relation to personal information and privacy,
and to deal with the methods and guidelines for collecting, utilizing,
storing, disclosing, transferring, confidentializing and accessing
personal information in accordance with the Six Data Protection
Principles in order to protect the personal information provided by the

employees in the avoidance of information leakage or illegal use.

During the 2018 Financial Year, the Group has no significant matters
in violation with any laws and regulations related to products and
quality of services. The Group strictly comply with the laws and
regulations such as the Criminal Law of the People’'s Republic
of China ({ # ZE A & £ A B 1| )% )), the Construction Law of the
PRC ((H#E AR FEMEIFEE X)), Construction Engineering Quality
Management Regulations (% TI2HE 2 &2 &), the Advertising
Law of the People’'s Republic of China ((FF#E AR KB ESE)),
the Product Quality of the People’s Republic of China ((FFZE AR
B E @ & =% )), the Tort Liability Law of the People’s Republic
of China ({FE AR KEMEEEETE%)), the Consumers’ Interests
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China ({F A R AEH
SHE EERREE)) and the General Rules of the Civil Law of the
People’s Republic of China ((F % A R M E K E@AI)). Various
business units will check the relevant laws and regulations on a
regular basis. If there are any updates on the relevant provisions, the
relevant department heads will be notified immediately so as to make

business adjustments in time.
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B7 Anti-corruption
Integrity construction
The Group adheres to the corporate spirit of “efficiency, integrity
and responsibility” and became the first non-public enterprise
with a discipline inspection committee in Guangzhou in 2012. It
actively promotes the corporate integrity cultural construction of the

enterprise and adheres to the following policies:

° Strictly following the Listing Rules of the Main Board of Hong
Kong Stock Exchange, promoting standard and transparent
management, paying taxes according to laws and ensuring

legitimate governance and integrity operation of the enterprise.

° Highlighting the construction of the internal integrity
mechanism of the enterprise which integrates with economic
activities, strictly implementing the “Ordinance on the
Whistleblowing and Discipline Inspection Work for the
Discipline Inspection Committee of Aoyuan”, strengthening
integrity construction and standardizing petition channel,
regulating the responsibilities of various working positions and
the approval authorities of various positions and implementing
the "integrity indicators” responsibility system to improve the
integrity performance of the subsidiaries and employees under

the regulation of the informationized system in a practical way.

° Raising the integrity awareness of the employees and
conducting training on the history of the party, current politics,
integrity education, laws, regulations and the prevention of
risks. It explained the “eight major regulations of Aoyuan”
to the employees, issued the integrity notices such as
“Notice on Further Strengthening the Integrity Construction
and Standardizing Whistleblowing Channel” and “Notice
on Incorruptible Mid-Autumn Festival and National Day"
and requires employees to sign a letter of integrity and self-
discipline when they join the company and required the
employees following professional ethics and performing their
duties with a responsible and uncorrupted attitude so as to

realize their personal value following the principle of integrity.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

° Strictly preventing commercial briberies, requiring all suppliers
to comply with the “Three Red Lines"” and prohibiting any
bribery or other activities in violation of commercial ethics
between employees and suppliers. It also included integrity
clauses and reporting channels in contracts to restrict the

suppliers.

o Actively establishing a joint mechanism on the prevention
of commercial crimes. It also promotes the integrity cultural
construction with the proprietors, suppliers, commercial
partners and law enforcement agencies through the three
defences, namely “Cultural anti-corruption”, “Internal

management and control” and “External joint defence”.

The Group is highly recognized by the government and the society
for its operation principles of credibility and integrity and was named
“Guangdong Province Enterprises of Observing Contract and Valuing
Credit” by Guangzhou Administration for Industry and Commerce
and Guangzhou Enterprise Credit Promotion Association for 19
consecutive years, and awarded as “Top 20 Property Enterprises
with High Credit” by Industrial and Commercial Bank of China,
Agricultural Bank of China, Bank of China and Construction Bank for

17 consecutive years.

During the 2018 Financial Year, the Group has no significant matters
in violation with any laws and regulations related to anti-corruption,
blackmail, deception and anti-money laundering. The Group strictly
comply with the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China ( {#F
= AR FEFIEFE) ), the Criminal Procedure Law of the People’s
Republic of China ( {FZEARKEFMBEIFEFINE) ), the Anti-Unfair
Competition Law of the People's Republic of China ( {FZEAR
HMERTEE#FE) ), the Interim Provisions on Prohibiting
Commercial Bribery( {BARZEIFEEBERITANEITHE) ) and the
Anti Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China( (&
#EARLMBE & ¥EEL) ). The Group has issued relevant integrity
notices and established a linkage mechanism to prevent employees
from committing bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering. In
the quarterly business analysis meeting, the integrity system will also
be publicized and relevant forums and training will be held regularly to
strengthen the sense of integrity of the employees.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

BREL Al XA RO (5])

Community Investment

Pay attention to poverty alleviation, special needs groups and
the construction of community culture

As an “Outstanding Enterprises in China on Corporate Social
Responsibility”, the Group’s core philosophy is “Building a Evergreen
Foundation and Leading a Healthy Life". While maintaining robust and
rapid development, the Group actively fulfills its role as a corporate
citizen and devotes itself to social responsibility. In addition to building
green and livable buildings, the Group also gives resources back
to society in many aspects. The Group’'s community investment
strategies include improving rural poverty, focusing on special
needs groups and community cultural construction, and establishing
harmonious communities to create communion. Over the years, the
Group has invested a large amount of resources in public welfare
services, which has supported the development of public welfare

undertakings such as local education, poverty alleviation, and charity.

Established in 2017, the Aoyuan Charity Foundation has actively
“Double

, to support education in impoverished

implemented the targeted poverty alleviation project
Tens, Double Hundreds”
regions, etc. At the same time, it has vigorously implemented
“Aoyuan’s targeted poverty alleviation model” through “county
commercial complex” and “corporate + farmers + shopping malls
+ e-commerce” which promoted the sale of local agricultural
products to help farmers end poverty and get rich, and enhanced the
economic development and poverty eradication of poor regions by
strengthening the support of poverty alleviation business. In 2018, it
has helped Leizhou, Lianjiang, Huazhou, Yingde, Yangjiang, Meizhou,
Shaoguan in Guangdong, Dayu and Jinggangshan in Jinangxi, Zunyi,

Bijie in Guizhou, and Jianchuan in Yunnan and other regions.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

Since 2017, the Party Committee of the Aoyuan Group has assigned
nearly 100 party members and volunteers to the poverty-stricken
schools in Leizhou, Huazhou, Lianjiang and other places to carry
out “volunteer teaching” activities. The teaching ambassadors
will conduct fun classes and provide computer training to the local
teachers at night. Following the “volunteer teaching” activities,
the teachers of the Leozhou Luma Village Primary School began to
teach with computer and multimedia, and held singing contest and
recitation contest for the first time; Lianjiang Zhentai Primary School
held its first June 1 Cultural and Arts Performance; the teachers and
students of Huazhou Xinfeng Primary School began to communicate
in Mandarin officially. The Party Committee of the Aoyuan Group
and Aoyuan charity organization hope to light up the dreams of the
children in poverty-stricken area with care and actions.

In 2018, basing on the original intention of “devoting oneself for
the benefit of many”, Aoyuan launched a series of charity activities
In June, Aoyuan organised the charity and environmental walk
“Mountain Cleaning-up” along the ancient post road in south
Guangdong, during which participants hiked into Shaoguan and
promoted low-carbon lifestyle. In July, Aoyuan arranged the “2018
Aoyuan Dream Building|Charity Together-A Book a Hope" charity for
education activity. Together with participants from all sectors, we
collected books and delivered them to the primary school in Yangshan
County, Qingyuan, providing young people in rural areas with
resources of knowledge. In September, the charity project “Lego
Trip” was organised to deliver various materials to Shijiaying Primary
School in Bijie, Guizhou and teach some lessons. The objective is to
help improve the education environment of the children and stimulate
their creativity. It enabled children in the mountain area to be inspired
through playing and spread the concept of the brand to the public.
In October, Aoyuan held “Badminton for You and Me"”, a charity
badminton exchange game for the disabled, and made donation to
Guangdong Association of News, Publicity and Promotion for the
Disables for supporting public welfare activities.

BB~ AhE RO ()

B-Z—tHFE RESEEZIKHII100%E
EE BEXRMEMEEM N RIZE
RERFRE [E 0] AE - 2O HARE
FIRREBIRRE « MR LR - A HEME
IR RAE S © LBHEL - EMEHA/)
BEMPFREEREMSREEBRR LEKX
RITHE - BARBLLE - FOTHER/NEERET
N—XEERE LM/ N ARBERA
TREABRR - REAKERE  REERE
HL@HEMELNAE  HRERMREZT
P ALEERR |

—T-N\F o AT/ B Tm KR | B AT
O BREMEB—RIIAmE8 - NA - BREZE
B DFLES | mELBBAGZRRES RS
EERE SBEREEFR - £ BET
BT [RETE]Z|@mRT —Eas2] 80
BT EFHERRAALELBER LK
MR BENOFEEEE - KEMBAH
o NARITRGEFEIRRTT  EEENEMH
ERENBEAESBYEWETER AR
BhEhE 2B AERRN AR AT P88
BH - BMUBKNZTENSERZ2IRE - £
HEmBESFATEREZERE - + 5 8RR
PRR—#5 ] R A RS PERZRBEEED) -
FTREREERAFTHEERESEE AN
EIUNYETIFES I

“E-N\FER

TREREEERDBERAT

jial

121



03

122

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

BB Al MR O (5])

Aoyuan contributed to education and donated RMB10 million to
Jinan University and 5.2 million to Taishan TaiCheng Central Primary
School to support development and construction of the institution.
This will not only improve the operation condition of the institutions
and speed up its development and construction but also have a
significant promotional and demonstrating effect in motivating the
students to learn diligently and establish their business to serve the
country. To appreciate the generous charity act of Aoyuan, Jinan
University has named its College of Life Science and Technology
Building, a major construction in the campus, as “Aoyuan Building”.
Taishan TaiCheng Central Primary School also named its new campus
building as “Aoyuan Building”.

For three consecutive years, Aoyuan has organized a charitable
activity named “Send Love Home" during the Spring Festival travel
rush. Aoyuan chartered a high-speed rail compartment and gave the
“dream chasers” in the city a comfortable and warm home-returning
experience during the Spring Festival for free. From the beginning
of the activity to the recruitment of passengers and the departure of
the train, all of which demonstrate Aoyuan’s notions on charitable
activities: fufilling the social responsibility and spreading kindness
around the community.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

During 2018, we were granted the following major charity awards by
central, provincial and municipal leaders:

“Poverty Alleviation Award of the Year” of the 13th People’'s
Corporate Social Responsibility Award — at the 2018 Summit of
People's Corporate Social Responsibility organised by People.
cn, People Daily, All-China Federation of Industry and Commerce
and China Charity Federation, Aoyuan was granted the “Poverty
Alleviation Award of the Year” of the 13th People’s Corporate Social
Responsibility Award to recognise the outstanding contribution of
Aoyuan in promoting social progress and development of China and
performing social responsibility.

2018 China Red Cross Humanity Medal — Aoyuan was awarded
“2018 China Red Cross Humanity Medal” at the Reform and
Development Symposium and the 10th Council Meeting of the Red
Cross Society of China in recognition of the donation of RMB15
million for typhoon disaster relief in Zhuhai, which has been used in
the reconstructions in Zhuhai after the impact of a severe typhoon,
as well as the contribution of Aoyuan in immediately forming a team
of volunteers to comfort the affected people and help clear the roads
instantly.

“Most influential Charity Enterprise of Guangzhou” award — Aoyuan
was accredited the “Most influential Charity Enterprise of Guangzhou”
at the 2018 Guangzhou Charity Gala held under the guidance of
Guangzhou Civil Affairs Bureau and Guangzhou Charity Service Center;
the poverty alleviation theme song “Caring” of the Party Committee
of Aoyuan was also honoured as “Guangzhou Top 10 Charity
Song”, which is in support of the incorporation of creating a “city of
charity” into the overall urban development strategy and planning of
Guangzhou, which in turn, aims at seizing the development opportunity
of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay, enhancing regional
charity exchange and cooperation and helping targeted poverty
alleviation and poverty elimination in Guangdong.

In addition, Aoyuan Group was awarded as “Poverty Alleviation
Benchmark for China Real Estate Enterprises” by the Development
Research Center of the State Council and China Index Research
Institute and “Outstanding Enterprise for Targeted Poverty Alleviation
in Guangdong Province Real Estate Industry” by Guangdong Province
Real Estate Association, and garnered “Targeted Poverty Alleviation

Award” from Nanfang Daily and other awards in 2018.
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Report of the Directors

R

The Board of the Company herein present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 59 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's results for the year ended 31 December 2018 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income on pages 155 to 156.

The Directors recommended the payment of a final dividend of
RMB36 cents (equivalent to HK42 cents, according to the central
parity rate of Renminbi to Hong Kong dollars as announced by
the People’s Bank of China on 15 March 2019, i.e. RMB0.85566
equivalent to HK$1.00) (2017: final dividend of RMB25 cents) per
ordinary share (“Proposed Final Dividend"”) to shareholders of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2018. The Proposed
Final Dividend will be paid on Friday, 12 July 2019, to shareholders
whose names appear on the Register of Members of the Company
on Thursday, 6 June 2019, of which the aggregate amount of
the Proposed Final Dividend is approximately RMB964,038,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,124,711,000), if the Proposed
Final Dividend is approved by the shareholders of the Company at the

forthcoming annual general meeting (“2019 AGM").

The dividend policy of the Group is set out on pages 90 to 91 to this

report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group's business during the year, a discussion
on the prospect of the Group’s future business development, a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the Group may
be facing are provided in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 12 to 14
and the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 16 to 29 of

this Annual Report.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are shown in note 47 to the consolidated financial statements.
The particulars of significant events affecting the Group that have
occurred subsequent to the reporting date are set out in note 61 to

the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the Chairman’s Statement
on pages 12 to 14, Financial Highlights on pages 6 to 7 and Five Years

Financial Summary on page 447 of this Annual Report.

Environmental Policies and Performance

As a socially responsible corporation, the Group has endeavoured to
strictly comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection and the Group has adopted the ecotechnology to ensure
our project output meets the standards and ethics in respect of

environmental protection.

The Company recognizes the importance of environmental
protection. The Company is committed to providing an eco-
friendly energy environment for our staff and has developed energy
conservation and carbon reduction policy so as to minimize negative

environmental impacts.

Details of the Group’s environmental policies are contained in the
section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on
pages 92 to 123 of this Annual Report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

During the financial year, as far as the Company is aware, there was
no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by our Group that has a significant impact on the business

and operations of the Group.

Relationship with Stakeholders

We fully understand that employees, customers and suppliers and
others (together “stakeholders”) are the key to our sustainable
and stable development. We are committed to maintaining a good
relationship with our stakeholders so as to ensure our continuing

development.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

=R ()

The Group regarded our staff as the most valuable assets of the
Company. The Group is providing a fair and harmonious workplace
where individuals with diverse cultural backgrounds are treated
equally. The Group offer a reasonable remuneration package and
fair opportunities for career advancement based on employees’
performance. The Group also provides our staff with different
trainings, including on-the-job training and training courses provided
by professional organisations in order to enhance staff development

and career progression.

The Group believes that our vendors (including contractors) are
equally important in building high-quality property projects. The
Group proactively communicate with our vendors to ensure they are

committed to delivering high-quality and sustainable output.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for each of the last five financial years is set out in the Five Years
Financial Summary on page 447 of this Annual Report. This summary

does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme as set out below, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed during the

year ended 31 December 2018.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the

year are set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata

basis to existing shareholders.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the period of the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company
repurchased a total of 3,688,000 shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange for enhancing net asset value and earnings per share of the
Company. All the repurchased shares were cancelled. Details of the

repurchases of shares are as follows:

= ()

BE BOREEXQAF LHES

AEE-F—N\E+-AS+—ALEETH
EHAR + AR A ST B2 3,688, 00088
ARARY - RS AATNTREEFERE
Bl o REMERGE BT - FEBERS
BT

Aggregate

Number of shares Purchase consideration consideration

Month repurchased per share paid
B BERONEE BRBERE ERERRE
(before

Highest Lowest expenses)

&= RIK (BF % FT)

HK$ HK$ HK$

BT BT BT

June 7~NA 3,688,000 5.42 5.10 19,512,000
Save as disclosed above, during the period of the year ended 31 B EXHEZEIN REBEEZZE—N\F+=A

December 2018, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had

purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the year
are set out in note 62 to the consolidated financial statements of this

Annual Report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for less than 30% of the total sales of the Group for the
year. Purchases from five largest suppliers accounted for less than

30% of the Group's total purchases for the year.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
Details of the bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2018 are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial

statements of this Annual Report.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
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SENIOR NOTES AND BONDS

Details of senior notes and corporate bonds of the Company are set
out in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements and in the
announcements dated 18 May 2015, 29 July 2015, 23 October 2015,
25 November 2015, 5 February 2016, 15 February 2016, 18 April
2016, 31 May 2016, 14 October 2016, 4 January 2017, 2 March 2017,
6 September 2017, 3 May 2018, 11 June 2018, 26 July 2018, 29
August 2018, 15 October 2018, 3 January 2019, 15 January 2019 and
11 February 2019, respectively.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of

corporate governance practices.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 72
to 91.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
The register of members of the Company will be closed during the

following periods:

(i) from Friday, 24 May 2019 to Wednesday, 29 May 2019, both
days inclusive, for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’
entitlement to attend and vote at the 2019 AGM which is
scheduled on Wednesday, 29 May 2019, the Register of
Members of the Company will be closed. In order to be eligible
to attend and vote at the 2019 AGM, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar
and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 23 May 2019; and
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Report of the Directors (continued)

(i)~ from Tuesday, 4 June 2019 to Thursday, 6 June 2019, both
days inclusive, for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’
entitlement to the Proposed Final Dividend, the Register of
Members of the Company will be closed. In order to establish
entitlements to the Proposed Final Dividend, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 3 June 2019.

During the periods mentioned in sub-paragraphs (i) and (i) above, no
transfers of shares will be registered.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Director

Mr. Guo Zi Wen (Chairman)

Mr. Guo Zi Ning (vice chairman and chief executive officer)
Ms. Zhong Ping (chief financial officer)

Mr. Ma Jun (chief operating officer)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Tsui King Fai

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

Mr. Hu Jiang

According to the Articles of Association of the Company, at each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to
but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general
meeting at least once every three years.

In accordance with Article 87 of the Articles of Association, Mr Guo
Zi Ning, Mr. Tsui King Fai and Mr. Hu Jiang shall retire by rotation and
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the 2019 AGM.
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The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from all independent Non-Executive Directors, and still considers

them to be independent as at the date of this report.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
Biographical details of the existing Directors of the Company are set
out on pages 30 to 37 of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS LIABILITY
INSURANCE

Promoting good corporate governance and managing enterprisewide
risk is a priority of the Company. The Company convinced that
corporate governance and Directors and Officers Liability Insurance
(the “D&O Insurance”) complement each other. The Company has
arranged appropriate D&O Insurance coverage on Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against Directors and
senior management arising out from corporate activities. The D&O

Insurance will be reviewed and renewed annually.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Each of the existing executive Directors has been appointed for a
term of three years subject to the provision of retirement and rotation

of directors under the Articles of Association of the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has been appointed
for a term of one year at an annual remuneration set out in their
appointment letters and other discretionary bonuses as may be
determined by the Board according to the recommendation of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company subject to the provision of
retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles of Association.

Save as disclosed above, no other Director have entered into
service contract with the Company which are not determined by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other

than statutory compensation.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN MATERIAL
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transactions, arrangements
and contracts of significance, to which the Company, its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries, was a party and in which a Director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

There is no transactions, arrangements and contract of significance
to the business of the Group between the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries, or a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries
during the year. During the year, no transactions, arrangements and
contract of significance for the provision of services to the Group by a

controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries was made.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were

entered into or existed during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year under review and up to the date of this report, the
Company’s Articles of Association provide that the Directors shall
be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits
of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by
or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty in their respective offices, provided that this
indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or

dishonesty which may attach to any Director.

During the year under review and up to the date of this report, the
Company has taken out and maintained appropriate insurance to
protect the Directors against potential costs and liabilities arising from

claims brought against the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests or short positions of the
Directors of the Company in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which
were to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or
which were required, pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Long position in shares and underlying shares under equity
derivatives of the Company:

ESERFETHRAERR S REEH
BROFEANERNXR

R-ZBE—-N\E+-_A=1+—80 ARATNEER
RARSKEAMERZE(ERRBLFRAE
it ([ 75 55 R BRE 151 1) B8 XV 88) MRk 15 2 48
BRI R MR IR 5 5 K B 6191 28 XV 2B 58
7R 8P ES - SIRIREF K HAE &5 352 A
SEERRZIEFT IR B MR MR SRR « Bk
IREIRAESFRIIZE S AN A B KRB 22 FT A 2 ok
RE (BIERSREES R E GO %
WEEIRBEAOER KR ) B SOX
BT

WA B R AT A T EARRIIR e
FT A

Number of

underlying

shares

Personal Corporate under equity
Name of Director interest interest derivatives™®" Total Percentage

BRERAE

TETAREMN
BEpgg AR rEER HRROHE Y Bt BAL
Mr. Guo Zi Wen PR E - 1,483,532,625 - 1,483,532,625 55.40%

(noteffiZi)

Mr. Guo Zi Ning (note i) gggg@%iwm) —
Ms. Zhong Ping Bt 50,000 2,500,000 2,550,000 0.10%
Mr. Ma Jun SELE 5,000,000 5,000,000 0.19%

Notes: et -

i. 1,395,201,062 ordinary shares are registered in the name of Ace Rise Profits
Limited while 88,331,563 ordinary shares are registered in the name of Joy
Pacific Group Limited. Ace Rise Profits Limited is owned as to 90% by Joy Pacific
Group Limited (which in turn is wholly owned by Sturgeon Limited) and as to
10% by Hopka Investments Limited. Sturgeon Limited is wholly-owned by Asia
Square Holdings Ltd., as nominee and trustee for J. Safra Sarasin Trust Company
(Singapore) Ltd. as the trustee holding such interests on trust for the beneficiaries
of The Golden Jade Trust. The Golden Jade Trust is a discretionary family trust
established under the laws and regulations of Singapore. The settlors of The
Golden Jade Trust are Mr. Guo Zi Wen and Ms. Jiang Miner.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

ii. Since April 2013, upon completion of a share transfer, Ace Rise Profits Limited
is owned as to 90% by Joy Pacific Group Limited (which in turn is wholly owned
by Sturgeon Limited) and as to 10% by Hopka Investments Limited, a company
wholly owned by Ms. Su Chaomei who is the wife of Mr. Guo Zi Ning, a Director
of the Company. As a result, Mr. Guo Zi Ning has a deemed effective interest of
about 5.2% of the shares of the Company. Since Ace Rise Profits Limited is not a
controlled corporation of Mr. Guo Zi Ning or Ms. Su Chaomei under the SFO, no
notice has been filed under the SFO by Mr. Guo Zi Ning in respect his deemed
interest in Ace Rise Profits Limited.

jil. The interests in the underlying shares represented share options granted by the
Company to these Directors as beneficial owners, the details of which are set out
in the section below headed “"SHARE OPTION SCHEME".

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives
of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the
register which were required to be kept by the Company under
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and

the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the Share Option Scheme, none of the
Directors of the Company or their spouses or children under the age
of 18, had been granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt
securities of the Company or any of its associated corporations, or

had exercised any such right for the year ended 31 December 2018.

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

In order to eliminate competing business with the Group, on
20 September 2007, Mr. Guo Zi Wen, Mr. Guo Zi Ning and Ms.
Jiang Miner, spouse of Mr. Guo Zi Wen, entered into a deed of

non-competition with the Company.

In compliance with the deed of non-competition signed on 20
September 2007, each of Mr. Guo Zi Wen, Mr. Guo Zi Ning and Ms.
Jiang Miner has made an annual declaration on his/her compliance

with the non-competition undertaking.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors had an interest in
any business which competes or may compete with the business in
which the Group is engaged.
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

The following information is disclosed by the Company pursuant to

Rules 13.18 and 13.21 of Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules.

() On 25 August 2015, the Company as borrower, and Nanyang
Commercial Bank, Limited (“NCB") as lender entered into a
non-committed term loan facility agreement in relation to a term
loan facility of US$100 million (“2015 Loan Agreement”), which
includes a term imposing specific performance obligation on the
controlling shareholders of the Company. Pursuant to the 2015

Loan Agreement, the Company shall procure that:

(@ Mr. Guo Zi Wen and Ms. Jiang Miner (“Guo Family")
will beneficially own the Company as single majority

shareholder and the Company shall remain at all times

under the control of Guo Family; and

(b)  Mr. Guo Zi Wen will continue to act as the Chairman of the

Company.

The maturity date of all outstanding amounts and interest
accrued under the 2015 Loan Agreement will be the date falling
three (3) years from the first drawdown date or earlier, if the
facility is terminated by the NCB in accordance with the terms

of the 2015 Loan Agreement.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

On 29 January 2016, the Company as borrower and NCB,
Nanyang Commercial Bank (China) Limited and Bank of China
Limited, Macau Branch as lenders entered into a term loan
facility agreement (the “2016 Loan Agreement”), pursuant to
which a banking facility relating to a secured term loan facility
of US$180 million was granted by the lenders to the Company
which contains the specific performance obligations on the
controlling shareholder of the Company, consisting of the
tranche A facility of USD100 million and the tranche B facility
of USD80 million. Unless the facility is terminated earlier by
the lenders in accordance with the terms of the 2016 Loan
Agreement, the tranche A facility will mature on 27 August 2018
and the tranche B facility will mature on the date falling thirty-
six (36) months from the first drawdown date of the tranche B
facility.

As long as any part of the loan under the 2016 Loan Agreement

remains outstanding, the Company shall procure that:

(@)  Guo Family will beneficially own the Company as single
majority shareholder and the Company shall remain at all

times under the control of Guo Family; and

(b)  Mr. Guo Zi Wen will continue to act as the Chairman of the
Company

A breach of any of the said specific performance obligations will
constitute an event of default under the 2016 Loan Agreement
whereupon, the lenders will have the power to declare the
commitment under the 2016 Loan Agreement to be cancelled
and/or declare all outstanding amounts together with interest
accrued and all other sums payable by the Company to be
forthwith due and payable.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
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On 25 January 2017, the Company as borrower and a group of
financial institutions as lenders entered into a loan agreement
(the "2017 Loan Agreement”), pursuant to which a banking
facility relating to secured dual currency term loan facilities of
approximately HK$1.5 billion was granted by the lenders to the
Company which contains the specific performance obligations
on the controlling shareholders of the Company, Mr. Guo Zi
Wen and Mr. Guo Zi Ning.

As long as any part of the loan under the 2017 Loan Agreement

remains outstanding, the Company shall procure that:

(@  Mr. Guo Zi Wen and Mr. Guo Zi Ning shall at all times
collectively maintain, directly or indirectly, at least 40%
of beneficial shareholding in the Company, collectively
remain as the single largest shareholder of the Company
and/or maintain management control over the Company;

and

(b)  Mr. Guo Zi Wen and Mr. Guo Zi Ning shall remain as
the Chairman and the vice chairman of the Board of the
Company respectively and collectively maintain control
over the management and business of the Group.

Such banking facility will mature on the date falling thirty-six
(36) months/three (3) years from the date of the 2017 Loan

Agreement.

A breach of any of the said specific performance obligations will
constitute an event of default under the 2017 Loan Agreement
whereupon, the lenders will have the power to declare the
commitment under the 2017 Loan Agreement to be cancelled
and/or declare all outstanding amounts together with interest
accrued and all other sums payable by the Company to be
forthwith due and payable.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

On 13 March 2018, the Company as borrower and a group of
financial institutions as lenders entered into a loan agreement
supplemented by two Lender Accessions on 27 April 2018
and 11 July 2018 (collectively the “2018 Loan Agreement”),
pursuant to which facilities a banking relating to secured dual
currency term loan facilities In aggregate of approximately
HK$3.2 billion was granted by the lenders to the Company
which contains the specific performance obligations on the
controlling shareholders of the Company, Mr. Guo Zi Wen and
Mr. Gio Zi Ning.

As long as any part of the loan under the 2018 Loan Agreement

remains outstanding, the Company shall procure that:

(@  Mr. Guo Zi Wen and Mr. Guo Zi Ning shall at all times
collectively maintain, directly or indirectly, at least 40% of
beneficial shareholding in the Company and collectively
remain as the single largest shareholder of the Company;
and

(b)  Mr. Guo Zi Wen and Mr. Guo Zi Ning shall remain as
the Chairman and the vice chairman of the Board of the
Company respectively and collectively maintain control

over the management and business of the Group.

Such banking facility will mature on the date falling thirty-six
(36) months/three (3) years from the date of the 2018 Loan
Agreement.

A breach of any of the said specific performance obligations will
constitute an event of default under the 2018 Loan Agreement
whereupon, the lenders will have the power to declare the
commitment under the 2018 Loan Agreement to be cancelled
and/or declare all outstanding amounts together with interest
accrued and all other sums payable by the Company to be
forthwith due and payable.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

GROUP’S EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Company’s policy on determining the emolument payable to
Directors are based on the skill, knowledge, involvement in the
Company's affairs and the performance of each Director, together
with reference to the profitability of the Company, remuneration
benchmarks in the industry, and prevailing market conditions. To
enable the Remuneration Committee to give better advice on the
Group’s future remuneration policy and related strategies, the
Remuneration Committee has been advised of the Group’s existing
remuneration policy and succession plan, such as guidelines on
designing employees’ remuneration packages and related market
trends and information.

The details of the Directors’ emoluments and senior management’s
remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in
note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2018, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following entities, not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company, had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO:
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Long position in shares of the Company

Report of the Directors (continued)
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RAEATRRDHPEENFRE

Approximate

percentage
Number of of the issued
Name of shareholder Capacity shares share capital
HE &7
RREE 54 RHBEE BABAE DL
Ace Rise Profits Limited Mot/ (#i2) Beneficial owner 1,395,201,062 52.10%
EnEEA
Joy Pacific Group Limited et (#iz) Interest of controlled 1,483,532,625 55.40%
corporation/Beneficial owner
SR A EED EEEEA
Sturgeon Limited Nete (732) Interest of controlled 1,483,532,625 55.40%
corporation
SRS A R R
Asia Square Holdings Ltd. Mete/ (7i2) Interest of controlled 1,483,532,625 55.40%
corporation
ZYEH A AR
J. Safra Sarasin Trust Company Trustee 1,483,532,625 55.40%
(Singapore) Ltd. (ore) (i2) ZFEA
Ms. Jiang Miner Note) Settlor of 1,483,532,625 55.40%
TLER 52 Zr - () The Golden Jade Trust
The Golden Jade Trust
ZHERETA
Hopka Investments Limited ™ot
ABEREARAT MY
PREBEESBERMNHERAR T \FF®m
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Report of the Directors (continued)
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Notes:

The 1,395,201,062 shares are registered in the name of Ace Rise Profits Limited, while
88,331,563 ordinary shares are registered in the name of Joy Pacific Group Limited. Ace
Rise Profits Limited is owned as to 90% by Joy Pacific Group Limited (which in turn
is wholly owned by Sturgeon Limited) and as to 10% by Hopka Investments Limited.
Sturgeon Limited is wholly owned by Asia Square Holdings Ltd., as nominee and trustee
for J. Safra Sarasin Trust Company (Singapore) Ltd. as the trustee holding such interests
on trust for the beneficiaries of The Golden Jade Trust. The Golden Jade Trust is a
discretionary family trust established under the laws and regulations of Singapore. The
settlors of The Golden Jade Trust are Mr. Guo Zi Wen and Ms. Jiang Miner.

Since April 2013, upon completion of a share transtfer, Ace Rise Profits Limited is owned
as to 90% by Joy Pacific Group Limited (which in turn is wholly owned by Sturgeon
Limited) and as to 10% by Hopka Investments Limited, a company wholly owned by Ms.
Su Chaomei who is the wife of Mr. Guo Zi Ning, a Director of the Company. As a result,
Mr. Guo Zi Ning has a deemed effective interest of about 5.2% of the Company. Since
Ace Rise Profits Limited is not a controlled corporation of Mr. Guo Zi Ning or Ms. Su
Chaomei under the SFO, no notice has been filed under the SFO by Mr. Guo Zi Ning in
respect of his deemed interest in Ace Rise Profits Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, according to
the register of interests required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO, there was no person who had any interest
or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 13 September 2007, the shareholders of the Company approved
the adoption of the share option scheme (the “2007 Scheme”).
The 2007 Scheme was expired on 12 September 2017. All options
granted under the 2007 Scheme continue to be valid and has been
fully exercised. The Company adopted a new share option scheme
at the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 29 May 2018
("2018 Scheme”), which shall be valid and effective for a period of
10 years from 29 May 2018. The purpose of the 2018 Scheme is
to provide incentives or rewards to participants thereunder for their
contribution to the Group and/or enable the Group to recruit and retain
high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable
to the Group.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

Eligible participants of the 2018 Scheme include any full-time or part-
time employees, executives or officers (including executive, non-
executive and independent non-executive Directors) of the Group and
any suppliers, customers, consultants, agents and advisors who, in
the sole opinion of the Board, will contribute or have contributed to

the Group.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all share options to be granted and granted under the 2018 Scheme
is 268,157,135 shares of the Company (representing approximately
10.00% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
annual general meeting of the Company on 29 May 2018.

The maximum number of shares issuable under the share options
granted to each eligible participant pursuant to the 2018 Scheme
within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue as at the date of offer. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in
a general meeting. The exercise period of the share options granted
is determinable by the Directors, save that the period commences
on the date on which the offer is made and ends on a date which is
not later than 10 years from the date of the offer of the share options
subject to any provisions of the 2018 Scheme determining the rights
of the grantees. The offer of a grant of share option may be accepted
within 30 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal

consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
Directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of the
offer of the share options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing
price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of the offer; and (iii) the nominal value of a share

of the Company.
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Details of movements in the options under the 2007 Scheme and ZETLFEHER T\ FEEI 2 BRER
2018 Scheme during the year and options outstanding as at the FERNBE ISR EY R E RS RITED
beginning and end of the year are set out below: FEIRAED RN -

Number of shares subject to options

BRERERLEA

Name or category Asat  Grantedduring ~ Cancelledlapsed Exercised Asat
of participant Date of grant Exercise price  Exerciesperiod 1 January 2018 theyear  duringtheyear  duringthe year 31 December 2018
HKS
RZE-NE RZE-\E
PEEHLIRR RitAE i@ {78 —-A-8 ERRE EREE/ AR ERfE TZAZT-H
s
Director
g=
Ms. Zhong Ping 16-07-2018 5.522 01-07-2019t0 - 1,250,000 - - 1,250,000
BTt 3112:2019
16-07-2018 552 01-01-2020 10 - 1,250,000 - - 1,250,000
30-06-2020
Mr. Ma Jun 16-07-2018 5522 01-01-2019 0 - 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000
BERE 30062019
16-07-2018 552 01-01-2020 10 - 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000
30-06-2020
Employees in aggregate 1212-2016 1.778 01012018 t0 5,000,000 - - (5,000,000) -
(including directors of 31-12:2018
certain subsidiaries) 16-07-2018 5522 01-01-2019 0 - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000
[EBA; 30-:06-2019
(BEETHELANES) 16-07-2018 5.52 01-07-2019 0 - 3,750,000 - - 3,750,000
31122019
01-01-2020 10 - 8,750,000 - - 8,750,000
30:06-2020
Mr. Zhang Jun
RikxE
Mr. Chan Ka Yeung Jacky
3y
Mr. Chen Yong
RELE
Mr. Chen Zhi Bin
L Fiyi
Mr. Hu Ran
iyt
5,000,000 25,000,000 - (5,000,000} 25,000,000
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Report of the Directors (continued)

The closing price of the shares immediately before 16 July 2018 on

which the options were granted was HK$5.42 per share.

The weighted average closing price of the share immediately before

the dates on which the options were exercised was HK$6.595.

The total number of shares of the Company issuable upon exercise
of all options granted and may be granted under the 2018 Scheme
is 268,157,135 shares (including options to subscribe for 25,000,000
shares that have been granted but not yet lapsed or exercised),
representing 10% of the issued shares of the Company as at the date

of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, there is sufficient public float
of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required
under the Listing Rules during the year and up to the date of this

report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Details of the significant events after the reporting period of the

Group are set out in note 61 to the consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
have been audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. It is the
auditor’s responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on
their audit, on those financial statements and to report their opinion
solely to the Company and for no other purpose. They do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of the independent auditor’s report.
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Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire as auditor of the
Company and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment
at the 2019 AGM.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about

their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in

the “Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 145 to 154.

On behalf of the Board
Guo Zi Wen

Chairman

Hong Kong, 15 March 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Deloitte.

TOTHE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA AOYUAN GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Aoyuan Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 155 to 446,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPAs Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional

judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated

financial statements of the current period. These matters were

addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial

FRREELER
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EIRNCE
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SHEERMAESER
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HELEHREHRE

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do BHER -
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
How our audit addressed the REERENAER
Key audit matters key audit matters BREREE BREREE
Valuation of investment properties BB
We identified the valuation of ~ Our procedures in relation to assessing the REERBREARKE  HAABIGRELHERES
investment properties as a key audit ~ appropriateness of the valuation of the investment STHMEEMY LRE  FRETHERAE
matter due to the significance of the  properties included: FATEREN G 3
balance to the consolidated financial AR E Lt AR

statements as a whole, combined
with the estimates associated with
determining the fair value. As disclosed
in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements, the investment
properties of the Group mainly
represent retail shops, commercial
buildings and office located in the
People’s Republic of China (the "PRC")
and carried at RMB8,833,493,000
as at 31 December 2018, including
completed investment properties of
RMB6,997,373,000 and investment
properties under construction of
RMB1,836,120,000, which represents
4.7% of the Group's total assets. Net
change in fair value of investment
properties of RMB544,467,000
was recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year
then ended.

U Understanding and evaluating the
management's assessment process for
reviewing the work of the Valuer;

. Assessing the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuer;

. Discussing with the Valuer about the valuation
process (including any limitations of scope
imposed by the management) to understand
the performance of the property markets,
significant assumptions adopted, critical
judgmental areas and data used in the
valuations;
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Key audit matters

How our audit addressed the

key audit matters

All of the Group's investment
properties are stated at fair value
based on valuations performed by a
qualified external valuer not connected
with the Group (the “Valuer"). Details
of the valuation techniques and
key inputs used in the valuations
are disclosed in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.
The valuations of the completed
investment properties are dependent
on certain key inputs, including term
yield, reversionary yield, unit rent
and adjustment made to account for
differences in location and level. The
valuations of investment properties
under construction are dependent on
gross development value, expected
developer’s profit, marketing costs,
construction costs to completion, and
comparable land price.

Valuation of properties for sale

We identified the valuation of
the Group's properties for sale
as a key audit matter due to the
significant estimates involved in the
determination of net realisable value
(the "NRV") of these properties.
As disclosed in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements,
the Group had properties under
,180,207000
and completed properties of
RMB13,714,007,000 (the "Properties
for sale”) as at 31 December 2018,
which are situated in the PRC,
Australia, Canada and Hong Kong.

development of RMB10

Evaluating the reasonableness of the valuation
techniques, assumptions and key inputs
adopted by the management of the Group and
the Valuer to entity-specific information and
market data to assess the appropriateness of
these judgments and estimations; and

Evaluating the sensitivity analysis prepared by
the management on the key inputs to evaluate
the magnitude of their impacts on the fair
values and assessing the appropriateness of
the disclosures relating to these sensitivities.

Our procedures in relation to assessing management's

assessment of the NRV of the Properties for sale

included:

Assessing management’s process of
reviewing the budgeted revenue and cost of
the Properties for sales and the determination
of the NRV of the Properties for sale;

Comparing the unit budgeted cost of the
properties under development to their
estimated selling prices which take into
account the estimated costs to completion,
estimated marketing expenses and estimated
sales-related taxes;
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How our audit addressed the

Key audit matters

key audit matters

As disclosed in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements, the
management of the Group determined

the NRV of the Properties for sale by
reference to the estimated selling
prices of the Properties for sale, which e
takes into account a number of factors
including recent prices achieved for
similar property types in the same
project or by similar properties, and

the prevailing and forecasted real
estate market conditions in the PRC,
Australia, Canada and Hong Kong,
estimated future costs to completion,
estimated marketing expenses and the
estimated sale-related taxes. Based on
management’s analysis of the NRV of e
the Properties for sale, no write-downs

were considered to be necessary in

the consolidated statement of profit or

loss and other comprehensive income

for the year ended 31 December 2018.

As at 31 December 2018, write-downs

of Properties for sale amounting to
RMB13,433,000 is recognised.

Comparing the unit budget cost of the
completed properties to their estimated selling
prices which take into account the estimated
sales-related taxes;

Assessing the appropriateness of the
estimated selling prices used by management
with reference to market prices achieved in the
same projects or by comparable properties,
including an evaluation of the appropriateness
of the comparable properties used by
management of the Group based on our
knowledge of the Group's business and real
estate industry in the PRC, Australia, Canada
and Hong Kong; and

Evaluating the reasonableness of the
assessment performed by the management
of the Group on the key inputs to evaluate the
magnitude of their impact of the market value
and adequacy of impairment being made.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)
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Key audit matters

How our audit addressed the
key audit matters

Revenue recognised from sales of
properties

We identified revenue recognised
from sales of properties as a key audit
matter as the revenue from sales of
properties is quantitatively significant
to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive
income and there is judgment involved
in determining the appropriate point at
which to recognise revenue from sales
of properties.

Revenue from sales of properties
in the PRC is recognised when the
properties are delivered and control
of the properties is transferred to the
purchasers upon the performance
obligations are satisfied. The
Group recognised revenue of
RMB29,739,726,000 from its property
development segment for the year
ended 31 December 2018, which is
disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognised from
the property development segment included:

. Assessing management's process and control
over the point of time at which revenue from
sales of properties is recognised; and

U Evaluating the terms set out in the sales and
purchase agreements, on a sample basis,
and obtaining evidence regarding the delivery
of properties, including, where relevant,
completion certificates and delivery notices, to
assess whether the control of the properties
have been transferred to the purchasers upon
the performance obligations are satisfied.
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How our audit addressed the

Key audit matters

key audit matters

Accuracy of land appreciation tax
calculations

We identified the accuracy of land
appreciation tax (“LAT") calculations
in the PRC as a key audit matter since
significant judgment is required i~ ®
estimating the amount of LAT to be

paid by the Group within each of the
property development projects.

LAT is prepaid when properties are
pre-sold to the buyers and is provided
when properties are delivered to the
buyers and revenue is recognised.
As disclosed in note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements,
LAT amounting to RMB1,925,216,000
was recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other o
comprehensive income for the year
ended 31 December 2018. The LAT
calculations are highly dependent
on the appropriateness of the rates
used, which are determined by the
appreciation of land value. The amount
of the land appreciation is determined
with reference to proceeds of the
sales of properties less the estimated
deductible expenditures, including the
cost of land use rights and relevant
property development expenditures.

Our procedures in relation to evaluating the accuracy of
management’s LAT calculations included:

Assessing the reasonableness of the related
deductible expenditures used in the LAT
calculations;

Engaging our tax specialists in the PRC to
assess the accuracy of the land appreciation
amount calculations, and to assess the
appropriateness of the LAT rate used for
each of the property development projects by
comparing it to the LAT rate announced by the
State Administration of Taxation in the PRC;
and

Assessing the estimates adopted by the
management in estimating the amount of the
land appreciation charge rate by comparing
estimates made in previous periods to actual
results as well as current year's estimates.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group'’s financial reporting process.

T S A SRl R o (A

Hiv & #

=N Tﬁ%ﬁa}iﬁi\mﬁﬂ Hit BRI B3R F ]|

FREVE R BN BREGAMBEHRR RERER
i
BPEGEEMBERRNBER L NREEME

o AT A HEMEHER AT ARNER
e

iEEm o

RELEEPBHRERME - RAINEEREHE
HibER - RUERET - TEEMEHEEHE
A M BREIBMANEERETAERENE
MABEAEE  HEUFBEERHERRML - &
REMERTOIIE  MEMABREMER
BEAERRL  RMARESZEE - RIS
- BFYRBERHRS -

EEREEEANAEYSR
wHRNEE

b

BERREFARBRBEBRVMHEREENRE
BRAGRIINEERERBEITETERAAL
SN wmER - WRERRLARELRS
Eﬁﬁ‘%#&%‘%ﬂ’]ﬁ‘%??‘ﬁmﬁmﬁﬁi&aEb&ﬁﬁ«’@f@l
MY B A SRR IR A A REBE 1R £

3
i

n> Ho

REURAMBRERE - EFARNHESER

BREMEEN  YEBRBERTREEFEL

Mﬁﬁ%ﬁ’]%lﬁ AR RFELE RS %%
RIFEFTHEEREEEBFRAFLLE

EJZE‘J#@%HME REOBERT R -

SEMP SR RIZ

TERESERNERAF —T—/\F5H

IR

151



_A/\ Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

-

152

T S A% S hil ¥ o (AE)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Li Man Kei.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

15 March 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income |:_-J —
AR AR R A 2 T AR 3R I L

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—1F+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’'000
HaE ARET T ARETTT
Revenue EER 5 31,005,834 19,115,255
Cost of sales fHE KA (21,371,683) (14,003,778)
Gross profit EN 9,634,151 5,111,477
Other income, gains and losses HEablA - e & E51E 7 (222,971) 291,823
Change in fair value of investment KEMENTEED
properties 544,467 336,543
Recognition of change in fair value of REREREYHE
completed properties for sale upon ERUHEEERT
transfer to investment properties JEJ NS5 320,741 -
Gain (loss) on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR (E18) 222,012 (4,201)
Selling and distribution expenses HE RN HAXZ (1,432,227) (926,166)
Administrative expenses THFAX (1,736,008) (799,638)
Share of results of joint ventures JEIGEEFEFEER 36,558 (116,390)
Share of results of associates FE(GEE & R R E (1,872) 3
Finance costs B 8 (410,559) (267,859)
Profit before tax BB AR A 9 6,954,292 3,625,592
Income tax expense FriSHif 10 (4,014,825) (1,673,640)
Profit for the year FANHF 2,939,467 1,951,952
Other comprehensive (expense) income Habz2m (FX) tes
Items that may be reclassified HE a8 ER 7R
subsequently to profit or loss Bz E H
Net fair value gain on available-for-sale AHEEREN D TE
investments, net of income tax WianF 88 - HIRFTSH - 19,062
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale ENOEEESZ
investments reclassified to profit and loss & At ERE U ES - (21,865)
Exchange differences on translating HEGINETSHIIE H =58
of foreign operations (25,460) 6,593
(25,460) 3,790
Profit and total comprehensive income FPm I 2 AR AR
for the year 2,914,007 1,955,742
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #ZE - FE— \F1+ - A=+—HILFZF

2018 2017
—E-N\F —EF—tF
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’'000
HiaF ARET T ARETTT
Profit for the year attributable to: LA AT ERRETF
— Owners of the Company — ARREEBA 2,408,877 1,639,928
— Non-controlling interests — FEIERR iR 530,590 312,024
2,939,467 1,951,952
Profit and total comprehensive income LA A £ F R T
for the year attributable to: REEWERE
— Owners of the Company — ARaHEA A 2,389,573 1,641,946
— Non-controlling interests — R 524,434 313,796
2,914,007 1,955,742
Earnings per share (RMB cents) FRAF(ARES)
Basic AR 13 89.91 61.35
Diluted i3 13 89.90 61.28
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A o BB IR LA

At 31 December 2018 R—-ZE—/\F+—-H=+—H

jial

2018 2017
—2-N\fF —FtF
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’'000
HiaF ARET T ARETTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EmENEE
Property, plant and equipment Y -~ BB KR 14 2,057,192 718,995
Prepaid lease payments TENHEEKIE 15 337,977 80,735
Investment properties "B 16 8,833,493 6,360,204
Goodwill kS 17 3,491 28,755
Intangible assets | EE 18 3,600 4,698
Interests in joint ventures REBDERNER 19 1,721,376 43,749
Interests in associates KBt Z AR E RS 20 217,131 170,003
Equity instruments at fair value through BRATHEG ARMEE
other comprehensive income Wasz RAT A 21 31,465 -
Deferred tax assets RIETHIA B E 22 676,948 305,272
Deposits paid for acquisitions of subsidiaries YEEH B AT D514 23 1,531,947 928,222
Deposit paid for acquisition of a joint venture WE—B&ERED ]2 24 40,941 39,229
Deposit paid for acquisition of property, B ZE ~ R &
plant and equipment HEEMET® - 278,367
Amount due from a non-controlling el —FEM B AR —%
shareholder of a subsidiary IR AR B SRR 25 - 92,383
Amounts due from joint ventures JEW A & ¥RTE 26 1,118,809 152,029
Trade and other receivables H 5 R H A FEK 28 476,296 492,996
17,050,666 9,695,637
CURRENT ASSETS MENEEE
Properties for sale AR SHE M 27 114,894,214 77,069,025
Inventories & 66,834 138,227
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H MR 28 12,274,166 7,407,313
Deposits paid for acquisitions of land use LB -t {5 R %
rights and property projects YIEIBE BN € 29 177,065 1,114,490
Amounts due from non-controlling FEU T B A A
shareholders of subsidiaries IR AR B SRR 30 1,924,264 1,579,937
Amounts due from related parties JEULREE A | IR 31 - 71,381
Amounts due from joint ventures JEW A & ¥FRTE 32 294,064 868,846
Amounts due from associates € /NGO 33 48,292 73,625
Financial assets at fair value through profit 12 A A AEBZEZ
or loss (“FVTPL") cREE ([BRAFE
STABRCERMEE] 34 524,400 200,000
Tax recoverable A EIR & 1,967,938 1,040,960
Prepaid lease payments TENEEFKIE 15 14,772 2,080
Derivative financial instruments TESRTA 35 - 4,377
Structured deposits TR 34 1,328,000 =
Restricted bank deposits ZRHISRITIF SR 36 2,281,255 1,770,880
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR RS 36 36,012,289 24,769,183
171,807,553 116,110,224
PREREERMHARAR —ZT—N\FF®K 157
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)

wRa B IR UL (AH)

At 31 December 2018 R—-—ZE—/\F+—-H=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’'000
HaE AR¥TT ARETTT
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENBE
Trade and other payables B 5 M EMERR 37 25,564,843 14,579,493
Deposits received for sale of properties SHEMZED WG] 38 - 34,760,145
Contract liabilities aRE® 38 59,966,365 -
Amounts due to non-controlling JERTBTEB R A
shareholders of subsidiaries FEAEAR AR BR SR IE 30 2,352,730 609,591
Amounts due to joint ventures & & ERE 39 2,402,017 227,332
Amount due to an associate e — R & A B RUR 33 49 20
Loans from non-controlling shareholders DYELENS
of subsidiaries FEFERRAR SR AI B K 40 543,330 632,180
Tax liabilities MIEEE 5,534,968 3,171,912
Bank and other borrowings RITREAE K 41 19,261,443 13,371,376
Obligations under finance leases AhE M E AR 42 38,821 =
Senior notes and bonds BARBEMES 43 4,470,449 7,118,223
Provisions Rt 44 897,617 1,102,882
121,032,632 75,573,154
NET CURRENT ASSETS MENEEFE 50,774,921 40,537,070
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERTEAE
LIABILITIES 67,825,587 50,232,707
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JERBEE
Other payables H A 5K 37 503,810 1,042,259
Bank and other borrowings 1T REAMER 41 21,489,907 14,422,940
Loans from non-controlling shareholders REWBE AR
of subsidiaries FEFERRBR B 40 1,153,300 1,492,800
Deferred tax liabilities BEHRIBERE 22 1,184,072 691,196
Obligations under finance leases BB E AR 42 260,940 =
Senior notes and bonds BERBRES 43 12,499,712 5,457,222
37,091,741 23,106,417
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)

R MBIk DL ()

At 31 December 2018 R—-ZE—/\F+—-H=+—H

jial

2018 2017

—E-N\EF —E—+F

NOTE RMB’000 RMB’000

ks ARET T AREFIT

NET ASSETS FEE 30,733,846 27,126,290

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARNFE

Share capital &N 45 25,343 25,333

Reserves G 11,846,874 10,129,703
Equity attributable to owners RAEIHER AEIG R

of the Company 11,872,217 10,155,036

Non-controlling interests JEVERR A 18,861,629 16,971,254

TOTAL EQUITY B 30,733,846 27,126,290

The consolidated financial statements on pages 155 to 446 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 15
March 2019 and are signed on its behalf by:

Guo ZiWen
X
DIRECTOR
BF

HNFE 16 BEEF 446 B Z R BRERE RN
—E-NF=At+tHBEESEHENTET
% WHTIATIRRESZSHRE

Guo Zi Ning
e
DIRECTOR
EF

TERESERNERAF —T—/\F5H
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Attributable to owners of the Company

RATERNEL
Capital Share Non-
Share Share redemption ~ Statutory  Special  Translation Revaluation option  Retained controling
capital  premium  reseve  resenve  resenve  rfeseve  reseve  resenve  profits  Subdotal  interests Total
A e
hr  RhAE REGE AR WRE  REEE  BhRE BRERE REAT 15 HihEs &5
RMB0O0  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMBOO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB'000
(Notea) ~ (Noted) (Note ¢
(Wizs) (Wit (Wite)
At 1 January 2017 R5-+F-A-H 2529 4184425 1063 134065 447064 16909 40538 316 4068361 8918093 5713200 14,631,293
Profitfor the year Emgh = = = = = = - - 1639928 1639928 312024 191,952
Net fair value gain on avalableforsele. EEHE([TRHE))
("AFS"investments, netof REDTENRRE
income tex AR - - - - - - 19082 - - 1908 - 1908
Gain on disposlof AFS investment~ HEBHAEEER,
reclassified to proft and oss AHER SN - - - - - - (21869 - - 86 - el
Exchange diffrences arisingin BERZIIhEL,
translaing topresentation curency ~ EEE - - - - -4 - - 174 T I/
Profitand total comprehensive income A ATIR2E
for the year WahE = = = - - 4821 (2.803) - 1639928 1641946 313796 1985,742
Appropriation to Statutory reserve R ERERA - - - 8% - - - - (1894 - - -
Acquisitons of subsidiries note 48)  WEHTBAR (Hit48) - - - - - - - - - - 150055 1,500,556
Deemed disposalof parilinterests B AHEREATH
insubsidiaries without oss of Inamiaks
control (rote 50c) g (o) - - - - (125m) - - - - (12518 179408 177980
Disposal of subsidiries (note 50)) ~ (HEHBAR (550 - - - - - - - - - S/
Disposal of partiel nterestwithout ~~ iEDHERMTELS
loss of control (ot 50() FEBIE(E50m) - - - - - - - - - - 0730 170730
Dividend recognised as cistrbution BB AR RARS (M 12)
note 12) = = = = = = = - (400736 (400,736) - [400,736)
Dividend paid o non-controling AR
shareholders of subsidiaries RERRE - - - - - - - - - - s W)
Recogniion of equity-setted INREREN
sharebased payments RivBERARH - - - - - - - 10 - 10 - 10
Evercise of share option fIfERE o 7 = - - - - (376) - T6 - 76
Capita contribution from FERER A
non-controling interests - - - - - - - - - - 789,000 7,896,000
At 31 December 2017 RIE—tEFZA=1-0 538 419196 1063 2113019 434491 UR 37% 1100 5228599 10155036 16,971,264 27,126,290
Fffectarsing fiom ntlepplication & ERERGH AR 8
of IFRS 15 Ehinze = = = = - - - - 64601 64601 2112 66713
At 1 January 2018 (restated] ’=5-N\F-A-H
(i2%7)) 25333 4,191,966 1063 213019 434491 2730 317% 1,100 5293200 10,219,637 16,973,366 27,193,003
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Attributable to owners of the Company

AR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # %=
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KARERARR
Capital Share Non-
Share  Share redemption Statutory  Special Translation Revaluation  option  Retained controlling
capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reseve  profits  Sub-fotal interests Total
e St
Ra  RGEE EERE EERE  GURE RERE EMRR BRERE REE NtOkERER &
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETr ARMTR ARETR ARETn ARMIR ARMTR
(Notea) ~ (Noted) (Note ¢)
(Wdks) (it (Kite)
Profitfor the year Epigi - - - - - - - - 2408871 2408877 530590 2,939,467
Exchange diferences arisingin ER2pEaE:
tranglaing topresentation curency  ZEXEE - - - - - (19304 - - - (19304 (6156)  (25460)
Profitand total comprehensive EmptiRamhage
income for the year - - - - - (19,304 - - 2408877 2389573 524434 2914007
Aopropriaton to Stautory resenve. BB ATRE - - - %0 - - - - (32390 - - -
Recogniton of equity-settled share TEREERD
based payment BERAR - - - - - - - - e -1
Evercise of share option fifeEhiE 0 8266 - - - - - (1,100 - T8 -6
Shares repurchased and canceled R iRl (30) (15820 30 - - - - - (30) (15,80 - (1580
Disposal of subsidiries (note 50f) ~ (HEHEAZ (500 - - - - - - - - - - (mE®) (17115%)
Deemed disposal of partialinterests ~~ BALEI N RRNTE
insubsidiares wihout loss ASHIE (Fi3Es00)
of control (note 50(c) - - - - (678 - - - - (6781) 369,985 363,204
Acquisitons of subsidiaries (oted8)  EEHB A (Bit4e) - - - - - - - - - - 1861440 1,861,440
Acquisions of non-controling inerests - EREATEARER
from noncontroling shareholders  AEEFEARERS (1t 40)
of subsidiaries (note 49) - - - - (62,662) - - - - (62662) (816,488  (879,150)
Capital contributon from non-controling EREATHIERR
shareholders of subsidiaies i - - - - - - - - - - BRATS 62475
Decrease in capital contrbution ~FHEARN—2HifE
by a former non-controling HIBRRTERD
shareholder of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - (5800 (25800)
Dividend recognised as istiboution ~ ERAATRARE (i 12)
note 12) - - - - - - - - (670393 (670,393) - (670,393)
Dividend pad to noncontroling MNBARMR
shareholders of subsidiaries RERRE - - - - - - - - - - (4702100 (470210)
At 31 December 2018 BIE-MEFZA=T-H B33 4184412 1093 536969 365,048 206 3173 1487 6,707,704 11872217 18,861,629 30,733,846

TRERESEERNDERAT

—E-)\FER

161



03

162

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF— 11+ _-H=+—HI F/F

Notes:

The statutory reserve represents the amount transferred from net profit for the
year of the subsidiaries established in the People's Republic of China (the “PRC")
(based on the subsidiaries’ PRC statutory financial statements) in accordance with
the relevant PRC laws until the statutory reserve reaches 50% of the registered
capital of the subsidiaries. The statutory reserve cannot be reduced except either
in setting off the accumulated losses or increasing capital.

Special reserve represents amounts arising from the acquisitions of additional
equity interests in subsidiaries from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries or
disposal/deemed disposal of equity interests in subsidiaries without losing control.
It represents the difference between the consideration paid or received and the
adjustment to the non-controlling interests in subsidiaries.

Revaluation reserve includes (i) during the year ended 31 December 2007,
revaluation surplus arising from transfer of owner-occupied properties to
investment properties at the date of change in use amounted to RMB37735,000
net of related deferred tax was credited to property revaluation reserve; and (i)
disposal of AFS investment during the year ended 31 December 2017 with fair
value of RMB2,803,000 recognised in previous years.

China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)
AR O RESR S B A% ()

EERBEBEPEARANE ((HE ) HBZE
2+ R R B SZ A B 1 B B A (AR R
BRRAZHBEREMBERR) BHEHE  EEXEM
HEIHBARZMERLZ50% < EERBBEB TSR
D ERRMESH RETES RS E AL IR S) -

R Bl R 5 B BT A B SRR R A SR BB TR Y BB 2 B
EVRESNR R S AR B BB B A B Y AR AE T
IR ARSI RE LR FIR - RENHERRER
SRR R R IR E R 2 R EE o

EfHERE(IBZ_FTLF T A=1T—RALF
& REBAEE SRR AYREREY RME
KRB L AR ARYE 37,735,000 7T (AR HNBR AR RRIERE
PR BRAMKERGHE  RONBEE_F—+F
TZAS - B FERER A FERRATE
RHAR# 2,803,000 TR A fEH EHRE -



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows |:_-J —
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—1F+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

2018 2017
“E-N\F ZEtF
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
K ARETT ARET T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES S IET )
Profit before tax BRBATER 6,954,292 3,625,592
Adjustments for: KON
Change in fair value of investment properties BENENTEE (544,467) (336,543)
Recognition of change in fair value of completed REBERENFERRER
properties for sale upon transfer to investment AHEERRTIMEN
properties NEEZD (320,741) =
Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments ~ $74 4R T A AT EES) (46) 78,484
Change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL BATEABRL
SREERTEED (24,400) -
Finance costs BARKA 410,559 267,859
Share of results of joint ventures EfhaE %R (36,558) 116,390
Share of results of associates e A= YNTIE 1,872 (3)
(Gain) loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENRBAR (k) BB (222,012) 4,201
Share-based payments PR BER AR 11,487 1,100
Loss on early redemptions of senior notes REERELRENEE - 198,808
Bank interest income AT EHA (179,231) (75,130)
Other interest income HAFSHA (78,902) (19,681)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investment HEAHHEREN G - (29,153)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME  BELRIETE 118,349 53,328
Release of prepaid lease payments BARENFER 7,603 478
Amortisation of intangible assets EVEERE 1,098 656
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and = E R S
equipment (W) B8 (7,636) 4,169
Exchange loss (gain), net SNE R (Meas) 58 605,329 (407,402)
Dividend income from equity instruments at fair REBRAFEFARMZE
value through other comprehensive income W 2 RAT Az BRBMA (2,268) =
Impairment losses on trade and other receivables B2 R EER 24,874 =
Operating cash flows before movements in HEELEHRNCERE TS
working capital 6,719,202 3,483,143
Decrease (increase) in inventories FERD (Em) 53,521 (93,651)
Increase in properties for sale EsEE I ES il (16,380,327) (13,506,630)
Decrease (increase) in deposits paid for acquisitions Wit AERMEER
of land use rights and property projects ERETERA (3Em) 937,425 (967,437)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 R A L (4,264,155) (2,906,664)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 KA ERFCE 4,852,001 2,149,423
Increase in contract liabilities BIREBEM 22,570,778 =
Increase in deposits received for sale of properties HEMEDWETRIEM - 8,459,010
Decrease (increase) in amount due from an R A Al — B AR AR R
non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary FIRRL (4Em) 60,000 (60,000)
Cash from (used in) operations LEE (R He 14,548,445 (3,442,806)
Income taxes paid BRFEH (2,384,556) (1,313,453)
Interest paid ERHES (3,575,967) (2,006,957
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES &2 E28f15 (FTH) BaFE 8,587,922 (6,763,216)

TRERESEERNDERAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 7 —F— &+ _-A=+—HIFFF

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

2018 2017
“E-N\F T+
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
ik ARET T ARET T
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Placement of restricted bank deposits FEXBHIFTER (2,809,118) (2,968,229)
Withdrawal of restricted bank deposits R R ISR T 5K 2,298,743 1,682,927
Placement of bank and structured deposits FERIREEMEER (4,403,000) =
Settlement in consideration payable for acquisitions HENTEEUWENRBAR
of subsidiaries in prior year E’Jﬁ’éﬁﬁ@ (1,675,359) (195,000)
Increase in deposits paid for acquisitions of subsidiaries 4GB A FIE 7] &% A (1,320,715) (928,222)
Deposit paid for acquisition of a joint venture Yebg— F?@@%EH HER (1,712) (39,229)
Payments for investment properties REMENT (156,850) (629,570)
Acquisitions of subsidiaries (net of cash and cash WEENE A R (R AKER € &
equivalents acquired) ReSEY) 48 (5,793,501) (6,097,897)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BENE  BELZE (453,336) (124,392)
Purchases of prepaid lease payments BERNHENE (73,020) =
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment  HEE - BERREHEZE 18,768 =
Advances to non-controlling shareholders R B A AEERIRE R
of subsidiaries (4,460,942) (1,184,413)
Repayments from non-controlling shareholders B A AR ER
of subsidiaries 4,177,428 245,134
Advances to joint ventures mé%ﬁiﬂ% (1,204,792) (475,492)
Repayments from joint ventures AELEEN 206,957 =
Repayment from associates 5»‘3%’& AN 42,799 -
Advances to associates ElA=UNG 5N (17,566) (73,525)
Investments in joint ventures REGERE (1,518,541) (2,200)
Investments in associates REMENT (49,000) {100,000)
Investment in equity instruments at RERDNFEF AL b2 AR
fair value through other comprehensive income ZBRATA (31,465) =
Dividend income from equity instruments at fair value ~ REIZAFE ALt 2 EIE
through other comprehensive income ZIRATAZRSHA 2,268 =
Investment in financial assets at FVTPL BRERNFEFABR SHEE (300,000) =
Repayments from related parties BERRIER 71,381 26,825
Decrease (increase) in deposit paid for acquisition of ~ WEEY% - M RREE M
property, plant and equipment SR (3Em) 113,504 (278,367)
Disposal of subsidiaries (net of cash and cash HEMRBAR (MRAHERER
equivalents disposed of) ReZEY) 50(a) 69,401 (39,110)
Interest received [RE )} 227,569 93,638
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale investment &/ HER BTG TR - 35,123
Proceeds upon maturity of derivative financial TES R T AR BEMETR
instruments 4,423 67,190
Purchase of derivative financial instrument BEMELRTIA - (7,649)
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties HEREMEMEIER 162,589 48,839
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES KB EDMARLTE (16,963,087) (9,943,619

China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—1F+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

2018 2017
“E-N\F B S o3
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
ik ARET T ARET T
FINANCING ACTIVITIES VT
New bank and other borrowings raised IR R EMIER 28,480,084 24,662,981
Repayment of bank and other borrowings EBRRITREMER (17,373,414) (4,999,807)
Proceeds received from senior notes and bonds, BEZEBREFMENE
net of issue expenses MREITHE 9,604,182 3,294,099
Repayment of senior notes and bonds BEHELEZERES (5,466,370) =
Early redemption of senior notes and bonds REBERRARBRES (390,305) (2,231,323)
Repayment of obligations under finance leases EERAHEAE (27,668) =
Repayment of other payables BREMERK (499,470) =
Advances from non-controlling shareholders B H B AR IR R
of subsidiaries 962,041 446,493
Repayment to non-controlling shareholders BlENGEE A i S
of subsidiaries (245,719) -
Loans from non-controlling shareholders REMBABFEERRENER
of subsidiaries 1,039,130 1,639,680
Repayments of loans from non-controlling BERE B AR R
shareholders of subsidiaries HER (1,467,480) (902,100)
Advances from joint ventures PNEEEDE 3,037,617 94,513
Repayments to joint ventures AEENERR (213,870) -
Advance from an associate BB —HBEAT 29 20
Dividends paid to owners of the Company RAARHEE NERARE (670,393) (400,736)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders RARE R A R IEERAR R
of subsidiaries of the Company IRARE, (470,210) (411,257)
Proceeds from disposal of partial interest in a HE—RHBA RS RS
subsidiary without loss of control (WK LRI PSR - 170,730
Proceeds from deemed disposal of partial interests BALERBARD ER
in subsidiaries without loss of controls (W AR LRI FR{S30R 363,204 1,779,830
Acquisition of non-controlling interests from P A R FEE R AR R
non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries FEE R (879,150) =
Shares repurchased REAEE) (15,850) =
Contribution from non-controlling shareholders of Wi 2 AR R AR SR &
subsidiaries 622,475 7,896,000
Decrease in capital contribution by a former —RMB AR —RAIE
non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary JEER R R A R (25,840) -
Exercise of share options TR 7,206 7,206
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES HERDMEREFRE 16,370,229 31,046,329
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS B4 KRS EMIEIIEE 7,995,064 14,339,494
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES EXREEE 173,042 (41,189)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE RENNHRE RREEED
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 24,769,183 10,470,878
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END REKNRERASEEY
OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED BY BANK ENRITRA LIRS
BALANCES AND CASH 32,937,289 24,769,183
PRERSERNOARAT —E—N\FFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # % —Z&

—NFF+ZA=F—HIFE

General

The Company is a limited company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK"). The addresses of the
registered office and the principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information section to
the annual report.

Special resolution was passed by the shareholders of the
Company at a special general meeting of the Company held on
13 November 2018 to change the name of the Company from
“China Aoyuan Property Group Limited” to “China Aoyuan
Group Limited” and to change the dual Chinese name from “F
BEREMESERNDERAR" to "HRRESERMHERAF"

The change of name took effect on 13 November 2018.

The Company’s immediate holding company is Ace Rise Profits
Limited, a limited company which was incorporated as an
exempted company with limited liability in the British Virgin
Islands. Its ultimate holding company is Joy Pacific Group
Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands which is controlled by Mr. Guo Zi Wen. The
Company acts as an investment holding company. Details of the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 59.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—1F+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

Application of New and Amendments to
International Financial Reporting Standards

(“IFRSs”)

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to

IFRSs issued by the International Accounting Standards Board

(the"lIASB") for the first time in the current year.

IFRS 9
IFRS 15

IFRIC 22

Amendments to IFRS 2

Amendments to IFRS 4

Amendments to IAS 40
Amendments to IAS 28

Financial Instruments

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments

Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration

Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions

Applying IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with IFRS 4
Insurance Contracts

Transfers of Investment Property

As part of the Annual
Improvements to IFRS
Standards 2014-2016 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the above

amendments to IFRSs and the interpretation in the current year

has had no material effect on the Group’s financial performance

and position for the current and prior years and/or disclosures

set out in the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

o B s A M (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/1F+ - HA=+—HI F/E

2. Application of New and Amendments to
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) (continued)

2.1

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

The Group has applied IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers for the first time in the current year. IFRS
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers superseded
IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and the
related interpretations.

The Group has applied IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers retrospectively with the cumulative effect
of initially applying this Standard recognised at the date
of initial application, 1 January 2018. Any difference at
the date of initial application is recognised in the opening
retained profits (or other components of equity, as
appropriate) and comparative information has not been
restated. Furthermore, in accordance with the transition
provisions in IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers, the Group has elected to apply the Standard
retrospectively only to contracts that are not completed
at 1 January 2018 and has used the practical expedient
for all contract modifications that occurred before the
date of initial application, the aggregate effect of all of
the modifications was reflected at the date of initial
application. Accordingly, certain comparative information
may not be comparable as comparative information was
prepared under IAS 18 Revenue and IAS 11 Construction
Contracts and the related interpretations.

Revenue of the Group mainly consists of revenue derived
from the (i) sales of properties, (ii) rental income, and (iii)
hotel, property management service income and sales of
goods.

Information about the Group’s performance obligations
and the accounting policies resulting from application of
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers are
disclosed in notes 5 and 3 respectively.
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A A B s R M R (A) ‘ L

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—1F+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

2. Application of New and Amendments to 2.

International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) (continued)

2.1 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The following table summarises the impacts of transition
to IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers on
retained profits at 1 January 2018.

F& A 37 2T BB R o S i o 2B A
(IEIFRBI IR 2 A |) R
RIg9EET (&)

21 BB KRELEAEI5HEE
EFEERWA ()

46 HE G BB R 7 3R & 2E RS 15 3%
BEFERIWA Z &

TERBAR-F—N\F—A—BB
REBRP RS ERE 165REP
BRBAHREGNHZE

Note RMB’000
Hiat ARETTT
Retained profits BB F 5,228,599
Recognition of contract costs ERE R (a) 86,606
Tax effects Hig e (a) (22,005)
As at 1 January 2018 R=ZZE—NF—HA—H 5,293,200
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

B ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/1F+ - HA=+—HI F/E

2. Application of New and Amendments to
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) (continued)

2.1 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application
of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(continued)

The following adjustments were made to the amounts
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at 1 January 2018. Line items that were not

2. BRI BRI BHREZEA
(IEIFRBI IR 2 A |) R
RIg9EET (&)

21 BB KRELEAFEI5HEE
FEERWA ()

46 HE G BB R 7 3R & 2E RS 15 3%
BEFERINA 2 &t ()

TIRER—_ZFT—-N\F—A—BZ
REMBIRARTRRZ S BAE
HRE - RXBBFENEBYL

affected by the changes have not been included. TEIEERA °
Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under
reported at 31 IFRS 15 at
December 1 January
Note 2017 Reclassification ~ Remeasurement 2018
RIEEIPRE RS
BREER
KRR Z158 R
RZZE—t% —E-N\E
+-A=1+—H —A—-B#
BENERE B0k B E EHE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
i3 NS ARETT ARETT ARBTR
Current assets RBEE
Trade and other receivables ~ BZREMEYNFE (0 7,407,313 - 88,718 7,496,031
Non-current assets FREBEE
Deferred tax assets ERTEERE (a) 305,272 = (22,005) 283,267
Capital and reserves BEXRfE
Retained profits RE M 5,228,599 - 64,601 5,293,200
Non-controlling interests FiEiER 16,971,254 - 2,112 16,973,366
Current liabilities RBEE
Deposits received for sale HEME
of properties BlkETE 34,760,145 (34,760,145) - -
Contract liabilities aREH - 34,760,145 - 34,760,145
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok 1 B B i M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—1F+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

2. Application of New and Amendments to
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) (continued)

2.1

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application
of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(continued)

Note:

(a) The Group incurred incremental agency commission to
intermediaries in connection with obtaining sales of properties
contracts with customers. These amounts were previously
expensed as incurred. At the date of initial application of IFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers, incremental costs of
obtaining contracts and the related deferred tax of RMB22,005,000
were recognised with corresponding adjustments to retained
profits and non-controlling interests.

The following tables summarise the impacts of applying
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers on the
Group'’s consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2018, its consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the current year for each of
the line items affected. Line items that were not affected
by the changes have not been included.

2. BRI BRI BHREZEA
(IEIFRBI IR 2 A |) R
RIg9EET (&)

21 BB KRELEAEI5HEE
EFEERWA ()

46 HE G BB R 7 3R & 2E RS 15 3%
BEFERINA 2 &t ()

T

(@) ARERBEEEFPNHENEAR
MRNTARXNEERE - ZFSH
FLRIFIER o 1B R ER BRI
HEENFRELARBKAER -
EHERMGE AL EKARERE
FEFIE A R ¥ 22,005,000 7T © I FHAR
BE IR R E ARG

T RBUE R BRI RS 2RI
BREPARRAHREERR -F
—NE+ZA=+—B2z2&EEU%
ARK ~ RNEFE 2R EHm A
2HEERMGERERERTE
ARXTEREANTE -  AXEHFY

ZHRAYTBEENA -

TERESERNERAF —T—/\F5H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

o B s A M (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/1F+ - HA=+—HI F/E

2. Application of New and Amendments to
International Financial Reporting Standards

(“IFRSs”) (continued)

2.1

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

2. BRI BRI BHREZEA
(IEIFRBI IR 2 A |) R
RIg9EET (&)

2.1

B A RS R S RISE 15 58 &

Customers (continued) FaRWA (&)
Impact on the consolidated statement of financial YR Bt R E
position
Amounts without
application of
As reported Adjustments IFRS 15
REFAER
MR ELER
MEHR AR oy e ot
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETTT AREFT
Current assets RBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E A e Mk 12,274,166 (663,815) 11,610,351
Non-current assets FREBEE
Deferred tax assets EETIRE E 676,948 165,953 842,901
Capital and reserves ERR G
Retained profits RE&A 6,707,704 (468,143) 6,239,561
Non-controlling interests IR 18,861,629 (29,719) 18,831,910
Current liabilities REBEE
Deposits received for sale HEME
of properties BUETE = 59,966,365 59,966,365
Contract liabilities ERER 59,966,365 (59,966,365) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok 1 B B i M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—1F+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

2. Application of New and Amendments to
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) (continued)

2.1 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (continued)

Impact on the consolidated statement of profit and

2. BRI BRI BHREZEA
(IEIFRBI IR 2 A |) R
RIg9EET (&)

21 BB KRELEAEI5HEE
EFEERWA ()

HHERBERAMEARBE R

loss and other comprehensive income £

Amounts without

application of

As reported Adjustments IFRS 15

REFER

g s

ME R R 1552 &8

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

AR®TFT AR¥ETTT ARETTT

Selling and distribution expenses & k2 5% (1,432,227) (575,097) (2,007,324)
Profit before tax BRBLATR R 6,954,292 (575,097) 6,379,195
Income tax expense FT{sRif S (4,014,825) 143,948 (3,870,877)
Profit for the year F R EF 2,939,467 (431,149) 2,508,318
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

o B s A M (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/1F+ - HA=+—HI F/E

2. Application of New and Amendments to
International Financial Reporting Standards

(“IFRSs”) (continued)

2.1

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers (continued)

Impact on the consolidated statement of cash flows

2. BRI BRI BHREZEA
(IEIFRBI IR 2 A |) R
RIg9EET (&)

2.1

B A RS R S RISE 15 58 &
FaRBA (%)

Yo REnBRNTHE

Amounts without
application of

As reported Adjustments IFRS 15
RERFEIRR
RS R & 28l
PUEE R E15R SR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETT ARETTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEE
Profit before tax BR A A 6,954,292 (575,097) 6,379,195
Operating cash flows before BEESEHRIL
movements in working capital RERRE 6,694,328 (575,097) 6,119,231
Increase in trade and other B 5 R E M FEBGR
receivables =Yl (4,239,281) 575,097 (3,664,184)
Increase in contract liabilities ERZEBIEM 22,570,778 (22,570,778) -
Increase in deposits received HEMHE
for sale of properties BEUET &80 = 22,570,778 22,570,778
Cash from operating activities E&EBHMEESE 14,548,445 - 14,548,445
Net cash from operating RETHABERS
activities R 8,687,922 - 8,687,922
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) |:_'J —
A A B s R M R (A) ‘ L

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—1F+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

2. Application of New and Amendments to 2. FERFETERRMEREER
International Financial Reporting Standards ([ EIBRE &SRS 2B |) 12 ¥ %
(“IFRSs”) (continued) RIEERT (8])

2.2 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and the related 2.2 BERBMEHREERFEIFSH
amendments T AR BB

In the current year, the Group has applied IFRS 9
Financial Instruments and the related consequential
amendments to other IFRSs. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
introduces new requirements for 1) the classification and
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities,
2) expected credit losses (“ECL") for financial assets
and other items (for example, contract assets, financial
guarantee contracts) and 3) general hedge accounting.

The Group has applied IFRS 9 Financial Instruments in
accordance with the transition provisions set out in IFRS
9 Financial Instruments, i.e. applied the classification and
measurement requirements (including impairment under
ECL model) retrospectively to instruments that have not
been derecognised as at 1 January 2018 (date of initial
application) and has not applied the requirements to
instruments that have already been derecognised as at 1
January 2018. The difference between carrying amounts
as at 31 December 2017 and the carrying amounts as at
1 January 2018 are recognised in the opening retained
profits, without restating comparative information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be
comparable as comparative information was prepared
under IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement.

Accounting policies resulting from application of IFRS 9
Financial Instruments are disclosed in note 3.

RAER  AEEE RHBRY %
HELANEI RSB T AR EME
PR RE LA MEREER - B
RS LERIFEIRE R T AR
N ERMEEREBREEN DB
B2 emEENRAEMIEAR (HL0
EREERBEERAR)NEBR
EFEBRR(FEREEEE] &3 —
RIS AFTIRTE o

& E B AR & B PR B 7 R 22 A
25 9% & mt T B sl A 18 1R SR
RAEERGBmEEE IR R T
B AR ERAERE(BE
TEEEEEEEN THRE) BB
ERR=ZZE—NF—H—8 %
HABH) MRBUEERN LA -
BUYEBZERATERARR-E
—N\E—A—BEEUEBERN LT
B ZFT—+F+ZA=+—HZ
FEEE-_Z-N\F-—A—HZK
EEMRZERERERE & F P g
R WEEHILERER -

RRE THRENDREER S
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

B ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/1F+ - HA=+—HI F/E

2. Application of New and Amendments to
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) (continued)

2.2 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and the related
amendments (continued)

No impacts of transition to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
on retained profits and classification and measurement of
financial assets and financial liabilities of 1 January 2018.

Impairment under ECL model

As at 1 January 2018, the directors of the Company have
reviewed and assessed the Group's existing financial
assets for impairment using reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort
in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments and have concluded that no material financial
impact exists, and therefore no adjustment to the opening
retained profits as at 1 January 2018 has been recognised.

For outstanding financial guarantees provided to a joint
venture of RMB1,920,000,000, the Group considers there
has been no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and hence the loss allowance is assessed on
12m ECL basis.

China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018

F& A 37 2T BB R o S i o 2B A
(IEIFRBI IR 2 A |) R
RIg9EET (&)

22 EIMBHREEAEIFNSE

T AKX HEEEE (&)

BEZBRIBRELANFEIRE
MIAH_T-N\F—A—HBRE
wHREREERERBENDE
FEtEWEZE -

ARG EBRED T e

R-_T—\F—A—B XRQFAE
EERIE B PR B 75 3 5 22 RIS 9 5%
TR T A E SR EABRERA
BN ESNAERRENE
B M EHAE AN REIRE B & E R
B YRR TNFEEAMBZE
EEAY  EAHER_FT—/\F—
H— B #ER e B 9R 8 5 A E 38
#® .

HIRHE T —EEECENKRERN
T ¥E % A R #1,920,000,000 7T
T ARERAEERKRBE VAT
R ARG - B BB
Z1I2EAFEREEEBEBHEET
iy



2. Application of New and Amendments to 2.
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) (continued)

2.3 Impacts and changes in accounting policies

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (contlnued)

ok 1 B s A M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # %=

—ENFEFZA=— Eitﬁrcf

F& A 37 2T BB R o S i o 2B A
(IEIFRBI IR 2 A |) R

RIg9EET (&)

23 ERBIRETEAZE405E 2

of application on Amendments to IAS 40
“Transfers of Investment Property”

The amendments clarify that a transfer to or from
investment property necessitates an assessment of
whether a property meets, or has ceased to meet, the
definition of investment property, supported by evidence
that a change in use has occurred. The amendments
further clarify that situations other than the ones listed
in IAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property may evidence
a change in use, and that a change in use is possible for
properties under construction (i.e. a change in use is not
limited to completed properties).

At the date of initial application, the Group assessed the
classification of certain properties based on conditions
existed at that date. There is no impact to the classification
at 1 January 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

B ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #ZE - FE— \F1+ - A=+—HILFZF

2. Application of New and Amendments to
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective.

IFRS 16 Leases'

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments’

Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business*

Amendments to IFRS 9  Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation’

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
IFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
IAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to IAS 1 Definition of Material®
and IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 19  Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement!

Amendments to IAS 28  Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures'

Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRS
Standards 2015-2017 Cycle'

China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok 1 B B i M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—1F+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

Application of New and Amendments to
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
ks Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the

acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

Except for the new and amendments to IFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to IFRSs will have
no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 Leases introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting treatments
for both lessors and lessees. IFRS 16 Leases will supersede
IAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations when it becomes
effective.

IFRS 16 Leases distinguishes lease and service contracts on the
basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer.
In addition, IFRS 16 Leases requires sales and leaseback
transactions to be determined based on the requirements of
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers as to whether
the transfer of the relevant asset should be accounted as a sale.
IFRS 16 Leases also includes requirements relating to subleases
and lease modifications.

Distinctions of operating leases and finances leases are
removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model
where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to
be recognised for all leases by lessees, except for short-term
leases and leases of low values assets.
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Application of New and Amendments to
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted
for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability
is initially measured at the present value of the lease payment
that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is
adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact
of lease modifications, amongst others. For the classification
of cash flows, the Group currently presents upfront prepaid
lease payments as investing cash flows in relation to leasehold
lands for owned use and those classified as investment
properties while other operating lease payments are presented
as operating cash flows. Upon application of IFRS 16 Leases,
lease payments in relation to lease liability will be allocated into
a principal and an interest portion which will be presented as
financing and operating cash flows by the Group respectively,
and upfront prepaid lease payments will continue to be
presented as investing or operating cash flows in accordance to
the nature, as appropriate.

Under IAS 17 Leases, the Group has already recognised prepaid
lease payment for leasehold lands where the Group is a lessee.
The application of IFRS 16 Leases may result in potential
changes in classification of these assets depending on whether
the Group presents right-of-use assets separately or within the
same line item at which the corresponding underlying assets
would be presented if they were owned.

Other than certain requirements which are also applicable to
lessor, IFRS 16 Leases substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in IAS 17 Leases, and continues to
require a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating lease or
a finance lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

o B s A M (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/1F+ - HA=+—HI F/E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok 1 B B i M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—1F+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

Application of New and Amendments to
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments as lessee of RMB405,391,000
as disclosed in note 53. These arrangements will meet the
definition of a lease. Upon application of IFRS 16 Leases, the
Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability in respect of all these leases unless they qualify for low
value or short-term leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid of RMB12,872,000 and refundable rental deposits
received of RMB43,397000 as rights and obligations under
leases to which IAS 17 Leases applies. Based on the definition
of lease payments under IFRS 16 Leases, such deposits
are not payments relating to the right to use the underlying
assets, accordingly, the carrying amounts of such deposits
may be adjusted to amortised cost and such adjustments
are considered as additional lease payments. Adjustments
to refundable rental deposits paid would be considered as
additional lease and included in the carrying amount of right-of-
use assets. Adjustments to refundable rental deposits received
would be considered as advanced lease payments.
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Application of New and Amendments to
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (continued)

The application of new requirements may result changes in
measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated above.
The Group elects the practical expedient to apply IFRS 16
Leases to contracts that were previously identified as leases
applying IAS 17 Leases and not apply this standard to contracts
that were not previously identified as containing a lease
applying IAS 17 Leases. Therefore, the Group will not reassess
whether the contracts are, or contain a lease which already
existed prior to the date of initial application. Furthermore,
the Group elects the modified retrospective approach for the
application of IFRS 16 Leases as lessee and will recognise the
cumulative effect of initial application to opening accumulated
losses without restating comparative information.

Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business

The amendments clarify the definition of a business and provide
additional guidance with the objective of assisting entities to
determine whether a transaction should be accounted for as a
business combination or an asset acquisition. Furthermore, an
optional concentration test is introduced to permit a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and
assets is not a business. The amendments will be mandatorily
effective to the Group prospectively for acquisition transactions
completed on or after 1 January 2020.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/\F 1+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

Application of New and Amendments to
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of Material

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of
material by including additional guidance and explanations
in making materiality judgements. The amendments also
align the definition across all IFRS Standards and will be
mandatorily effective for the Group's annual period beginning
on 1 January 2020. The application of the amendments is not
expected to have significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group but may affect the presentation and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the SEHK (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain properties and
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end
of the reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope
of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
within the scope of IAS 17 Leases, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in IAS 2 Inventories or value in use in IAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that
at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique equals
the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (contlnued)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # %=

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset

or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below:
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the
Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights
of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group’'s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

o the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

° rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

° any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that
the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions
need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date of the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group's relevant components
of equity including reserves and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in
the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves
between the Group and the non-controlling interests according
to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests. Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries (continued)

When the Group losses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair
value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
has directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specific/permitted by applicable
IFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment
in an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, assets or liabilities related
to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and
measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and
IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangement of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangement of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-
based Payment at the acquisition date (see the accounting
policy below); and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the
net amount of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is
made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at their fair value or, when
applicable, on the basis specified in another IFRS.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured
at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the
consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively,
with the corresponding adjustments made against goodwill.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise
from additional information obtained during the “measurement
period” (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition
date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.

Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting a business

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises
the individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
by allocating the purchase price first to the financial assets and
financial liabilities at the respective fair value, the remaining
balance of the purchase price is then allocated to the other
identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair
values at the date of purchase. Such a transaction does not give
rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group
of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of
the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating
units, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When
the Group disposes of an operation within the cash-generating
unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of cash-generating
units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on
the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the cash-
generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units) retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of joint
ventures and associates is described below.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—1F 1+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and
joint ventures are incorporated in the consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate and a joint venture is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate and
joint venture. Changes in net assets of the associate and joint
venture other than profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are not accounted for unless such changes resulted in
changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When the
Group's share of losses of a an associate and a joint venture
equals or exceeds its interest in that associate and joint venture
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group’s net investment in the associate and joint
venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate and joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (contlnued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &2 —ZF— /) \F+_-H=+— Eltﬁﬁ/"

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

An investment in an associate and a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate and joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate and a joint venture, any excess of
the cost of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount,
any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—1F 1+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When
the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset within
the scope of IAS 9 Financial Instruments/IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the
fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint
venture at the date the equity method was discontinued, and
the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from
disposing the relevant interest in the associate or joint venture
is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal
of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate or joint venture on the same
basis as would be required if that associate or joint venture had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore,
if a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified
to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities,
the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or
loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal or partial
disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (contlnued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #tZ& —ZE—\#F+—-H=+— Eitﬁﬁ/"

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with
the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group's
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests
in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the
Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers in accordance with transitions
in note 2)

Under IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers,
the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is

transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers in accordance with transitions
in note 2) (continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance as the
Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group's unconditional right
to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group'’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract are
accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/\F 1+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers in accordance with transitions
in note 2) (continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs
to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the
total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group's performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time
value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group with a
significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services
to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains
a significant financing component. A significant financing
component may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the
payment terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer
of the associated goods or services is less than one year,
the Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
transaction price for any significant financing component.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of IFRS 15 in accordance with
transitions in note 2) (continued)

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that
the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it
would not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (agency commissions) as
an asset if it expects to recover these costs. The asset so
recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or loss on a
systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the
customer of the goods or services to which the assets relate.

Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its construction
contracts. The Group first assesses whether these costs qualify
for recognition as an asset in terms of other relevant Standards,
failing which it recognises an asset for these costs only if they
meet all of the following criteria:

o the costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the Group can specifically identify;

o the costs generate or enhance resources of the Group
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future; and

° the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or
loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer
to the customer of the goods or services to which the assets
relate. The asset is subject to impairment review.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (contlnued)

ok 1 B 5 i M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &2 —ZF— /\F+_-H=+— Eltﬁﬁ/"

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (prior to 1 January 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances, and
sales-related taxes.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described below.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods
are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the
following conditions are satisfied:

o the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the goods;

o the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

° the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

o it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the transaction will flow to the Group; and

o the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Specifically, revenue from sale of properties in the ordinary
course of business is recognised when the respective
properties have been completed and delivered to the buyers.
Deposits and instalments received from purchasers prior to
meeting the above criteria for revenue recognition are included
in the consolidated statement of financial position under current
liabilities.

3.

TERESEROHBRQT

TESEBR (8)

WARER (K=
ZAl)

—N\¥—HF—H

WARE BB EZ R FERTE -
WARBFEPEE - il kEmBEE
fHRLIA M SHERRRTIA MR L o

ﬂH
o

WA - BRA ST St E
B i B AT REA A SRACE T 25 i R M A S
@M&“‘ﬁiﬁgﬁﬁxlﬁéiﬂaﬁéﬁﬁ
SUAERFIERUA ©

EFAMBNTRER  REHEEM

AR E @ N EB AR

o AEEEHERBEEZEARR
REOskEZTFER

o AEEVERE REBEESM
ZIEERBETIEE R TR
7

o WALEEREST FEMETE

o HEXFZHEBAIEENDRAIERA
AEE R

BHXSEESBEE S RALEN
A -

=
Eﬁ oilf

EMEBRIUWRNTE
B R 2R B B 75 AR
AR ABZ A M BAR K

iﬁ i

—
=3
5

NN O
s
Hl>>

&
}ﬁ//\’/‘i

TN

—E-)\FER

o FIEL

199



)

200

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (prior to 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

The Group's accounting policy for recognition of revenue from
operating leases is described in the accounting policy for leasing
below.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/\F 1+ - HA=+—HI F/ZF

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Leasing (continued)

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of
the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.
The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the
consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease
obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses
and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance
expenses are recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless
they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case
they are capitalised in accordance with the Group's general
policy on borrowing costs (see the accounting policy below).

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land
held under operating leases, are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for a property interest
which includes both leasehold land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element separately
based on the assessment as to whether substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each element
have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both
elements are operating leases in which case the entire property
is accounted as an operating lease. Specifically, the entire
consideration (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are
allocated between the leasehold land and the building elements
in proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests
in the land element and building element at initial recognition.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Leasehold land and building (continued)

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as
an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments”
in the consolidated statement of financial position and is
amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis except
for those that are classified and accounted for as investment
properties under the fair value model. When the lease payments
cannot be allocated reliably between the leasehold land and
building elements, the entire property is generally classified as
if the leasehold land is under finance lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for exchange differences on monetary items receivable
from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the
net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised
initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the
Group's interests in associates or joint ventures.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purposes of presenting these consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into presentation currency (i.e. RMB)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expense items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve (and attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in an associate or
joint arrangement that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to
profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of
accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss.
For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associate
or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of
the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or
loss.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowing pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of
interest is treated as a government grant, measured as the
difference between proceeds received and the fair value of the
loan based on prevailing market interest rates.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/\F 1+ - HA=+—HI F/ZF

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans and
stated-managed retirement benefit schemes are recognised as
an expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Share-based payments arrangement
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of
the equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the
determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based
transactions are set out in note 56 to the Group's consolidated
financial statements.

The fair value of the equity-settled payments determined at
the grant date without taking into consideration all non-market
vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity
instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share option reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of options that are expected to vest
based on the assessment of all relevant non-market vesting
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to share option reserve.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Share-based payments arrangement (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(continued)

Share options granted to employees (continued)

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred
to retained profits.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before tax” as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/\F 1+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwiill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and interests
in associates and joint ventures, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred
tax assets for investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when
the investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale. If the presumption
is rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for
such investment properties are measured in accordance with
the above general principles set out in IAS 12 Income Taxes (i.e.
based on the expected manner as to how the properties will be
recovered).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to
settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land
(classified as finance lease) and buildings held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than properties under construction as described
below) are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &2 —ZF— /\F+=-H=+— Eltﬁﬁ/"

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional
fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group's accounting policy. Such properties
are classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
(other than properties under construction) less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their
expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets.
However, when there is no reasonable certainty that ownership
will be obtained by the end of the lease term, assets are
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful
lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Buildings under development for future owner occupied
purpose

When buildings are in the course of development for
production, or for administrative purposes, the amortisation of
prepaid lease payments provided during the construction period
is included as part of costs of buildings under construction.
Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less any
identified impairment losses. Depreciation of buildings
commences when they are available for use (i.e. when they are
in the location and condition necessary for them to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management).

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties and/or land held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including properties under
construction for such purpose).

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period
in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

Investment properties under construction are transferred to
properties for sale when and only when there is a change in use
evidenced by the commencement of development with a view
to sale. The property’'s cost for subsequent accounting shall be
its fair value at the date of change.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 7 —F— \F+-H=+— Eitﬁﬁ/;

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Investment properties (continued)

The Group transfers a property for sales to investment property
when there is a change in use to hold the property to earn
rentals or/and for capital appreciation rather than for sale in
the ordinary course of business, which is evidenced by the
inception of an operating lease to another party. Any difference
between the fair value of the property at the date of transfer and
its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that
are acquired separately. Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less
any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets
and deferred contract costs other than goodwill
(see accounting policy in respect of goodwill
above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite
useful lives and deferred contract costs to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of tangible and intangible assets are
estimated individually, when it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated
to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for assets
capitalised as contract costs under IFRS 15, the Group assesses
and recognises any impairment loss on other assets related to
the relevant contracts in accordance with applicable standards.
Then, impairment loss, if any, for assets capitalised as contract
costs is recognised to the extent the carrying amounts exceeds
the remaining amount of consideration that the Group expects
to receive in exchange for related goods or services less the
costs which relate directly to providing those goods or services
that have not been recognised as expenses. The assets
capitalised as contract costs are then included in the carrying
amount of the cash-generating unit to which they belong for the
purpose of evaluating impairment of that cash-generating unit.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets
and deferred contract costs other than goodwill
(see accounting policy in respect of goodwill
above) (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets
and deferred contract costs other than goodwill
(see accounting policy in respect of goodwill
above) (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Properties for sale

Completed properties and properties under development for
sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
includes the cost of land, development expenditure, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's accounting
policy, and other attributable expenses.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
properties for sale less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale.

Properties under development for sales are transferred to
completed properties held for sales upon completion.

Properties under development for sales are transferred to
property, plant and equipment when there is a change in use,
evidenced by commencement of owneroccupation which the
carrying amount is carried forward and transferred to property,
plant and equipment as the cost.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # %=

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Inventories

Inventories represent trading merchandises are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories
are determined on a first-in-first-out basis. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable
that the Group will be required to settle that obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

Provisions for land acquired are based on estimates of required
expenditure on the properties. The Group estimates its liabilities
for land acquired based upon detailed calculations of the
amount and timing of the future cash expenditure to perform
the required work, escalated for inflation, then discounted at a
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the liability such
that the amount of provision reflects the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
Provisions for land acquired are added to the cost of properties
for sale in the period in which the obligation is identified.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers since 1
January 2018. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities designated
at fair value through profit or loss “FVTPL') are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payment
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/\F 1+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (upon application of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling the financial assets; and

° the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial application/initial recognition
of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in
other comprehensive income (“OCI") if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which
IFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (upon application of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments in

accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in

the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking;

or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a

hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or

significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
For financial instruments other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the determination that

the asset is no longer credit impaired.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (upon application of IFRS 9 in accordance with
transitions in note 2) (continued)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently,
they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising
from changes in fair value recognised in OCI and accumulated in
FVTOCI reserve; and are not subject to impairment assessment.
The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or
loss on disposal of the equity investments, and will continue to
be held in the FVTOCI reserve.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive
the dividends is established in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery
of part of the cost of the investment. Dividend are included in
the “other income, gains and losses” line item in profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI
are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL (including structured deposits) are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the
“other income, gains and losses” line item in profit or loss.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of IFRS
9 Financial Instruments in accordance with transitions in
note 2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial
assets which are subject to impairment under IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (including trade and other receivables, amounts
due from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, joint
ventures, related parties and associates, restricted bank
deposits, bank balances and cash, and financial guarantees
contracts). The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL’) represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date. Assessment are done based on the Group's historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these assets are collectively using a provision
matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increase in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of IFRS

9 Financial Instruments in accordance with transitions in
note 2) (continued)

i)

Significant increase in credlit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 7 —F— &+ _-A=+—HIFFF

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of IFRS

9 Financial Instruments in accordance with transitions in

note 2) (continued)

i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

° an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.
A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if
i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally
understood definition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 7 —ZE— \F1+ - A=+—HILFEF

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of IFRS

9 Financial Instruments in accordance with transitions in

note 2) (continued)

)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitments
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for
the purposes of assessing the financial instrument
for impairment. In assessing whether there has been
a significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition of financial guarantee contracts, the Group
considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor
will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when the instrument is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &7 —ZE— \F1+ - A=+—HILFZF

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of IFRS
9 Financial Instruments in accordance with transitions in
note 2) (continued)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower's
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of IFRS

9 Financial Instruments in accordance with transitions in

note 2) (continued)

(iv)

(v)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest date determined at initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—1F+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of IFRS
9 Financial Instruments in accordance with transitions in

note 2) (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the expected losses is the
present value of the expected payments to reimburse the
holder of a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that
the Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor
or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the
effective interest rate cannot be determined, the Group
will apply a discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks that
are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent
that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting the
discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances
are recognised at the higher of the amount of the
loss allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9
Financial Instruments; and the amount initially recognised
less, where appropriate, cumulative amount of income
recognised over the guarantee period.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of accounts, where
the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/\F 1+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
on 1 January 2018)

The Group's financial assets are classified into (i) financial assets
at FVTPL, (i) available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial asset and (iii)
loans and receivables. The classification depends on the nature
and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the
time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial asset is classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset
is (i) held for trading or (ii) it is designated as at FTVPL or (iii)
contingent consideration that may be received by an acquirer
as part of a business combination to which IFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking;
or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—)1F+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

on 1 January 2018) (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (continued)

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading or
contingent consideration that may be received by an acquirer as
part of a business combination may be designated as at FVTPL

upon initial recognition if:

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement permits the entire
combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL is stated at fair value, with any gain
or loss arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the other income, gains and losses line item. Fair value is
determined in the manner described in note 47(c).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (contlnued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #tZ& —ZE—\#F+—-H=+— Eitﬁﬁ/"

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
on 1 January 2018) (continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade and other receivables, amounts due from non-
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, amounts due from
related parties, amounts due from joint ventures, amounts due
from associates, restricted bank deposits and bank balances
and cash) are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment (see the accounting policy
in respect of impairment of financial assets below).

Available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial asset

AFS financial asset is non-derivatives that is either designated
or not classified as (a) loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity
investment or (c) financial assets at FVTPL.

Equity and debt security held by the Group that are classified
as AFS financial asset and are traded in an active market are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Changes in the carrying amount of AFS debt instrument relating
to interest income calculated using the effective interest
method is recognised in profit or loss. Dividend on AFS equity
investment is recognised in the profit or loss when the Group'’s
right to receive the dividend is established. Other change in the
carrying amount of AFS financial asset is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading
of revaluation reserve. When the investment is disposed of
or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the revaluation reserve is reclassified
to profit or loss (see the accounting policy in respect of
impairment loss of financial assets below).
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
on 1 January 2018) (continued)

Available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial asset (continued)

AFS equity investment that does not have a quoted market
price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must
be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity investment, it is
measured at cost less any identified impairment loss at the end
of the reporting period (see the accounting policy in respect of
impairment of financial assets below).

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt
instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate, except for short-term receivables where the recognition of
interest would be immaterial.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (contlnued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &2 —ZF— /\F+_-H=+— Eltﬁﬁ/"

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of IFRS 9
Financial Instruments on 1 January 2018)

Financial assets other than those at FVTPL are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial assets,
the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been
affected.

For AFS equity investment, a significant or prolonged decline in
the fair value of that investment below its cost is considered to
be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

° significant financial difficulties of the issuer or
counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest and principal payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of IFRS 9
Financial Instruments on 1 January 2018) (continued)

For certain of financial assets, such as trade receivables, that
are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in addition,
assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could
include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments,
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio
past the credit period, as well as observable changes in national
or local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.

The amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's
original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited against the allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— \F1+ - A=+—HILFZF

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of IFRS 9
Financial Instruments on 1 January 2018) (continued)

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired,
cumulative gains and losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the
period. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent
periods.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements entered
into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in the equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition. Interest expense is
recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including bank and other borrowings,
trade and other payables, amounts due to non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries, amounts due to joint ventures,
amount due to an associate, loans from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries and senior notes and bonds) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective
as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge
relationship.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)

Embedded derivatives (under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
since 1 January 2018)

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts that contain financial
asset hosts within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
are not separated. The entire hybrid contract is classified and
subsequently measured in its entirety as either amortised cost
or fair value as appropriate.

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that
are not financial assets within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments are treated as separate derivatives when they meet
the definition of a derivative, their risks and characteristics are
not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host
contracts are not measured at FVTPL.

Embedded derivatives (before application of IFRS 9
Financial Instruments on 1 January 2018)

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are
treated as separate derivatives when they meet the definition of
a derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely related
to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not
measured at FVTPL.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group and
not designated at FVTPL is recognised initially at fair value.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contract at the higher of:
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts (continued)

(i) the amount of the obligation under the contract, as
determined in accordance with recognition of expected
credit losses under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (since 1
January 2018)/IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets (before application of IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments on 1 January 2018); and

(i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset
to the extent of its continuing involvement and recognises an
associated liability. If the Group retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income is recognised in profit or loss.

China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

o o B s A M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—1F+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

3. FESFHBEE)

THMIA (&)
HBEREX (&)

() BEESHFERENTELIROS
B ARTEREBRRYGHREE
AFIREMTRA(BE=_F—\F—
A—Hie) BRgstERFE 375
B IRBERIREE(RZ
T—N\F—A—HERBERMBER
SHEAE SRR T A ZAT) #ERR
HEEERET &

(i) FERNEERERIERIER
M RETEE (Ems) -

AU TER

AEBRAEEEEERSRENAOE
MEmk T2 ERERSHEENB
REBo RN ERE TGRSR
BE - WAKBERIIFER  TERER
REB g B [ $R 3 A B A R iR B
EAAREEEERRBZEELIALR
BrRERRREAEBAG - WAE
BRERERSHMEERRIT D RER R
B3 AIRNEEEEERZEBEER
HERCWAAERIAZEIRES

REMRILERSREER  ZREE
FHEESWEEEKKERNEMEZH
YRR HESABRENEREN
BEEPRER



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (contlnued)

ok 1 B 5 i M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &2 —ZF— /\F+_-H=+— Eltﬁﬁ/"

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition (continued)

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Critical Accounting Judgments and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the executive directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.
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Critical Accounting Judgments and
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Critical judgment in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgment, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the executive directors have made
in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies and
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxes arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the executive directors of the Company have reviewed
the Group's investment property portfolios and concluded that
the Group's investment properties are not held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties
over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in determining
the Group's deferred taxation on investment properties, the
executive directors have determined that the presumption that
the carrying amounts of investment properties measured using
the fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is not
rebutted. As a result, the Group has recognised deferred taxes
of both enterprise income tax and land appreciation tax on
changes in fair value of all investment properties.

China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B s A M (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—1F+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

BASES o ¥l & (A5t T AR B
ENEERR (&)

FE A& 5T IR 2 BA &2 I

BREMGEF (R TX) BB A TRH
TEERNERASB SRR ZBRE
T EFLESEMBRRAEERZE
BEEATE BRI -

REWEZFELHE

R ERBATEREAAEZRENME
FEEZEEREAMS  AARNITE
SEHARENREYMFEHEGETRE
WAREARENRED R TER AR
MRBMEMEL 2 KB D& B
BEA(MIFEBRHEE)HE - Bt 1
BEREVMEZELENEAR EXCE
T BERRAAFERAGFENKREY
ENREENEBHEETHRNKD 2 KR
WAREKE - At - AEEERAER
EMEAVEEDHALEMEHRE L
MR ETR ZEERIA



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (contlnued)

ok 1 B s A M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #tZ& —ZE—\#F+—-H=+— Eitﬁﬁ/"

Critical Accounting Judgments and
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Determination of net realisable value of properties under
development for sale and completed properties for sale

Properties under development for sale and completed
properties for sale are stated at the lower of the cost and net
realisable value. Cost of each unit in each phase of development
is determined using the weighted average cost method. The
net realisable value is the estimated selling price (which has
taken into account a number of factors including recent prices
achieved for similar property types in the same project or by
similar properties, and the prevailing and forecasted real estate
market conditions in the PRC, Australia, Canada and Hong Kong)
less estimated costs to completion, estimated selling expenses
and estimated sales-related taxes, which are estimated based
on best available information. Where there is any decrease
in the estimated selling price arising or increase in total
construction costs from any changes to the property market
conditions, there may be written down on the properties under
development for sale and completed properties for sale.

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of properties
under development and completed properties for sale
amounted to approximately RMB114,894,214,000 net of
write-down of RMB13,433,000 (2017: carrying amount of
RMB77,069,025,000, net of write-down of RMB13,433,000) in
the PRC, Australia and Canada.
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Critical Accounting Judgments and
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Impairment of hotel assets included in property, plant and
equipment

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment are
reviewed annually and adjusted for impairment in accordance
with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets whenever certain events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. The recoverable amount of the assets
is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
In assessing fair value less costs to sell, a combination of the
market approach and depreciated replacement cost approach
was adopted in assessing the land portion and the buildings
structures of the hotel, respectively, taking into account of
discount for vacancy and cost to sell the hotel property. Details
of the recoverable amount calculation for property, plant and
equipment are disclosed in note 14.

Land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. LAT is prepaid
when properties are pre-sold to the buyers and is provided
when properties are delivered to the buyers and revenue is
recognised. The appropriateness of the rates used, which are
determined by the appreciation of land value. However, the
implementation and settlement of the tax varies amongst
different tax jurisdictions in various cities of the PRC and certain
projects of the Group have not finalised their LAT calculations
and payments with local tax authorities in the PRC. Accordingly,
significant judgment is required in determining the amount of
land appreciation and its related income tax provisions. The
amount of the land appreciation is determined with reference
to proceeds of the sales of properties less the estimated
deductible expenditures, including the cost of land use rights
and relevant property development expenditures. The Group
recognised the LAT based on management's best estimates.
The final tax outcome could be different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, and these differences will impact the
income tax expense and the related income tax provisions in the
periods in which such tax is finalised with local tax authorities.
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Critical Accounting Judgments and
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Income taxes

As at 31 December 2018, a deferred tax asset of
RMB644,858,000 (2017: RMB266,451,000) in relation to
unused tax losses for certain operating subsidiaries has been
recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position. No deferred tax asset has been recognised on the tax
losses of RMB1,681,619,000 (2017: RMB869,621,000) due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams. The realisability of
the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether sufficient
future profits or taxable temporary differences will be available
in the future. In cases where the actual future taxable profits
generated are less or more than expected, or change in facts
and circumstances which result in revision of future taxable
profits estimation, a material reversal of deferred tax assets may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period
in which such a reversal or further recognition takes place.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

The investment properties of the Group are measured at fair
value for financial reporting purposes. The executive directors
of the Company has set up a property valuation team, which
is headed up by the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for
fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an investment property, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages qualified
external valuers to perform the valuation. The valuation team
works closely with the qualified external valuers to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The
Chief Financial Officer reports the valuation team'’s findings to
the executive directors of the Company twice a year to explain
the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets.
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Critical Accounting Judgments and
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes
(continued)

The Group uses valuation technigues that include inputs that are
not based on observable market data to estimate the fair value
of investment properties. Note 16 provides detailed information
about the valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions
used in the determination of the fair value of investment
properties.

Provision for land acquired

The provision for land acquired has been determined by
the executive directors based on their best estimates. The
executive directors of the Company estimated this liability for
land acquired based upon detailed calculations of the amount
and timing of future cash flows spending on the properties
development, escalated for inflation, then discounted at a
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability,
such that the provision reflects the present value of the costs
expected to be required to settle the obligation. However, the
estimate of the associated costs may be subject to change due
to the change of the construction cost in the future. Thus the
provision is reviewed regularly such that it properly reflects the
present value of the obligation arising from the development of
the current and past properties. The movement of provisions for
land acquired during the year is set out in note 44.

China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

B ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—1F+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

BASES o ¥l & (A5t T AR B
ENEERR (&)

fhEr FRME RN EZRIF (&)

RFEBRIGEBRE (&)

AREE KA 85I IF A Al B 5 T 5 BUR
RIKBER I ABIREA R BERID G
REWMENLTE - M 16RREEBEE
EREMEAFEMANGERDT &
ABE KRR R MR A -

B+ 11

WEtitEE I RATESREERE
BRTEE - ITEFREBEVEREZR
KReREMXSBRKHEZFAAE
A LBRERER  BRRREERMHE
BZRITTSHERAERFERR R
RRE  BERERRBBARTAR
ERxXZRE  EmhstZiELne
Bl A ARREBEKSNE
B AETEBEKAAESH AR - &
weERe  NEERRERERE
MEREMEEREEZRE FRKRE
TR B NFIRE 44 -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (contlnued)

ok 1 B s A M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #tZ& —ZE—\#F+—-H=+— Eitﬁﬁ/"

Critical Accounting Judgments and
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Provision of ECL for amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries, related parties, joint ventures
and associates and trade and other receivables

The Group follows the guidance of IFRS 9 to estimates the
amount of loss allowance for ECL on amounts due from non-
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, related parties, joint
ventures and associates and trade and other receivables that
are measured at amortised cost based on the credit risk of the
respective financial instruments. The loss allowance amount
is measured as the asset's carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows with the consideration
of expected future credit loss of the respective financial
instrument. The assessment of the credit risk of the respective
financial instrument involves high degree of estimation and
uncertainty. When the actual future cash flows are less than
expected or more than expected, a material impairment loss or
a material reversal of impairment loss may arise, accordingly.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s amounts due from
non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, related parties,
joint ventures and associates and trade and other receivables
are disclosed in note 47
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &7 —ZE— \F1+ - A=+—HILFZF

5. Revenue 5, BXX
A. For the year ended 31 December 2018 BEZE-_E-—-—NFE+=—AH
=+—BLHFE
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with EEEA W25
customers
Year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-\F+-A=t-HLEFE
Property Property
development investment Others Total
MERR MERE Hith st
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARET T ARET T
Types of goods or services BRI REER
Property development MEER
Residential apartments FEHAE 18,458,948 - - 18,458,948
Commercial apartments [EJEN:] 5,293,476 - - 5,293,476
Retail shops and others TEMH R 4,755,335 - - 4,755,335
Low-density residential EZEEE 1,231,967 - - 1,231,967
29,739,726 - - 29,739,726
Property investment MERA
Commercial and retail shops BERLRER - 185,770 - 185,770
Others Hit
Property management MEER - - 375,716 375,716
Sales of goods HERM - - 379,768 379,768
Others Hith - - 324,854 324,854
- - 1,080,338 1,080,338
Total et 29,739,726 185,770 1,080,338 31,005,834
Timing of revenue recognition W ABERR I
At a point of time RE—FE 29,739,726 - 449,143 30,188,869
Recognised over time R—RER - - 631,195 631,195
29,739,726 - 1,080,338 30,820,064
Rental income HEMA - 185,770 - 185,770
Total FEe 29,739,726 185,770 1,080,338 31,005,834
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5. Revenue (continued)

A.

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(continued)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

For contracts entered into with customers on sales
of properties, the relevant properties specified in the
contracts will be delivered to specified customers with
no alternative use on the relevant properties. Taking into
consideration of the relevant contract terms, the legal
environment and relevant legal precedent, the Group
concluded that the Group does not have an enforceable
right to payment prior to transfer of the relevant properties
to customers. Revenue from sales of properties is
therefore recognised at a point in time when the
completed property is transferred to customers, being
at the point that the customer obtains the control of the
completed property and the Group has present right to
payment and collection of the remaining consideration is
probable.

The Group receives certain percentage of the contract
value as deposits from customers when they sign the sale
and purchase agreement. However, depending on market
conditions, the Group may offer customers a discount
compared to the listed sales price, provided that the
customers agree to pay the balance of the consideration
early while construction is still ongoing. Such advance
payment schemes result in contract liabilities being
recognised throughout the property construction period
for the full amount of the contract price.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—1F+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

5. Revenue (continued)

A.

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(continued)

Performance obligations for contracts with customers
(continued)

The following table shows how much of the revenue
recognised in the current year relates to carried-forward
contract liabilities.

5. EXFE(E)

A BE-Z-NF+=ZA
=t+t—BLFE@E)

EFERNEAEE (&)

TRINFNRAFEEE SRR
RH)E R -

Property
Sales
MEHE
RMB'000
ARBT T
Revenue recognised that was included REVFTAEREFH
in the contract liabilities balance at the EMEREERE
beginning of the year 24,212,040

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations for contracts with customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
unsatisfied performance obligations as at 31 December
2018 and the expected timing of recognising revenue are
as follows for sales of properties:

PEHEEEFENG TEBYEMEHX
Z1E

RZZE—NF+ZA=+—H 5

RER T RATKBEOEENRSE

(RFTERHEBD TR ) MELHE %
RU R FEERRE AT -

Property
development Others Total
WEBR Hith @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR  ARMTR  ARBTR

Within one year —FR
More than one year but not more than two years ~ —ZmM4F
More than two years HRBME
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5. Revenue (continued) 5. X (E)
B. For the year ended 31 December 2017 B &#8zZz_f—+t&+=-A
=+—ALEE
The Group is principally engaged in property development AEBFERPRENREDELZRE N
and property investment in the PRC. An analysis of the MEREER - AEBRFARZ
Group's revenue for the year is as follows: RO -
2017
—tF
RMB'000
AREEFTT
Sale of properties SHEWZE 17,960,391
Rental income iEE A ON 119,032
Hotel, property management services income G - EEERIEBA
and sale of goods KEEED 1,035,832
19,115,255
6. Segment Information 6. DEER
Information regularly reported to the Group's chief executive ROEERRTHEEME RAAEET
officer (the chief operating decision maker) for the purposes of B (EELERKRE) THRENE
resource allocation and assessment of performance focuses REERFERLER o A& BRI B B Bt
on the type of operation. The Group's reportable and operating TR 2RI 28 8 SR A & 1 BR Y Al TR R
segments under IFRS 8 Operating Segments are as follows: EBHELT :
Property development - development and sale of L E LY — BRNMHEYE
properties
Property investment ~ — lease of investment properties MERE = HEREMZH
Others - hotel operation, provision of EAth = KSR TE - 1R
property management services Y3 E 1R AR %
and sale of goods RIHEEM

TERESERNERAT —T-N\FFEH® 247



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

= o ms e ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 7 —F— &+ _-A=+—HIFFF

6. Segment Information (continued) 6. oHER (FE)
No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at the TEERARE B R 25, MR ES PHE
reportable segments of the Group. The following is an analysis Bl e U TRAEBIZA 2R N ZE
of the Group's revenue and results by reportable and operating DEBEI ) S R R EAE DT
segments:

Year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-N\E+-A=t—HLEE

Property Property
development investment Others Total
MERR NERE Hitr @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR  AR%TR  ARBTR  ARMTxR

External segment revenue IMEDEDE S 29,739,726 185,770 1,080,338 31,005,834
Segment profit 2 ERE R 6,321,120 916,491 193,899 7,431,510
Other income, gains and losses HepA - s k&8 (198,097)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBA MR 222,012
Unallocated corporate expenses AOMEERT (125,260)
Share of results of joint ventures [ElEaEhxEE 36,558
Share of results of associates JERH A R AR (1,872)
Finance costs RERA (410,559)

Profit before tax BREA AR A 6,954,292
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6. Segment Information (continued) 6. DEER(EFE)
Year ended 31 December 2017
HE_Z—+FT-_A=1-HLFE
Property Property
development investment Others Total
MEER NERE Hth @5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETFT ARETT ARETT
External segment revenue IMEDEDE %5 17,960,391 119,032 1,035,832 19,115,255
Segment profit DEEF 3,117,062 325,864 384,784 3,827,710
Other income, gains and losses B - Wk EE 291,823
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAREE (4,201)
Unallocated corporate expenses ROBLEHS (105,494)
Share of results of joint ventures [ElhEECEEE (116,390)
Share of results of associates B E AREE 3
Finance costs MEKA (267,859)
Profit before tax BRAEAT A 3,625,592
The accounting policies of the reportable and operating A SR [ A8 o ) @ 5T S BT 3

segments are the same as the Group's accounting policies
described in note 3. Segment results represent the profit
generated or loss incurred by each segment without allocation
of central administration costs including directors’ salaries, head
office operating expenses, certain amount of other income,
gains and losses, finance costs, share of results of associates
and joint ventures and gain (loss) on disposal of subsidiaries.
This is the measure reported to the Group's chief executive
officer for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
by reportable and operating segments:

TRERESEERNDBRAT

PRt AN SR E e S5 ERR AR - 7 B4R
EEDMAESBNHER  WARDE
PRITBAA(BREZFHE - AIKE
FX » A~ W RERNE TS
BB BEBEDQT &é%ﬁ
EXEMHEMB AR R (ER)) -
EZ%TE&%?%%HE&%%EEHHWW$%
BITHAERENTH

AT RAEEIZ A S N EED RS D
MEERBEN :

—E-)\FER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # % —Z&

—NFFZA=F—HIFE

6. Segment Information (continued)

6. THEHR (&)

Segment assets DEPEE
2018 2017
—EB-N\F Tt
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT
Property development L 131,226,532 89,105,766
Property investment MERE 8,886,419 6,399,989
Others HAth 1,473,303 699,561
Total segment assets NEEERE 141,586,254 96,205,316
Unallocated assets: ROTEE
Interests in joint ventures RE E SRR 1,721,376 43,749
Interests in associates AN s 217,131 170,003
Equity instruments at fair value through BAFEFAEMEE RS
other comprehensive income HIRR AT A 31,465 -
Deferred tax assets LTI E B 676,948 305,272
Amounts due from joint ventures JEULE S FER 1,412,873 1,020,875
Amounts due from associates &N —J/TA 48,292 73,625
Tax recoverable AR EE & 1,967,938 1,040,960
Financial assets at FVTPL BRATEFABENSREE 524,400 200,000
Structured deposits R 1,328,000 =
Derivative financial instruments PTEEmITEA - 4,377
Restricted bank deposits SRR HIIRITIFEK 2,281,255 1,770,880
Bank balances and cash RITESHRRIRE 36,012,289 24,769,183
Others Hi 1,049,998 201,721
Consolidated assets HEEE 188,858,219 125,805,861
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/\F 1+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

jial

6. Segment Information (continued) 6. DIPERE(E)

Segment liabilities Sl =i
2018 2017
—E-N\F Tt
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETTT
Property development L 90,461,280 53,868,630
Property investment YERE 60,863 53,873
Others HAb 459,852 296,847
Total segment liabilities DEPEELRE 90,981,995 54,219,350

Unallocated liabilities: KoL afs :

Bank and other borrowings HRITREABE K 40,751,350 27,794,316
Senior notes and bonds BEERENES 16,970,161 12,575,445
Amounts due to joint ventures JEf & & ¥RTE 2,402,017 227,332
Amount due to an associate e — B & A R RUR 49 20
Tax liabilities MIEEE 5,534,968 3,171,912
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIES & 1,184,072 691,196
Obligations under finance leases BB EFE 299,761 =
Consolidated liabilities meaff 158,124,373 98,679,571

For the purposes monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources among segments:

o all assets are allocated to reportable and operating
segments other than certain amount of property,
plant and equipment, interests in associates and joint
ventures, equity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, deferred tax assets, amounts
due from joint ventures and associates, tax recoverable,
financial assets at FVTPL, derivative financial instruments,
structured deposits, restricted bank deposits, bank
balances and cash and other assets not attributable to
respective segment.

° all liabilities are allocated to reportable and operating
segments other than bank and other borrowings, senior
notes and bonds, amounts due to joint ventures and
an associate, tax liabilities, deferred tax liabilities and
obligations under finance leases not attributable to
respective segment.

IERSBEERED BEIEERM

il

FIEEEREDEERAHREREE
DB ML IEBE D EEIGEY
X BENMRENETEE - N8
BRAIRBERENER  HAF
B AEME2HKENRATA

BEEHBEE - BRA

NS YN

BRAIFIEA  JREHRE - HAF
B \BRZ2MEE  1TEER
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XRBIRITE

R |RITEHREBRSARRMEE

BRI ©

FERBERES R RENREE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &7 —ZE— \F1+ - A=+—HILFZF

6. Segment Information (continued)

Other segment information

6. 2EEX (F)
Hitb o EE R

Year ended 31 December 2018
BE-F-N\E+-A=1-HLEE

Property Property
development investment Others  Unallocated Total
NERR NERE Hih FAE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETRT  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR
Amounts included in the measure of — EXGHES Tz
segment profit or loss or segment ARHEERT A2 -
assets:
Additions of property, plant and % BEREERE
equipment 368,748 - 69,845 500,391 938,984
Additions of investment properties RENERE - 206,412 - - 206,412
Depreciation of property, plant 0% BEREENE
and equipment 41,889 - 53,164 23,296 118,349
Amortisation of intangible assets B BERH - - 1,098 - 1,098
Release of prepaid lease payments B EMNZEE - - 435 7,168 7,603
Gain on disposal of property, plantand  HENE - BiRE kR ERE
equipment 1374 - 226 36 1,636
Change in fair value of investment RENFAT(EZ
properties - 544,467 - - 544,467
Recognition of increase in fair value ~ REBERENEE
of completed properties upon BARHEERAT
transfer to investment properties MENATEES) - 320,741 - - 320,741
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/\F 1+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

Other segment information (continued)

6. Segment Information (continued)

6. THEHR (&)

Hftt o ZRE R ()

Year ended 31 December 2017
BE-TtE+-A=T-BLEE

jial

Property Property
development investment Others Unallocated Total
ELA MERE At ROE FCh
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
N S ARETT  ARETT  ARETR AREFT
Amounts included in the measure of — EXGHES Bz
segment profit or loss or segment AR WEERE A2
assets:
Additions of property, plant and % - BEREERE
equipment 43,966 - 50,495 29,931 124,392
Additions of investment properties RENERE - 647,993 - = 647,993
Depreciation of property, plant 0¥ BERERENE
and equipment 26,736 - 21,492 5,100 53,328
Amortisation of intangible assets BYAERH - - 656 - 656
Release of prepaid lease payments BN ERZEE - - 478 = 478
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE  BERIESE
plant and equipment 3,246 - 913 - 4,159
Change in fair value of investment RENFATES
properties - 336,543 - - 336,543
PREREBESEROBRAR T N\FFWm
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—1F+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

6. Segment Information (continued)
Geographical information

The Group's operations and location of non-current assets
are substantially in the PRC. Information about the Group's
revenue from continuing operations from external customers
is presented based on location of the operations. Information
about the Group’s non-current assets is presented based on the
geographical location of the assets.

D ERER (&)

AEEREXBRIFRDEEMMH TR
URFE - BEAKRERAINEELH
BREVGEHENREEEHE L7 -
BRAAKBERBEENERNREBEE
BRI B 25 o

Revenue from

external customers

for the year ended Non-current assets
31 December as at 31 December
BE+t-A=+—HLEE R+=—HA=+—H
REIIMBEFHBA WERBEE

2018 2017 2018 2017
—2-NE —TtF ZF-N\F FTF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RIMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETT AR¥TRT ARBTT
Mainland China N7 30,529,394 19,092,379 16,981,589 9,688,353
Hong Kong BB - - 22,435 4,508
Australia N 433,220 1,158 28,602 1,710
Canada mEX 43,220 21,718 18,040 1,066
31,005,834 19,115,255 17,050,666 9,695,637

Information about major customers
There is no individual customer who contributed over 10%

of the total revenue of the Group during the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok 1 B B i M (A

Other Income, Gains and Losses

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—1F+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

7. HttlA -~ WEKREE

2018 2017
—EB-N\F —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETTT
Exchange (loss) gain bE S (B51R) Y (605,329) 407,402
Gain (loss) on change in fair value of PTEemIT AN EES)
derivative financial instruments Was (E18) 46 (78,484)
Gain on disposal of AFS investments HERH SR E R - 29,153
Gain from changes in fair value of financial ZAFETABRNERIEE
assets at FVTPL N EEE W E 24,400 -
Loss on early redemptions of senior notes iR ERIE L ZE 7 Ei8 - (198,808)
Bank interest income RITALEHA 179,231 75,130
Other interest income HAbF S WA 78,902 19,681
Government subsidy BT 4R B 47,144 2,894
Others (note) HoAth, (F3E) 67,605 34,855
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BRE RE&BEYE
equipment 7,636 -
Dividend income from equity instruments R E&R A ET A i 2 EUES
at fair value through other comprehensive ~ Z AT A 7 f& B A
income 2,268 -
Impairment losses on trade and other B 5 N EMERFREER
receivables (24,874) -
(222,971) 291,823
Note: Others mainly include the forfeited deposits from customers. fisE : EEZEREINEFTE °
FREBESEEROBRAT T N\FER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #ZE - FE— \F1+ - A=+—HILFZF

8. Finance Costs 8. MMEMK
2018 2017
—EB-N\F —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥TT ARETTT
Interest on: LA EIERALE

Bank and other borrowings SRIT S H AR 2,584,411 1,024,337

Loans from non-controlling shareholders PYELTEPNSIE =20
of subsidiaries B 150,139 134,732
Senior notes and bonds (note 43) BEEERES (F:E43) 1,140,333 916,077
Amount due to a joint venture JE—fE & & FEFRIE 64,800 =
Other payables H 3R 29,587 25,105
Obligations under finance leases b & TR EAE 6,644 =
Others HAb - 34,804
Total borrowing costs EE KA 4258 3,975,914 2,135,055

Less: amounts capitalised to properties B BRI HIHE R
under development for sale BRI SR (3,515,793) (1,848,773)

amounts capitalised to investment ERTEEIREmE

properties under construction =&\l (49,562) (18,423)
410,559 267,859

Interest capitalised arose on the general borrowing pool of

the Group was calculated by applying a capitalisation rate of

approximately 6.95% (2017: 6.52%) per annum to expenditure

on the qualifying assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) |:_'J —
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—1F+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

Profit Before Tax 9. BR¥BEADER
2018 2017
—2-N\F —E—tF
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Profit before tax has been arrived at after BRAE AT A IR FNER
charging (crediting): (FFEA)VA TS IE G ER -
Auditors' remuneration ZER & 7.180 4,800
Directors’ emoluments (note 11) E=Me (1) 15,758 12,734
Staff salaries BT1%H% 1,452,888 763,943
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIREFETEIfER 81,494 34,423
Share-based payments PARR A A ETEE 3R 7,830 1,100
Total staff costs BT 1,557,970 812,200
Less: amounts capitalised to properties W ERAIIHE R E
under development for sale w0k (590,624) (166,511)
967,346 645,689
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense REBMAIZHTFERE 20,921,785 13,857,771
Release of prepaid lease payments TBNAEMRER 7,603 478
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% - BiE MRETE 118,349 53,328
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEEH
(included in administrative expenses) (FTAfTBAY) 1,098 656
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BE k%
plant and equipment (ezs) B518 (7,636) 4,159
Rental expenses in respect of rented BECEHER HHET
premises under operating leases Hemt 102,524 38,686
Gross rental income in respect of B EMEABHRASIA
investment properties (185,770) (119,032)
Less: direct operating expenses from B BRREREERERAR
investment properties that generated REMENERELERT
rental income during the year 47,520 33,778
(138,250) (85,254)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #ZE - FE— \F1+ - A=+—HILFZF

10. Income Tax Expense

10. FTEBIREX

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥TT ARETTT
Income tax expense recognised ERERFTSH RS 81E
comprises of:
Current tax: BNERFHIA -
Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") EMEH ( [EMSH] ) 2,067,166 972,040
LAT T ibIRER 1,925,216 727,997
Other jurisdiction HAb R AR - 206
3,992,382 1,700,243
Deferred tax (note 22) FEIEFRIA (FIFE22)
PRC # 16,287 (16,600)
Other jurisdiction HthmDERE R 6,156 (10,003)
22,443 (26,603)
Income tax expense for the year FRFEHRY 4,014,825 1,673,640

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on EIT (the
"EIT Law") and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008
onwards.

Under the Provisional Regulations of the People’'s Republic
of China on LAT (the “LAT Provisional Regulations”) and
Implementation Regulation of the LAT Provisional Regulations,
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is levied at progressive
rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land
value, being the proceeds of sales of properties less deductible
expenditures including cost of land use rights and relevant
property development expenditures.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in
the consolidated financial statements as the Group's income
neither arises in, nor is derived from, Hong Kong.

China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (contlnued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &2 —ZF— /) \F+_-H=+— Eltﬁﬁ/"

10. Income Tax Expense (continued)

Under Australian tax law, the tax rate used for the year is
30% (2017: 30%) on taxable profits on Australian incorporated
entities. The Australian subsidiaries of the Company are
considered as an income tax consolidated group and are taxed
as a simple entity. No tax provision for Australian profits tax
has been made in the consolidated financial statements for
both years ended as there were no assessable profit arises
in Australia. Under Canadian tax law, the tax rate used for the
year is 26.5% (2017: 26.5%) on taxable profits on Canadian
incorporated entities.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before tax per consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

10. FriSBiRAxx (&)

RIBRMEE - Ei&liﬂ‘l‘l%ﬂ%ﬁz_‘ZZE‘fﬁg
REZFFRAERBOAN R ER30% (=
—+F 30%) o AR EEEMNHE A
WR B —EAMSHES R RIRE — ,%fi
SERD o B3 A WM 4R JZ PR A A RSB

ERARBGAN - ML BN R A M BEREK
RBLBEIMN A SRR L IR B R - ARIB IO

ZERBE Eﬂﬂiﬁ%ﬂ%)ﬂiiZ%ﬁf
FEAAERB AR R A26.5%
—+F :265%) °

FANMIHAXEGaREEME
W R AR BR T ADE N BRI T

2018 2017
—E2-N\F —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETRT AREFTT
Profit before tax BR 50 A A 6,954,292 3,625,592
Tax charge at domestic tax rate of 25% BRI R 25% H E AT IES H 1,738,573 906,398
Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures ~ JER & E D% REEE N R EER
and associates MR E (8,671) 29,098
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for PAHBRA AR B E
tax purpose 508,887 203,345
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose /BRI A K TR IS5/ 2 (58,991) (170,062)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERTIEBENRETE 229,795 113,471
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised &/ 5t B AER T HE B (16,831) (10,211)
LAT provision T IR {E TR 1,925,216 727,997
Tax effect of LAT THIEERORBETE (481,304) (181,999)
Deferred tax effect of LAT on revaluation of EHIREMEN T IEETR
investment properties R IER 2 178,168 57,944
Effect of different tax rate of subsidiaries FHM B AR EEEER
operating in other jurisdictions BB R RERATRARENE 1,026 (2,341)
Differential tax rate on temporary differences MBAREREEE L HEER
of subsidiaries (1,365) -
Others HAh 322 -
Income tax expense for the year FRATEHRY 4,014,825 1,673,640
FEAEEEERNDARAR ZT—N\FFER

o P
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #ZE - FE— \F1+ - A=+—HILFZF

11. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and Employees’ 11. % S ETHRAERESWH

Remuneration €
Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, FAREEREBITEA B RE B (KRERE
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and Hong B ETRBEEBSAREAIKRE) T :

Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Performance
Salaries and related Share-based
Fees allowances bonus payments Total
BRRABH U 5
e HeREM ML  EfzAX At

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR

(note)
(Hizt)
Year ended 31 December 2018  HE-F—N\&
+-A=+-HLEE
Executive director: HITEE
Guo Zi Wen R - 2,57 - - 2571
Guo Zi Ning ez - 2,394 755 - 3,149
Zhong Ping &Y - 2,216 215 495 2,926
Ma Jun 5 - 2,625 405 3,162 6,192
Independent non-executive director: BV FFHTEE :
Tsui King Fai REE 332 - - - 332
Cheung Kwok Keung REIR 327 - - - 327
Hu Jiang T 261 - - - 261
920 9,806 1,375 3,657 15,758
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—1F+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

11. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and Employees’ 11. % S ETHRAERESWH

Remuneration (continued) £ (88)
Performance
Salaries and related
Fees allowances bonus Total
RRIEW
we e Kz FIEAT =
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
(note)
(Bi3)
Year ended 31 December 2017 HE-ZT—+4
T-A=+—HBLEE
Executive director: BITES !
Guo Zi Wen RN - 2,635 - 2,635
Guo Zi Ning ez - 2,453 790 3,243
Zhong Ping fERC — 2,271 220 2,491
Ma Jun 5E - 2,625 720 3,345
Non-executive director: FERITES :
Yang Zhong (resigned on R (RZE—+F
26 May 2017) AR +/SBEE) = 108 = 108
Independent non-executive B IETES -
director:
Tsui King Fai Gy 329 - - 329
Cheung Kwok Keung R EoE 324 - - 324
Hu Jiang T 259 - - 259
912 10,092 1,730 12,734
Note: The performance related bonus is determined as a percentage of the Misk : BRBERNEAREAEEREEZ-F
contract sales of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 —NFEER=ZF—+tF+=-A=1+—HLFE
ERHESTEADLLERE -
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly EERARMITEESTM I EEREEE
for their services in connection with the management of the RAE| RAEEEE 2 HAREMXT

affairs of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown ERARBYIFNTESTH O EESR
above were mainly for their services as directors of the HERARRIESFTRERBMKT
Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

B ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/1F+ - HA=+—HI F/E

11. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and Employees’
Remuneration (continued)

Mr. Guo Zi Ning is also the Chief Executive of the Company and
his remuneration disclosed above includes those for services
rendered by him as the Chief Executive.

No directors waive any emolument during the current year
or the prior year and none of the directors have received any
inducement pay for joining or upon joining the Company.

Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (2017: four) were executive directors and the Chief
Executive of the Company whose emoluments are included
in the disclosures in this note above. The emoluments of the
remaining two (2017: one) individual was as follows:

11.

BEE - FRTRAEBRESH
% (&)

BEERENRRARBITHRAR - ER
ERAMBETFMEREEERTRAS
PRt ARTS 2 tEREAS M

RAFES E—FE  BBEESIHELT
AFMEMEESRMALE BEMA
RNRAMERERES -

EEME

AEBAGERTMALS =R (=ZF
—+tF W) BARBRTEEREE
TBAE  BENBSE N EARKM
o HBEMA(ZT—+F: —%) A
THBMESIT -

2018 2017
—EB-N\F —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT T ARETTT
Salaries and allowances e KRR 6,749 3,850
Performance related bonus BRI IEAL 3,524 1,440
Share-based payments LARR 1R BERE 2 3K 4,164 550
14,437 5,840
The emoluments were within the following bands: HINSENT :
2018 2017
—E-N\E —EF—tF
No. of No. of
employees employees
BE A" BB A
HK$9,000,001 to HK$9,500,000 9,000,001 77T £ 9,500,000 & 7T
(equivalent to RMB7,886,001 (FBER AR 7,886,001 TE
to RMB8,324,000) AR 8,324,000 T) 1 -
HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000 7,000,001 A7TZ 7,500,000 47T
(equivalent to RMB6,133,001 (FBER AR 6,133,001 7T
to RMB6,572,000) Z ANR#¥6,572,0007T) 1 -
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 6,500,001 77T 7,000,000 77T
(equivalent to R\MIB5,433,001 (FBER AR 5,433,001 7T
to RMB5,581,000) Z ARE#¥5,581,0007T) - 1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (contlnued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &2 —ZF— /) \F+_-H=+— Eltﬁﬁ/"

Directors’, Chief Executive’s and Employees’
Remuneration (continued)

Employees’ emoluments (continued)

During the year, no emolument was paid by the Group to any
of the directors or the five highest paid individuals (including
directors and employees) as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

1M1. B FETHAERESH

= (&)
BEMSE (&)

TR NEEYESS TS TER
EERhEHZSTHAL(BRESRE
B)ERIMAER INARE B R A EE 3k
BERKESROME(E -

Dividends 12. RE
2018 2017
—®-NF —tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREEFTT
Dividends, recognised as distribution fRE - EREFADIK
during the year:
2017 final dividend of RMB25 cents — T ERIKRE - B
(2017: 2016 final dividend RMB9.7 cents) AR¥259 (ZF—+F :
per share TERNEREBRE
AR®E9.75) 670,393 259,143
2017 special dividend: nil —tFRERIRE-B
(2017: RMB5.3 cents) per share (Z=—+5F : AR¥53%) - 141,593
670,393 400,736
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend in NIBEHAR 4 H % S RAREFHD

respect of the year ended 31 December 2018 of RMB36 cents
(equivalent to HK42 cents) per ordinary share, in an aggregate
amount of RMB964,038,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,124,711,000), taking into account the 2,677883,354
ordinary shares in issue at the reporting date, have been
proposed by the Board of Directors and is subject to approval
by the shareholders of the Company in the forthcoming annual
general meeting. The final dividend proposed after the end of
the reporting period have not been recognised as liabilities in
these consolidated financial statements.

TERESEROHBERQA

1T H2,677,883,354 1k L@ B =
gREMBE_T—N\F+A=1+—
HIEFERNREARETGREBRA

R¥3I6D(ER42EBMW) (AHEARE
964,038,000 7T (49555 1,124,711,000 74
J0)) WA R R R RN EERREE
FREHEHEREE - MEMKREES
KT H AR BRI B R AR 6 B IS R
ERRBARE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #ZE - FE— \F1+ - A=+—HILFZF

13. Earnings Per Share

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following

13. BRAER

TRBE T OIBURAE

RRABHRA ANEEFRERNNEER T

data:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T AREEFTT
Earnings 2
Earnings for the purposes of basic and MERER KSR = 7
diluted earnings per share, being profit AF) - BIARAFHEE A
for the year attributable to owners of FE (R A5 F]
the Company 2,408,877 1,639,928
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
‘000 ‘000
Fr FIT
Number of shares R EH
Weighted average number of ordinary shares  #t & IGEANZ R = H @A
for the purpose of basic earnings per share  JI#EF19EL 2,679,195 2,673,106
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: TR ETE T E
— Share options - Bt 392 3,086
Weighted average number of ordinary shares  sLEREEE BTN S H T @K
for the purpose of diluted earnings per share  1#EF5# 2,679,587 2,676,192

China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (contlnued) |_J
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &2 —ZF— /) \F+_-H=+— Eltﬁﬁ/"

14. Property, Plant and Equipment 14. ¥  BERZE
Building under
development/
Construction Office Transportation ~ Leasehold Plant and
Buildings ~inprogress  equipment vehicles improvements  machinery Total
BEYET

B SEEIR  BORR  EHER ERNRRE  WERES &it
RMBO00  RMBOOO  RMBOO  RMBOOO  RMBOX  RMBON0  RMBYOOO
ARRTR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARMTR

COST B

At1 January 2017 R-E-+F-f-A 494555 101,01 116,831 56,483 87,709 - 856,599
Exchange realignment R - - 13 8 9 = 30
Additions HE 18728 366 45,171 12,865 46,401 81 124,39
Aoguistions of subsidiaries (note 48 HEHER <Mm8> 79,084 - 8874 2679 6006 BAIEL 160825
Disposals of subsidiaries HEHEA - - (4.928) = (197) = (5,125)
Disposals & - - (2690 3913 1854 - (7161)
At 31 December 2017 RZF-tETZA=1-A 592,367 101,387 163,271 68,122 139,394 55,023 1119564
Exchange realignment [ (201) - (140) (39) (133) - (513)
Additions TE 19,544 279,882 84,915 505,248 49,395 - 938,984
Acquisitons of subsidiaries (note 48) G NG RT) 80,490 - 10,260 634 113,087 - 20941
Transferred from property under development  EEBEENE - 481,899 - - - - 481,899
Disposals of subsidiaries HENEAR (65,800) (541) 4.357) (188) (37,015 (55023 (162,924)
Disposals ik (15,299) - (2,865 (399) - - (18563
At 31 December 2018 R-F-\E+-A=1-A 611,101 862,621 251,084 573,378 269,728 - 2567918
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT TERFE

At1 January 2017 W=F-+#-A-A 185,922 - 69,705 34,949 60,040 - 350,616
Exchange realignment Ej A - - 1 - - - 1
Provided for the year EREE 12881 - 17143 9,052 13865 %7 53,328
Fiiminated on disposals of subsidiaries HERBARNHYS - - (322) - (56) - (378)
Eliminated on disposals HERH - - (753 (2,245) = = (2,998)
At 31 Decernber 2017 RZE-tE+ZA=1-A 198,803 - 85,774 41,756 73,849 37 400,569
Exchange realignment A (31 - (36) 2 (6) - (79)
Provided for the year Enkk 19,655 - 50,907 24,188 2599 - 113349
Eliminated on disposals of subsidiaries HEHBARNHE (119) - (112) 4 (64) (387) (686)
Eliminated on disposals HERHH (6,067) - (969) (395) - - (7431)
At 31 Decernber 2018 RZE-NE+ZA=1-A 212,41 - 135,564 65,543 97,378 - 510,726
CARRYING VALUES FERE

At 31 Decernber 2018 RZ5-\E+ZA=1+-A 398,860 862,627 115,520 507,835 172,350 - 205119
At 31 Decernber 2017 2 g o il 393564 101,387 71497 26,366 65,545 54,636 718,995
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except
building under development/construction in progress, are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the following estimated

useful lives:

Buildings Over the shorter of the relevant lease term or
3%-5% per annum

Office equipment 3to b years

Transportation vehicles 3to 15 years

Leasehold improvements  Over the shorter of relevant lease term or
3to b years

Plant and machineries 5to 15 years

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the management
of the Group performed a valuation on a hotel property which
is included in “Buildings"” category of property, plant and
equipment, and impairment loss of RMB125,000,000 has
been made according to the excess of the aggregate carrying
amounts of the hotel property over the recoverable amount
which is determined as the fair value less costs to sell of this
hotel property. The fair value of the hotel property was arrived
at using a combination of land portion of the hotel which was
assessed by the market approach, and buildings and structures
portion which was assessed by depreciated replacement
cost approach (“DRC"). The market value of land portion was
referenced to the comparable land transactions in Guangzhou,
the PRC. The DRC approach considers the current cost of
replacement of the buildings and improvements less deductions
for physical deterioration and all relevant forms of obsolescence
and optimisation. The DRC approach generally furnishes the
most reliable indication of value for the hotel property in the
absence of a known market based on comparable sales. In the
opinion of the management of the Group, the carrying amount
of hotel property approximates to its recoverable amount and
no impairment was recognised during the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017

China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

B ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #ZE - FE— \F1+ - A=+—HILFZF

14. Y% > BMERRE (E)

Ltz - BB RRE (BRPEF E
BTRZERIN) TR TG AT B F B
BHAORETINERTE ¢

BF MHRATE Sk
FFE3%5% 2BEE

/NG =ERF

EREE =Et+aF

HEMEEE BEEEHK

BE Nk  AZE+TAF

REE-T——F+-A=+—HIHF
E AEEEREHBERDE  BE
&R [EF ] AR 2 BEMZEEL
B BEYEZEEAERLTKRE S
FHOAVBEWERAFERDERAK) B
1B B 18 A A R 125,000,000 7T © B
EMEZ AN FEEAREE TS
RAmEE  MEFRIBEDME S ERT
ESERANHEEEXALD AEER
B o THFHTISEELEPBEEM
AELL Rz TR 5B - TEEERK
NEZREBFRIEZE ZHERFEEKA -
BERBERBRERMABRBEA 2KRE
REAEL 2R - —MmME + LR
EAAEERMGHEERRZBERLT -
MESEERNEZRHERASZEZEED
XEEEZR AEETEERA B
MENERmEERLYESERE - A
REBE-_Z-N\FE-ZE—tF+=A
=T —HIEFEBERRT(TRE -
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15.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok 1 B B i M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—1F+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

As at 31 December 2018, buildings and construction in progress
of RMB793,818,000 (2017: buildings and plant and machinery
of RMB393,873,000) were pledged for certain banking facilities
granted to the Group. All the buildings of the Group are situated
on leasehold land in the PRC under medium lease term.

As at 31 December 2018, transportation vehicles amounting to
RMB482,953,000 (2017: Nil) is held under finance leases.

Prepaid Lease Payments

The carrying amount of prepaid lease payments represents land
use rights held under medium-term lease in the PRC is analysed
as follows:

14. Y% > BMERRE (E)

15.

R-ZT—N\FE+-_A=+—H BRAK
SEMERETRITEEMEFEFR
EETIERHARYT793,818,0007T (=
T—+tF EFEBEREBF[ARE
393,873,0007T) ° NEBFTA MR
HETHMEFTIET BHRERRES -

RZBE—-N\E+-A=+—8B EHE
i A R #482,953,000 7 ( =& —H 4 -
&) IRERERERS -

RAHRENR

NHEERREEERNHBERET HHE
ERANLHERAE - DTWT

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREFIT

Non-current asset IEmENEE 337,977 80,735
Current asset mENEE 14,772 2,080
352,749 82,815

As at 31 December 2018, RMB338,245,000 (2017:
RMB23,056,000) prepaid lease payment were pledged for
certain banking facilities granted to the Group. All the prepaid
lease payment of the Group are situated on leasehold land in the
PRC under medium lease term.

TRERESEERNDERAT

R-ZTE—N\E+-_A=+—8 BMNHE
EF0E AR #338,245,000 T (=T —+
F: AR¥23,056,0007T) DAL EE
BRETRITREEER - XEBRBEE
NEEFERTREBEFHEERBH
FHELH -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 7 —F— &+ _-A=+—HIFFF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

16. Investment Properties 16. REWE
Investment
Completed properties
investment under
properties construction Total
B®RT T2
REWE REWE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR%®TR AR%®TR
At 1 January 2017 RZZE—+F—H—H 2,698,978 2,825,529 5,424,507
Additions NE - 647,993 647,993
Transfer upon completion of RIEERR TR T 18 885
construction work 790,638 (790,638) -
Disposals ﬁ% (48,839) - (48,839)
Net change in fair value recognised in RirEBEakEMER
the consolidated statement of profit or H&ﬁﬁi‘%ﬁq TR
loss and other comprehensive income A {EE 8% 48 47,699 288,844 336,543
At 31 December 2017 RZB—+F+-A=+—8H 3,388,476 2,971,728 6,360,204
Acquisitions of subsidiaries (note 48) WiEkT B A A (FIRE48) 703,900 - 703,900
Additions NE - 206,412 206,412
Transfer upon completion of RER TR T 1R85
construction work 1,505,365 (1,505,365) -
Disposals HE (162,589) - (162,589)
Transfer from properties for sale (note) iii}% B S (W) 1,181,099 - 1,181,099
Net change in fair value recognised in RErEEsREMEZE
the consolidated statement of profit or Hﬂ(ﬁﬁ?%lﬁﬁ@imﬂ’\]
loss and other comprehensive income A {EE 8)%5E 381,122 163,345 544,467
At 31 December 2018 RZZE—N\F+ZH=+—H 6,997,373 1,836,120 8,833,493
Note: During the year ended 31 December 2018, the inception of the operating fizE: RBZE=E—/\F+=-A=+—HLLFE "

lease to outsiders for certain properties results in a transfer from
properties for sale to completed investment properties. On the date of
reclassification, the gain of RMB320,741,000 between the fair value of the
properties and its carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (contlnued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &2 —ZF— /) \F+_-H=+— Eltﬁﬁ/"

16. Investment Properties (continued)

All of the Group's property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are
measured using the fair value model and are classified and
accounted for as investment properties.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

At 31 December 2018, investment properties of
RMB3,216,774,000 (2017: RMB1,637.193,000) were pledged to
secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group.

The fair values of investment properties under construction
and completed investment properties were determined by
reference to valuations carried out by Jones Lang LaSalle
Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited, a qualified external
valuer which is not connected with the Group. The fair values
of the investment properties were determined by the qualified
external valuer on the following basis:

Completed — by reference to capitalised income
investment to be derived from the tenancies and
properties the reversionary income potential of
the properties or, where appropriate,
by reference to market evidence of
transaction prices for similar properties in
the same locations and conditions
Investment — by reference to the current or recent
properties prices of investment properties and
under estimated costs to completion based

construction on construction budget, committed
contracts, allowances for contingencies
as well as developer’s profit margin,
which reflect the risks associated with
the completion of the development of the
properties and in achieving the anticipated
income or capital appreciation on the date

of valuation

TRERESEERNDERAT

16. ZREY = (&)

PIBEAREBREEHERFRIES K
BREARENYERES  DRAQT
BRI ES D BRARINBREYE -

FEIE A BB AKE, o

R_ZE—NE+-_A=+—8 K&H
BEEFARES,216,774,0000( = ZF—+
& ANR#1,637,193,0007T) & Y
¥ DESETAEEMNETRITEE

ERREMENCRIREVENRF
B H2EEAEEHERENHEH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &7 —ZE— \F1+ - A=+—HILFZF

16. Investment Properties (continued) 16. REWE (&)
The following tables give information about how the fair values TRINTBANNEEZSREMER
of these investment properties are determined (in particular, FEMER (CEEMERTGRFTABA
the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair HIE) U RIBRIBE N FE 2R B A S
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are MABREERENATETEMER
categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the FEER(F1HREEIR) -

inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the PEEHIEEMEN AT ER BEYE
highest and best use of the investment properties is their VERARAESE RRERR -

current use.

At 31 December 2018 R-B—-NE+=-A=+—8H
Valuation Significant unobservable inputs Range

Investment properties Fair value Fair value ~ techniques (relationship of unobservable (weighted

held by the Group RMB'000 hierarchy and key inputs inputs to fair value) average) Sensitivity

AEERAN AR ATE AVESREERDR  EATTERBANE L] HEE

Y ARETT 0 rERAE (FERA\FRREATENBER)  (NETHE)

Completed investment 6,886,459 Level 3 Income capitalisation 1. Termyield (the higher the 25%-6.0% Aslight increase in term yield would
properties, including method - income term yield, the lower the fair value) not result in significant decrease in
retail shops and capitalisation of the fair value, and vice versa.
commercial buildings net income and

made provisions for 2. Reversionary yield (the higher the  3.0%-6.5% Aslight increase in reversionary

reversionary income reversionary yield, the yield would not result in significant

potential. lower the fair value) decrease in fair value, and vice
Versa.

Investment properties under 523,300 Level 3 3. Unit rent (RMB/sqm/month) (the ~ 7-304 Asignificant increase/decrease
construction including higher the unit rent, the higher the in unit rent would not result in
commercial buildings fair value) significant increase/decrease in fair

value.
7,409,759
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—ZE— /\E+—-H=+— Eltff/"

16. Investment Properties (continued)

16. REWE (&)

At 31 December 2018 (continued) R-ZE—-NFE+=—H=1+—H (&)
Valuation Significant unobservable inputs Range
Investment properties Fair value Fair value ~ techniques (relationship of unobservable (weighted
held by the Group RMB'000 hierarchy and key inputs inputs to fair value) average) Sensitivity
AEERAN AT ATE ATEEREERDR  EATTBRBAMER L] HEE
RENE NS R TERAEE (TUBERARBESATENBER)  (NETHE)
BRIRENE 6,886,459 | WAEMOE-BUAY 1. EEE (REMEEE - 25%-60%  EEMEENENFEHATE
(PRTEBBRAFA WARAL UAEE  DTEEE) KBRS - R -
E) WAL -
2 kS (ERRELS 30%-65%  EHMGENENFEIHATE
ATHEH(E) KBRS - R -
523300 236 3. BBe(ARM/THk/A)  7-3u BN AB LA/ THTEIH
EERENE (Bfrfidusn  ATEES) AFEAREN/ B -
(REBZAR)
7,409,759
Completed investment 110,914 Level 3 Direct comparison method Adjustment made to account for N/A NA
properties, including -based onmarket  differences in location and level
retail shops and office observable transactions
of similar properties and
adjusted to reflect the
conditions of the subject
property.
BRIRENZ 110,914 23 ERURE-BEEUNE S RERZREL IR 0l AR
(RRTERBRAAE) GEEEESER
et AN RIS
RN -

TRERESEERNDBRAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 7 —FE— \F1+ - A=+—HILFEF

272

16. Investment Properties (continued)

At 31 December 2018 (continued)

16. REWE (&)

R=Z2-NF+=-A=+—R (&)

Valuation Significant unobservable inputs Range

Investment properties Fair value Fair value  techniques (relationship of unobservable (weighted

held by the Group RMB'000 hierarchy and key inputs inputs to fair value) average) Sensitivity

ASERAN AT ATE ATEEREERDR  EATTBRBAMR L] HEE

RENE NS R TERAEE (FIBERABBEEATENBER)  (METHE)

Investment properties 904,000 Level 3 Residual method - hased on1.  Gross development value (RMB'000) 165,570 - 343,400 A significant increase/decrease in
under construction, gross development value  on completion basis (the higher the gross development value would
including retail shops and and taken into account gross development valug, the result in significant increase/
commercial buildings the construction coststo higher the fair value) decrease in fair value.

completion, developer's
profit, marketing costs. 2. Developer's profit (the higher the ~ 10%-15% Asignificant increase in developer's
developer's profit, the profit would not result in significant
lower the fair value) decrease in fair value, and vice
Versa.
3. Marketing costs (the higher 4% Aslight increase in marketing
the marketing costs, the costs would not result in significant
lower the fair value) decrease in fair value, and vice
Versa.
4. Construction costs to completion 4,569,000 - A significant increase in
(the higher the future construction 139,749,000 construction costs to completion
costs for completion, the lower the would not result in significant
fair value) decrease in fair value, and vice
Vrsa.

ERRENR 904,000 530 HEL-BECIEEE 1 RATEEIENEIEEAE(AR 165570-343400 LLEEEAREM/HIEIR
(RRTEHER Tt Roe R RE BT7)(BERERHR  ATEE ATHERIEEN D «

BEAE) BIER ¥EEET. @)
2HER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (contlnued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ - —/\E+—-H=+— Eltiﬁ

16. Investment Properties (continued)

At 31 December 2018 (continued)

16. REWE (&)

R=Z2-NF+=-A=+—R (&)

Valuation Significant unobservable inputs Range

Investment properties Fair value techniques (relationship of unobservable (weighted

held by the Group RMB'000 and key inputs average) Sensitivity

AEBEN AT ATESREERDR  EXTTEREANE L] R

e NS R TERAEE (FBZBARERHATENER)  (METHE)

Investment properties 403,820 Direct comparison method Comparable land price (RMBfsqm) (the ~ 707-13,677 Asignificant increase/decrease in
under construction, - based on market comparable land price would result
including undeveloped observable transactions price, the higher the fair in significant increase/decrease in

[and for retail shops and
commercial building

ERRENE 408,820
(BRZEBAREEA
ENRERLH)

8,833,493

F

of similar lands and
adjusted to reflect the
conditions of the subject
[ands.

BRIRE-RREN

BEHARARBEE
AR

EHBRTHER(BTARARE) (L 70713677
THATEIEES S BREE ATEHRD)

TRRESEERNDABRAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 7 —FE— \F1+ - A=+—HILFEF

16. Investment Properties (continued)

At 31 December 2017

16. REWE (&)

R=-Z2—tF+=-HA=+—H

Valuation Significant unobservable inputs Range
Investment properties Fair value Fair value ~ techniques (relationship of unobservable (weighted
held by the Group RMB'000 hierarchy and key inputs inputs to fair value) average) Sensitivity
AEEREH MHE AT ATESREEHOR EXTTRREANE L
RENE ARBFT R TERAZE (AERAASREYATENBR)  (METHE)  8EE
Completed investment 3,201,759 Level 3 Income capitalisation 1. Termyield (the higher the 25%-6% Aslight increase in term yield would
properties, including method-income term yield, the lower the fair value) not result in significant decrease in
retail shops and capitalisation of the net fair value, and vice versa.
commercial buildings income and
made provisions 2. Reversionary yield (the higher the Aslight increase in reversionary
for reversionary reversionary yield, the 3%-6.5% yield would not result in significant
income potential. lower the fair value) decrease in fair value, and vice
Versa.
3. Unit rent (RMB/sqm/month) (the Asignificant increase/decrease
higher the unit rent, the higher the ~ 4-240 in unit rent would not result in
fair value) significant increase/decrease in fair
value.
ERIRENZ 3,201,759 3R WAEAGE-BRAN 1l (RENaNS  ATEE  25%6% EhRENENT eI RATE
(BRTERBRES WAERM: - UstEE B ABEHD » R2MK
AE) WAENEL B -
2 ERYE(ESYEEE ATEE  3%65% ERURENENT eI RATE
) KRS » R o
3. ELBE(ARE/THr/AIE 420 BlAS AR LT/ THAGH
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 7 —ZE— \F1+ - A=+—HILFZF

16. Investment Properties (continued)

At 31 December 2017 (continued)

16. REWE (&)

R-Z2—tF+-A=1+—H(@&)

jial

Valuation Significant unobservable inputs Range
Investment properties Fair value Fair value  techniques (relationship of unobservable (weighted
held by the Group RMB'000 hierarchy and key inputs average) Sensitivity
AEERAN AT ATE ATEEREERDR  EATTBRBAMR L]
RENE ARBTT R TERAEE (FUBERAZRESATENBR)  (METHE)  8ER
Completed investment 186,717 Level 3 Direct comparison method Adjustment made to account for N/A NA
properties, including -based onmarket ~differences in location and level
retail shops, and office observable transactions
of similar properties and
adjusted to reflect the
conditions of the subject
property.
ERIRENZ 186,717 £ ERLWA-REAN  MERERZR(HEE NER R
(BRTEHER MRATEERERS
W% T AR RBER
VESVE
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &7 —ZE— \F1+ - A=+—HILFZF

16. Investment Properties (continued)

At 31 December 2017 (continued)

16. REWE (&)

R-Z2—tF+=-A=+—H(&)

Valuation Significant unobservable inputs Range
Investment properties Fair value Fair value  techniques (relationship of unobservable (weighted
held by the Group RMB'000 hierarchy and key inputs inputs to fair value) average) Sensitivity
AEERAN AT ATE ATEEREERSR  EATTBRBAMR L]
RENE ARBTT R TRRAEE (FIBERAZRESATENBR)  (METHE) 8RR
Investment properties 2,528,500 Level3 Residual method - based on1.  Gross development value (RMB'000) 153,260-993,200 A significant increase/decrease in
under construction, gross development value ~ on completion basis (the higher the gross development value would
including retail shops and taken into account gross development valug, the result in significant increase/
and commercial the construction coststo higher the fair value) decrease in fair value.
buildings completion, developer's
profit, marketing costs. 2. Developer's profit (the higher the ~ 8%-15% A significant increase in developer's
developer's profit, the profit would not result in significant
lower the fair value) decrease in fair valug, and vice
Versa.

3. Marketing costs (the higher 4% A slight increase in marketing
the marketing costs, the costs would not result in significant
lower the fair value) decrease in fair value, and vice

Versa.

4. Construction costs to completion 8,750,000 - Asignificant increase in
(the higher the future construction 99,738,000 construction costs to completion
costs for completion, the lower the would not result in significant
fair value) decrease in fair value, and vice

Versa.
kERENE 2,528,500 £} HEL-BEELREEE 1 RATEEAENEIREE(AR 153260993200 LEREEAEEM/ HIEIN
(RRTEBMRAR T2 RRAREH BT7)(BERERER - ATEE ATERBEMED «
AE) BIER %REMAN  B)
REHER-

2 BREEN(BRGENER AT  8%15% LRMANARENTEIHRT
{EHfE) ERERD » R -

3. BUEBR(SHERES ATEE 4% BHEREMEN e AT
&) KRS » R o

4 THFSMEIER(EIEME  8750,000- TREENEIEROARLNT
5 ATEHE) 99,738,000 EEE OSSN D))
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &2 —ZF— /\F+_-H=+— Eltﬁﬁ/"

16. Investment Properties (continued) 16. REWE (&)
At 31 December 2017 (continued) R-B—t&E+=-A=+—HA)
Valuation Significant unobservable inputs Range

Investment properties Fair value Fair value  techniques (relationship of unobservable (weighted

held by the Group RMB'000 hierarchy and key inputs inputs to fair value) average) Sensitivity

AEEREH AT NTE ATESREERDR  EATIEEBANE L]

RENE ARBTT R TERAEE (FUBERAZRESATENBR)  (METHE) 8RR

Investment properties 443,228 Level 3 Direct comparison method Comparable land price (RMB/sqm) (the ~ 355-2,830 A significant increase/decrease in
under construction, -based onmarket higher the land comparable land price would result
including undeveloped observable transactions price, the higher the fair in significant increase/decrease in
[and for retail shops and of similarfandsand ~ value) fair value.
commercial building adjusted to reflect the

conditions of

the subject lands.

ERkENE (RETE 443228 23 ERHEE-RERY  TEUBIHER(BEIRARE)(LH 3652830 TALB L ERAG LA/ TH
B EENE THATRIBER S - BRES - ATEMR) SIRATEABENELD -
RRELH) Tt AN RIE

MLIAIRR -
6,360,204
17. Goodwill 17. &
RMB’'000
ARETT

COST AND CARRYING AMOUNTS A & EREE

At 1 January 2017 RZZE—+tF—H—H 1,602

Arising on acquisitions of subsidiaries (note 48(b))  FIUKEEHT B 2 71 A& A (K& 48(b)) 27,153

At 31 December 2017 R_B—+F+-_A=+—H 28,755

Disposal of subsidiaries (note 50(a)) L EMEB AR (M7 50(a)) (25,264)

At 31 December 2018 RZZE—N\FE+ZA=+—H 3,491
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17. Goodwill (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group disposed
of its 51% equity interest in HEERMABRA A Aficion Food
Co., Ltd (“Aficion”) to an independent third party. Aficion is
engaged in the provision of chocolate production and theme
park in Jiashan, Zhejiang Province, the PRC. Details of the
related disposal is disclosed in note 50(a).

Goodwill acquired in business combinations is allocated, at
acquisition, to the cash generating units (“CGUs") — property
management service and chocolate production and related
businesses that are expected to benefit from those business
combinations.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill as detailed
above has been allocated to the subsidiaries as individual cash-
generating units (CGUs) from which goodwill arose. The carrying
amount of goodwill as at 31 December 2018 allocated these
units are as followed.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

B ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &7 —ZE— \F1+ - A=+—HILFZF

17. 8 (&)

HEz_Z—N\F+_A=+—HLHF
B AEELEEERREERGEBRA
AI(THEEDI % BRET —BBILE=
B MEBMEFEN IEZEMRER
MR HEERFEALER - HELER
WS IB AT 5 50(a) 5 o

EBAHTRENHERKRERSDET
BHAZEETAMHMZ AR eESE
B ((REELEM])- MEEERS M
TR N E RABRE R -

BREARNES - EXFANEEE D
REWB AR EREERZEHNEH
ReELXEN - R=ZTZ—N\F+=A
=t HZEBEMNESECEHEREE
U

2018 2017
—E-N\F T4
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETTT

Anhui Hanlin Property Services Company  ZHEBMERIEER AR

Limited

Shenzhen Huazhong Property Management ZYIIZER Y2 EIR AR AT

Company Limited
Aficion N

China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018

1,602 1,602
1,889 1,889

- 25,264
3,491 28,755




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) |:_'J —
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/\F 1+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

18. Intangible Assets 18. BILEE
License for
parallel- Property
import of management
vehicle contracts Total
HTED MEEE
AERR G #st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR%TR AR®TR

COST (D&
At 1 January 2017 R-ZE—+F—HF—H 990 2,095 3,085
Avrising on acquisitions of subsidiaries AUEEHT B A Al mELE - 2,398 2,398
At 31 December 2017 and RZZE—+tF+ZA=1T—AHK

31 December 2018 —E-N\F+ZA=t—H 990 4,493 5,483
AMORTISATION i
At 1 January 2017 R=ZZE—+tF—H—H 25 104 129
Charge for the year FRHIER 198 458 656
At 31 December 2017 RZEB—+F+-A=1t—H 223 562 785
Charge for the year FAMR 198 900 1,098
At 31 December 2018 RZB-NF+ZA=t—H 421 1,462 1,883
CARRYING VALUES fRH(E
At 31 December 2018 RZZE—N\F+-_A=+—H 569 3,031 3,600
At 31 December 2017 RZB—+F+-A=t—H 767 3,931 4,698
The license for parallel-import of vehicle is amortised on a MEFITEORBRENTESNRE
straight-line basis over a term of five years based on the HETR A F R E RS -

executive directors’ best estimate.

The intangible assets in related to property management HY X ERENEENERNEEARE
contracts have finite useful lives and are amortised on a straight- ReFEREH  RHTAFHRZER
line basis over the remaining term of five years. VEEESE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

B ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 7 —FE— \F1+ - A=+—HILFEF

19. Interests in Joint Ventures

19. REELENER

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETIT

Unlisted cost of investment FE_ETIRE KA

Share of post acquisition loss FEAS U IR 12 B 1R K
Hih2ERAX

Unrealised profit (note) REIEF (FEE)

Note: The unrealised profit related to the Group's attributable interest income
from the amounts due from Zhuzhou Aoyuan and Zhuzhou Jinye and the
Group's interest expenses arising from the amount due to Guangdong
Jinao. Such interest expenses were capitalised in corresponding properties
for sale and certain of these properties were not sold at 31 December 2018
and 2017

China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018

1,846,819 221,310
(114,113) (150,671)
(11,330) (26,890)
1,721,376 43,749
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—\F+ - HA=+—HI F/ZF

19. Interests in Joint Ventures (continued)

Details of the Group's principal joint ventures at the end of the

reporting period are as follows:

19.

REeghRrags (&)

RBEHRERREARBBEITEIEAS
PO
s

HA
EHFHRMT -

jial

Place of Proportion of
establishment/ registered capital/
principal place voting rights Registered capital
Name of entity of operation held by the Group RMB'000 Principal activity
AL rEEMEEEMES/ HER
ERER TEEXMH SRELA ARETR TEEH
2018 2017 2018 2017
ZB-\F —T+F ZB-N\F —T{F

Guangzhou Baoao Real Estate PRC 50% 50% 10,000 10,000 Property investment
Development Limited (“Guangzhou MERE
Baoao")

ENRBEHERERRAA
([EMRER]

Zhuzhou Aoyuan Property PRC 85.71% 85.71% 140,000 140,000 Property development
Development Company Limited w b ER
("Zhuzhou Aoyuan”) (Note a)

HWNEREHEREERAA
(THRMERE 1) (BT @)

Zhuzhou Jinye Property Development PRC 78.49% 78.49% 93,000 93,000 Property development
Company Limited (“Zhuzhou Jinye”) MELER
(Note a)

N ¥RHEREERAF]

(MM &% 1) (it a)

Guangdong Jinao Commercial PRC 50% - 600,000 - Financial services
Factoring Company Limited EF ERRT
("Guangdong Jinao")

BReRBEREARAA
(TERER])

Fujian Century Kunyuan Investment PRC 51% - 600,000 - Property development
Company Limited (“Fujian Century”) MEER

(Note b)
BRtHERREERAE
([t |) (MEED)

TRRESEERNDABRAT

—E-)\FER

281



)

282

A\
-

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 7 —FE— \F1+ - A=+—HILFEF

19. Interests in Joint Ventures (continued)

19. REELENER ()

Place of Proportion of
establishment/ registered capital/
principal place voting rights Registered capital
Name of entity of operation held by the Group RMB'000 Principal activity
T rEEfRAIMER/ &R
ERER TEEE Y SRELA ARBT T TERER
2018 2017 2018 2017
“E-N§ —T+F ZB-N\Ff —TLF
Maoming Jinyuan Bay Real Estate PRC 57% - 350,000 - Property development
Development Company Limited s MR
(“Maoming Jinyuan”) (Note b)
kEeRSERHEREARAR
(IEaeR]) (HzEDb)

Note: (a) According to the Articles of Association of Zhuzhou Aoyuan and MEE : (a) RIBEOMN B E Rk & 3% 2 =52
Zhuzhou Jinye, the Group has power to appoint two out of four A - NEEFREERMNRE Kk
directors in the board of Zhuzhou Aoyuan and Zhuzhou Jinye, NEXBEESNELEETNRE &
and the boards of directors are responsible for all operating ZeURNBERMKNECEZTAS
and financing decisions of Zhuzhou Aoyuan and Zhuzhou Jinye. BERRMERRAS  c AEHHBEBLE
Unanimous consent of the directors is required on making REBBESTE—HEE - EHHE
relevant operating decisions. Each of the investors cannot direct EHMAELCERENER TSR
the activities without consensus of the other joint venturers, EIRE) B NSEBEESIRINEER
and each party cannot individually control Zhuzhou Aoyuan and M EEE - Btk - HONRE RN
Zhuzhou Jinye. Therefore, Zhuzhou Aoyuan and Zhuzhou Jinye are SREBEARSESEDENE -
continuously accounted for as joint ventures of the Group.

(b) According to the Articles of Association of Fujian Century and (b) BREEEHLCAKES R ABER

Maoming Jinyuan, the Group has power to appoint two out of three
directors in the board of Fujian Century and Maoming Jinyuan,
and the boards of directors are responsible for all operating and
financing decisions of Fujian Century and Maoming Jinyuan.
Unanimous consent of the directors is required on making
relevant operating decisions. Each of the investors cannot direct
the activities without consensus of the other joint venturers, and
each party cannot individually control Fujian Century and Maoming
Jinyuan. Therefore, Fujian Century and Maoming Jinyuan are

accounted for as joint ventures of the Group.

China Aoyuan Group Limited Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) |:_'J —
A B s R M R (A) ‘ ‘

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—\F+ - HA=+—HI F/ZF

19. Interests in Joint Ventures (continued) 19. REELENER (&)
The summarised financial information in respect of the Group's REEBREENENTERER ZEB
principal interests in joint ventures are set out below: BERMR T
Guangzhou Baoao 2018 2017
BENRE —E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETIT

Current assets mENEE 21,971 21,942
Non-current assets EMBNEE 366,800 364,200
Current liabilities mEBBE 319,705 319,561
Non-current liabilities IEREAEE 14,767 14,146

Profit and total comprehensive FRHEMNRER
income for the year s 4258 1,864 4,248
Zhuzhou Aoyuan 2018 2017
MR E —E-N\F —E=—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBTTT

Current assets mMENEE 1,685,038 2,230,013
Non-current assets ERBEE 31,309 54,471
Current liabilities mEEE 1,406,412 1,623,825
Non-current liabilities EmEBEE 180,000 600,000
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive FRasl (EE) REmkas

income (expense) for the year (FX) 4% 69,276 (78,137)
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19. Interests in Joint Ventures (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B s A M (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &7 —ZE— \F1+ - A=+—HILFZF

19. REEENER (&)

Zhuzhou Jinye 2018 2017

Mz 3 —E-N\F —TE—+F

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR%T T ARET T

Current assets MENEE 1,358,797 1,636,817

Non-current assets IEMBNE E 65,452 36,476

Current liabilities mEEE 901,094 1,063,153

Non-current liabilities FEmBAE 620,000 620,000
Loss and total comprehensive expense FHEBEMEHERAZ AR

for the year (86,985) (63,072)

Guangdong Jinao 2018 2017

BRLH —E-)N\#F —E=—+F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T ARETTT

Current assets MENEE 1,564,461 =

Current liabilities mENAE 16,607 =
Profit and total comprehensive income FRaMEEEKEREE

for the year 47,854 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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19. Interests in Joint Ventures (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/\F 1+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

19. REEENER (&)

Fujian Century 2018 2017
A —E-N\F —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Current assets mENEE 3,753,040 =
Non-current assets IEMENEE 8,741 =
Current liabilities mEaE 3,197,885 =
Loss and total comprehensive expense FREEREHAT R
for the year (36,105) -
Maoming Jinyuan 2018 2017
KD —E-N\F T+
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
Current assets MENEE 890,960 =
Non-current assets IEmENEE 94 =
Current liabilities mEaE 542,675 =
Loss and total comprehensive expense FREBER AT AT
for the year (2,498) =
PRBESEBERHERAR —ZE—N\FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

B ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—1F+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

19. Interests in Joint Ventures (continued)

19. REELENER

20.

Aggregate information of joint ventures that are BERYLAERSETCENESHE
not individually material Bl
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET ARETTT
The Group's share of loss and total RARIEIEEERR
comprehensive expense FHRAZ AR (12,279) (2,038)
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET AREETTT
Aggregate carrying amount of the RATRRZEEERE
Group's interests in these joint ventures R ARE B 334,100 169
Interests in Associates 20. REEE AR
2018 2017
—B-N\F —T—tF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARETTT
Cost of investment in associates JEEmREKA 219,000 170,000
Share of post acquisition (loss) profit FE(R U SR (B518) = (1,869) 8
217,131 170,003
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) |:_'J —
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/\F 1+ - HA=+—HI F/Z

20. Interests in Associates (continued) 20. REEE QTR (18)
Details of the Group's associates as at the end of the reporting NS BB AR AN EFEE N2
period are as follows: RFFIBAT -
Place of
incorporation/ Attributable interest
principal place indirectly held Registered capital
Name of entity of operation by the Group (‘000) Principal activity
ML/ rEEfHAIRER/ EfER
BRER TREXHY REELLA (f7) TEEH
2018 2017 2018 2017

ZE-\f —T—+F ZB-\f C—Z—+tF

Guangdong Hongao Land Operation PRC 49% 49% RMB100,000 RMB100,000 Property development
Company Limited (“Guangdong Hongao") AR# ARY MEEE
ERERTIHEEER AT 100,000% 100,000
((ERER])
Guanji Investments Company Limited BVI 28% 28% USD50 USD50  Investment holding
(" Guanji") EBAAHE 50%7T BOET REAER

BERAARLA(EE])

Golden Shining Investment Limited Hong Kong 28% 28% HKD10 HKD10 Investment holding

TRERARRAR® B 10%7 1087 REZR

Enping Golden Shining Tourism PRC 28% 28%  HKD20,000  HKD20,000 Property development
Development Company Limited g 20,0007 20,0008 MEEE

BYSEEREMEBRAR

Hebei Tiantong Aoyuan Property PRC 30% 30% RMB100,000 RMB100,000 Property development
Development Limited (“Hebei Tiantong”) N ANRE DEEE

I RAREEHEREERAR 100,000 100,0007C
(FAEXRD)

* These companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Guaniji. @ ZENRYABEZEZENBAT -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

B ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 7 —ZE— \F1+ - A=+—HILFEF

20. Interests in Associates (continued) 20.

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
interests in associates are set out below:

RIS N AR (&)

AEBRBECENER 2 BEMEE
AR T

Guangdong Hongao 2018 2017
BEREE —EB-N\E —E—+fF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET ARETTT
Current assets MENEE 138,013 84,087
Non-current assets ERBNVE E 41,345 =
Current liabilities mEAE 80,031 84,080
Non-controlling interest eI R 2,516 =
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive FRN(EE) =5 RE
(expense) income for the year (A% Wz=4e5m (3,196) 7
Hebei Tiantong 2018 2017
ALK A —B-N\F —TtF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETT
Current assets BB E 194,728 210,266
Non-current assets EMBENE E 636 -
Current liabilities mENEE 96,388 110,266
Loss and total comprehensive expense FAEEREAERZ R
for the year (1,024) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &2 —ZF— /\F+=-H=+— Eltﬁﬁ/"

20. Interests in Associates (continued)

21.

20. REtE N RIRRER (&)

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARETIT

o FIEL

Aggregate carrying amount of the REBRZEHE N T
Group's interests in these associates Exs E’Jﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ@%ﬁ

Equity Instruments at Fair Value Through

140,000 140,000

21. BAPEFAHMEZEBEN

Other Comprehensive Income BRATERE
2018
—2-N\F
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Unlisted equity investments JELETIRARE 31,465

The above unlisted equity investments represent the Group's
equity interests in private entities where their principal activities
are engaged in the PRC and Hong Kong. The directors of the
Company have elected to designate these investments in equity
instruments as at FVTOCI as they believe that recognising short-
term fluctuations in these investments’ fair value in profit or loss
would not be consistent with the Group's strategy of holding
these investments for long-term purposes and realising their
performance potential in the long run.

EiiF EMIRARERARERE TR
ABETENREFENLABRORE-
ARREFCLEBREERZERATA
BRERIB N FER AHM 2 -
RARKRERSRBaTEEXZSTRE
RFENERRS A EEANRERAZ
SRENERHENERERERRTS
RIENT—B -

TERESERNERAF —T—/\F5H
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ok B s A M (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # % —Z&

22. Deferred Taxation

—NFFZA=F—HIFE

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement

of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities

have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred

tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

22, EERIE

BREAMBRARRTE2H - & TRE
MEEERABBCDEE - SHMBHERE
HIT & R TR AR

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E 5

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREFIT

Deferred tax assets EEFIBE BE (676,948) (305,272)
Deferred tax liabilities BIETIE A 1,184,072 691,196
507,124 385,924

The deferred tax (assets) liabilities recognised by the Group and

AEERANETEHRA(EE) BER

movements thereon during the year are as follows: REREZHINT
Change in Undistributed ~ Temporary
fairvalue of  Revaluation earnings  differences Other
investment of of PRC of LAT  temporary
properties  properties  Taxlosses  subsidiaries payables differences Total
i
TENEAR BEH Bt
ATERE  MESR RERR  ADRBA ENEE  ENER a5t
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEETR  ARETR ARETR ARETn ARETR ARETR ARETn
At 1 January 2017 R=E—t5-f-H 532,702 33671 (200,396} 30,000 (36,758) 40,062 399,281
Acquisitions of subsidiaries note 48) YERERR (H3t48) - - (1,25 - - 3253 2,001
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 50] it M2 (MzE50) - - 4,891 - - - 4891
Charge (credi) to profit or loss for REBEBEMNZN (GIA)
the year note 10) (Rt 10) 138,635 - (69,694) (2581) (42551) (50,412) (26,603)
Charged to other comprehensive income A ELM 2 EGR A - - - = = 6,354 6,354
At 31 December 2017 RZB—tE+-A=1-H 671,337 367 (266,451) 271419 (79.309) 43) 389
Effect arising from application of IFRS15  EEREIB 81524
note 2.1) FIRMELNTE
(Kx2.1) - - - - - 22,006 22,006
At 1 January 2018 (restated) RZT-\E-A-B(@E5]) 61138 3671 (266451) 2419 (79,309) 226 407929
Acquisitions of subsidiaries (note 48) B AR (48) 106,235 - (39,147) - - - 67,088
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 50) I EAIRE) - - 12313 - - (2,649) 9,664
Charge (credit) to profit or loss for REERENZ N GIA)
the year (note 10) (R 10) 445,810 - (3515m) - (90,367) 18573 2,443
At31 December 2018 RIF-\ETZA=t-B 123382 33671 (644,858) 2419 (169676) 3718 507,124
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &2 —ZF— /\F+_-H=+— Eltﬁﬁ/"

22. Deferred Taxation (continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had unused tax losses
of RMB4,261,053,000 (2017: RMB1,935,425,000) available
to offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of RMB2,579,434,000(2017:
RMB1,065,804,000) of such tax losses. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses
of RMB1,681,619,000 (2017: RMB869,621,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profits streams. The unrecognised tax
losses will expire in the follow years:

22, EREBIIE (88)

R-ZZE—NE+-_A=+—8 &A=&
EERERABDAMBEEEARE
4,261,063,000t( —FE—tF: AR
#1,935,425,0007T )+ A A {E &
KRR wH - ERZMIBEERARE
2,679,434,000 (== —tF : ARK
1,065,804,0007C) ERIEIETIIEEZE © B
P B T8 ORISR 2R AR - B b S R g 4
TARK1,681,619,000 T( =T —+4F :
AR % 869,621,000 7T ) HFi A K18
BEFIBEE - RERTIABEAZRIA
NEMHEE

o FIEL

2018 2017
—E2-N\E —2—+tF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREEFTT

2018 —E-N\F - 45,494
2019 —E-NEF 46,255 46,654
2020 —E - TE 127,011 127,476
2021 =4 188,557 196,112
2022 T 400,615 453,885
2023 ket 919,181 =
1,681,619 869,621

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation
has not been provided for both years in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries
amounting to RMB13,905,692,000 (2017: RMB10,457.669,000)
as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

TRERESEERNDBRAT

BEABCEMSETE B2 /N\F
—A— B PRAKB A FEETER
BUs A SRR E R BHMZTENT - AR
AEEEHIROGREERKE - M
EHEEREERABERZBERTS B
B - Hth I M S W B 2 4R A B TS R
TR BN E A Az 2505 RS
2R AR AR 13,905,692,000 7T (=
T—tF: AR¥10,457,669,0007T) F
B2 IR RL IR L B4 o

—E-)\FER
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23. Deposits Paid for Acquisitions of

Subsidiaries

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has made deposits
of RMB26,012,000, RMB685,280,000, RMB115,110,000,
RMB463,000,000, RMB123,096,000, RMB28,500,000,
RMB28,500,000 and RMB62,449,000, in relation to the
acquisitions of equity interests in JReMRESREMIE B R A A
Dongguan Longrong Real Estate Co., Ltd., &% i #1544 3R
BPFRAF Gao'an Ruixing Investment Development Co., Ltd. &
BLMEMNSREERAER AR Gao'an Hongli Gao Investment
Development Co., Ltd., #ME&LEBEEZEXER AR Hunan
Jingge Hongyun Real Estate Co., Ltd., BB R EEBREA
7] Hefei Colourful World Real Estate Co., Ltd., Z M HERERE
ERZE AR AR Suzhou Longfu Real Estate Development Co.,
Ltd., EREBBEEFEREABR AR Guangdong Yusheng Industrial
Investment Co., Ltd., BseEEEMERZE AR A A Dongguan
Huayu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd., #7 [L T2 b ZE
ZEHPR/A 7] Zhongshan Panyun Real Estate Development Co.,
Ltd. respectively.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has made deposits
of RMB150,220,000, RMB191,990,000, RMB60,000,000,
RMB245,000,000, RMB26,012,000, RMB35,000,000 and
RMB220,000,000 in relation to the acquisitions of equity
interests in RAEEEEFEMERZEBR A A Shaanxi
Longteng Huade Property Development Investment Co.,
Ltd., EZHHEEXHFR /AT Guanghan Dingxin Property Co.,
Ltd., BFEFAEHERZE AR AR Enping Jinsheng Property
Development Co., Ltd., AEBETFAR FHbEAR R /A7) Chengdu
Xinxinan Property Co., Ltd., REem e LEHEEGR A 7
Dongguan Longrong Real Estate Co., Ltd., /&YIT B EEE
3B A FIShenzhen Hongfu Construction Labor Co., Ltd.
and 5 BE& M ZEHEZEREABR A A Qingdao Shengshi Jiade
Commercial Development Co., Ltd. respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —Z—1F 1+ - HA=+—HIF/Z

23. WM BAREETE
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R 26,012,0007T + A R# 685,280,000
7T AR #115,110,0007T © A R ¥
463,000,0007T * A#123,096,0007T *
AR 28,500,0007T + AREE 28,500,000
TTRARE 62,449,000 TTAIG] & ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZF—/\F 1+ - HA=+—HI F/ZF

Deposits Paid for Acquisitions of
Subsidiaries (continued)

Except for the acquisition of equity interests in Dongguan
Longrong Real Estate Co., Ltd, Shenzhen Hongfu Construction
Labor Co., Ltd and Shaanxi Longteng Huade Property
Development Investment Co., Ltd, the Group has completed
aforesaid acquisition of subsidiaries during the year ended
31 December 2018. Details of aforesaid acquisitions are set
out in note 48(a). During the year ended 31 December 2018,
the acquisitions for Shenzhen Hongfu Construction Labor
Co., Ltd and Shaanxi Longteng Huade Property Development
Investment Co., Ltd. have been terminated and the deposits
paid were fully refunded.

Deposit Paid for Acquisition of a Joint
Venture

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has made deposit of
RMB40,941,000 (2017: RMB39,229,000) in relation to the
acquisition of a joint venture BEFMEZRIETEGR AR
Aowei Property Development Investment Co., Ltd. from an
independent third party.

Amount due from a Non-Controlling
Shareholder of a Subsidiary-Non-Current

As at 31 December 2017, the balance represents an amount due
from a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary, amounted
to RMB92,383,000, of which RMB79,383,000 was carrying
interest at rate of 8% per annum and RMB13,000,000 was
interest free. The balance was secured by the equity interest
in the subsidiary held by the non-controlling shareholders and
will be matured on 11 April 2019. As at 31 December 2018, the
balance has been transferred to current portion.

23.

24,

25.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

o B s A M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # % —Z&

26.

27.

(%)
—NF+—A=+—HILFE

Amount Due from Joint Venture-Non-
Current

The balance is unsecured, interest-free and used for the joint

26.

FEl & & I — JRENE

BHBQUEER  2EMARGEDLE
E’U%%%ﬁ‘@ EEHTEN—FAEE

ventures' properties development, and is not expected to be iR o
repaid within one year.
Properties for Sale 27. OJ{LSHEME
2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREEFTT
Properties for sale comprise of: A EYEBIE
Completed properties BRI 13,714,007 10,546,239
Properties under development BERPYZE 101,180,207 66,522,786
114,894,214 77,069,025

Included in the amount are properties under development for
sale of RMB25,619,185,000 (2017: RMB16,307,520,000) in
relation to property development projects that are expected to
complete after one year from the end of the reporting periods.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, completed
properties for sale with an aggregate carrying amount of
RMB860,358,000 (2017: Nil) were transferred to investment
properties upon change in use as evident by inception of
relevant tenancy agreements. The difference of the fair value
of these properties at the date of transfer over their carrying
amounts, amounting to RMB320,741,000 (2017: Nil) were
recognised in the profit or loss.

At 31 December 2018, certain of the Group's properties
for sale with carrying value of RMB24,025,658,000 (2017:
RMB12,868,581,000) were pledged for certain banking facilities
granted to the Group and certain loans from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries.
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28. Trade and other Receivables

28. E5 R HMEWRK

2018 2017
—E-N\F —TE—+F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
Kt ARET T ARETT
Trade receivables B 5 EUGK (a) 532,313 444,556
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (5,174) -
527,139 444,556
Rental receivables THE EUGKR (b) 46,058 36,878
Other receivables H qth U () 3,926,064 3,723,496
Contract assets GREE (d) 663,815 =
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (19,700) -
4,570,179 3,723,496
Security deposits ik 713,185 479,992
Advances to constructors and suppliers Z{H# g i K (4 FE 7 7008 1,370,035 605,700
Deposits paid for potential purchases of i 7] 8288 & + i 55 F #E K2 ¥ 5
land use rights and property projects ~ FZIEH MM 251 & 2,588,826 1,079,379
Other tax prepayments HF IR R 2,935,040 1,530,308
12,750,462 7,900,309
Analysis for reporting purpose: TE2FRBE DT
Non-current assets JEMENEE 476,296 492,996
Current assets MENE EE 12,274,166 7,407,313
12,750,462 7,900,309
Notes: PiRE -
(a)  Considerations in respect of properties sold are paid by purchasers in (@) HEMENREREARBEREERHN

accordance with the terms of the related sale and purchase agreements.

Management and services fee is received in accordance with the terms of
the relevant property service agreements, normally within 30 days to 90
days after the issuance of demand note to the residents. Each customer
from the property operation services has a designated credit limit.

Payments terms with wholesale customer for purchases of goods are
mainly on credit. The wholesale customers are allowed a credit period of 0
to 60 days from date of issuance of the invoices. There is no credit period
granted for retail customers.

TRERESEERNDBRAT

A -

AR 35 A B 0 2 AR5 150 =k 10 R AR BN B IR B A
RIS %E BEERERELBAMBERAB0KR
EI0RN - MEELRBOSLTLHEE
EfEREE -

FRBEEMNRBEESLPNRGEREERR

o REMBRPEEHEBHERABIELO
EEORNEED - TERPUBRERFEDY -

—E-)\FER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 7 —ZE— \F1+ - A=+—HILFEF

28. Trade and other Receivables (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

The following is the aging analysis of trade receivables, determined based

28. ES R HAMEWR (&)

BifeE - ()

UATARBEINMERHERRE AETEN

on the date of the properties delivered and sales were recognised: B S EWGRRIBRE DT -
2018 2017
—E-N\F Tt
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFIT
0 to 60 days 0 £60 H 318,460 248,545
61 to 180 days 61 £180 H 91,168 47,737
181 to 365 days 181 £365 H 50,534 45,342
1to 2 years 122 F 22,853 33,628
2 to 3 years 2 &3 F 6,671 33,496
Over 3 years HBiE3F 42,627 35,808
532,313 444,556

Trade receivables mainly represent receivables amounting to
RMB442,170,000 (2017: RMB277,473,000) from properties buyers and
RMB90,143,000 (2017: RMB167,083,000) from customers for purchases of
goods and property owners for property management services.

As at 31 December 2018, receivables amounting to RMB213,853,000 that
were past due. Out of the past due balances, RMB129,767.000 has been
past due for 90 days or more and is not considered as in default based
on the Group's historical credit loss experience from those corresponding
creditors whose outstanding trade liabilities due to the Group have been
past due 90 days or more.

As at 31 December 2017, receivables amounting to RMB 102,932,000 aged
more than 1 year that were past due but not impaired. The management
of the Company is of the opinion that no provision for impairment is
necessary in respect of these remaining receivables as there has not
been a significant change in credit quality and amounts are still considered
recoverable based on historical experience.

Rental receivables from tenants are payable on presentation of demand
notes.
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Trade and other Receivables (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(c) As at 31 December 2018, the balance mainly includes following significant
amounts:

(i) Deposits of RMB50,000,000 (2017: RMB 50,000,000) paid to
EMmEERZEGZERELELER S (“Luogang Business
Association”) and EMTEERIZEBGR AR (“Yijing Investment”)
for the property project carried out by E/NZREHEFRZEGR AR
(“Luo Ao Real Estate Development”), a subsidiary indirectly owned
by the Company, details refer to note 48(b).

(ii) Balance of RMB322,996,000 (2017: RMB492,996,000) paid to
independent third parties for two redevelopment projects located in
Guangdong province and Guangxi province. The reconstruction will
take more than one year to complete. The balance of receivables
would be fully refunded or refunded with interest subject to the
condition if the Group could bid the auction on the parcel of land
after completion of reconstruction.

(iii) Balances of RMB405,195,000 (2017: RMB405,195,000) and
RMB68,710,000 (2017: RMB100,000,000) represent receivables
from BMMEBTERMEMBEARAR and PILTHEIEEM
BBR7A 7] respectively due to the cancellation of acquisition. The
directors of the Company expected these balances will be fully
refunded in the coming twelve months.

The remaining balance of other receivables mainly comprise
receivables of refund of the deposit for land auction and temporary
payments.

(d) Contract assets represent the incremental agency commissions to
intermediaries in connection with obtaining sale of properties contracts
with customers. These costs are charged to profit or loss upon revenue
from sales of properties are recognised.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables for the
year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in note 47.

Deposits Paid for Acquisitions of Land Use
Rights and Property Projects

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has made deposits of
RMB177,065,000 (2017: RMB1,114,490,000) in relation to the
acquisitions of several parcels of land and property projects
from governments and third parties. In the opinion of the
executive directors of the Company, the aforesaid transactions
are expected to be completed within twelve months from the
end of the reporting period.

28. E5 R EMEBYR (&)
B = ()

() RZZBE-NF+-A=+—B ZHEIE
BREATERA :

(i) RAQRWEENBAREMNERE
WEMZEERAR(EREHER
B ) FETMEBEMEMNEMTEE
HEREETEECRCER AL ([
AR AER A A ) REMN TR SR
BARAR([EREE]HFTEAR
#50,000,0007C( =T —+tF : AR
50,000,0007T) * FEEHEATFE48(0)

(ii) RURNEREMEAENMMEE
EBEBEABYSE=-AIZMARY
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30. Amounts due from/to Non-Controlling

31.

Shareholders of Subsidiaries — Current

Included in the balances of amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018, are
(i) an amount due from BRMNA B FEHERZEEEFR A
Guangdong Jialishen Property Development Group Co., Ltd of
RMB190,272,000 (2017: RMB172,800,000) with an interest
rate of 10% per annum, and RMB10,000,000 (2017:nil) with
an interest rate of 12.88% per annum, which will be matured
on 31 December 2019; (i) an amount due from EK/E{= EEE
AFRAF] Zhuhai Xinzheng Group Co., Ltd. of RMB10,000,000
(2017:nil) with an interest rate of 11.96% per annum, which will
be matured on 28 December 2019.

The remaining balances of amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries and amounts due to non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand. In the opinion of the executive directors
of the Company, it is expected to receive the amounts due
from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries within twelve
months from the end of the reporting period, and therefore the
amounts are classified as current assets.

Amounts due from Related Parties

The balances as at 31 December 2017, mainly represent
an amount of RMB71,381,000 due from a related party, #&
INTH R EB B i ZE B 38 A R A 7 Zhuzhou Tianjun Properties
Development Company Ltd. (“Zhuzhou Tianjun”), an entity
established in the PRC, which is controlled by 5= 1E and #HH,
who are non-controlling shareholders of certain subsidiaries and
partners of certain joint ventures. The amounts were settled
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

The amounts were unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand. In the opinion of the executive directors of the
Company, it is expected to receive the amounts due from
related parties within twelve months from the end of the
reporting period, and therefore the amounts are classified as
current assets.
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Amounts due from Joint Ventures - Current

The balances as at 31 December 2018 are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand. In the opinion of the executive
directors of the Company, the Group is expected to receive
the balance of amounts due from joint ventures within twelve
months from the end of the reporting period, and therefore the
amounts are classified as current assets.

The balances as at 31 December 2017 mainly represent an
amount of RMB100,000,000 and RMB50,000,000 due from
Zhuzhou Aoyuan and Zhuzhou Jinye, joint ventures of the Group
respectively. The amount is unsecured, carrying interest at a rate
of 5% per annum, which were fully repaid during the year ended
31 December 2018.

Amounts due from/to Associates

The balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand. In the opinion of the executive directors of the
Company, the Group is expected to receive the balances of
amounts due from associates within twelve months from the
end of the reporting period, and therefore the amounts are
classified as current assets.

Financial Assets at fair Value Through Profit
or Loss/Structured Deposits

Financial assets at FVTPL are mainly funds investment issued
by a reputable securities corporation. The fair value of the funds
investment at 31 December 2018 were determined by market
approach, which arrived at by reference to the performance
of the underlying investments mainly comprising debt
investments in PRC including government debentures, treasury
notes, corporate bonds and short-term fixed deposits.

As at 31 December 2018, structured deposits represent
products issued by the banks which pay interest rates (i) which
has an inverse relationship to the market interest rate and (ii)
which linked to the fluctuation of foreign exchange rate. These
structured deposits do not meet the solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding and therefore
are classified as financial assets at FVTPL. Details of fair value
measurement of structured deposits are set out in note 47(c).
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34. Financial Assets at fair Value Through Profit
or Loss/Structured Deposits (continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated
with the financial assets at FVTPL and structured deposits.
Accordingly, the carrying amounts of financial assets at FVTPL
and structured deposits represent the maximum exposure to
credit risk at 31 December 2018.

34.

BAVEIARSR2EHME
BE/EBEER(E)

R_ZE—N\F+_A=+—H X&H
I 4B 1575 () 3 1 s L b {5 B 358 A
BEHREBEATEFABENSREE
REBEFFHEENEERR - Bt -
BEAFEFABZNEREERSERH
MERHEEER=_ZE—/\F+=A
= t+t—HEBRNSAEERR -

35. Derivative Financial Instruments 3. TEE®MIA
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ Tt ARETIT
Derivative financial instruments not WARIBERLHNITESRTE ¢

designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign currency forward contracts HNEIR AR A 49

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group entered
into foreign currency forward contract to reduce the risk of
currency exchange fluctuation of the Group’s USD senior notes
and the major terms are as follow:

- 4,377

RBE-Z—+tF+-_A=+—HIEF
B AEBEFIINERBAEL - ARRK
REEBEETTELZHENINE LR -
REEE AT TEE R BB INERIE
29 o EEIEFAN ¢

Notional amount Maturity Forward contract rates
ERLH EHH EHEHF=E
Buy USD88,460,000 24 October 2018 RMB6.7900: USD1
& A88,460,0003 7T —T-)\F+HA=+mA AR¥6.79007T : 13E7T

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the above foreign
currency forward contract was matured and settled in an
aggregate amount of RMB4,423,000.
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36. Restricted Bank Deposits/Bank Balances

36. ZRABITER BITEHR
and Cash Be

Restricted bank deposits

As at 31 December 2018, the balances represent deposits
amounting to RMB1,604,218,000 (2017: RMB1,622,869,000)
pledged for short term loan facilities granted by banks and
carrying interest at variable interest rates ranging from
0.30% to 2.9% (2017: 0.38% to 3.25%) per annum and
construction securities amounting to RMB677.037000 (2017:
RMB148,011,000).

Bank balances and cash

Amount as at 31 December 2018 included bank deposits
amounting to RMB3,075,0